HEINZEL
HOLDING GMBH
ANNUAL REPORT
2015

HEINZEL GROUP
Generation change

RAUBLING

A Bavarian playmaker

EUROPAPIER
Big fish

HEINZELSALES
Fit for the Future

Pulp, paper and board trading

Pulp and paper production

108
markets
Approx. 2,200 employees

0.9 million tonnes of production

HEINZEL GROUP

Sales revenues 2015 k EUR 1.5 billion
3 trading units
4 industrial sites

3.3 million tonnes sales volume

EBIT 2015 k EUR 94 million

Waste paper trading

www.heinzel.com

HEINZEL GROUP – KEY INDICATORS (IFRS)
Production and sales volume
Total production
thereof pulp
thereof paper
Total sales volume
thereof own production
thereof traded goods
Income statement
Sales revenues
EBITDA
EBITDA margin
thereof industry
thereof trading
EBIT
EBIT margin
thereof industry
thereof trading
Financial result
Earnings before tax (EBT)
Net income
Balance sheet
Balance sheet total
Equity
Equity ratio
Net debt
Gearing ratio
Cash flow and investments
Cash flow from operating activities
Investments in property, plant and
equipment
Cash flow from investments
Free cash flow
Employees (year-end)
Employees (average)

2015

2014

Tonnes
Tonnes
Tonnes
Tonnes
Tonnes
Tonnes

921,271
353,440
567,830
3,324,768
924,071
2,400,697

1,010,356
399,348
611,009
3,247,039
997,269
2,249,770

EUR m
EUR m
%
%
%
EUR m
%
%
%
EUR m
EUR m
EUR m

1,480.4
144.3
9.7%
24.7%
2.9%
94.2
6.4%
15.7%
2.3%
–12.8
81.4
61.6

1,406.5
117.9
8.4%
16.3%
2.4%
67.4
4.8%
7.3%
2.1%
–5.4
62.0
52.5

EUR m
EUR m
%
EUR m
%

1,084.8
518.4
47.8%
83.7
16.1%

1,063.3
472.4
44.4%
100.6
21.3%

EUR m

130.2

98.6

EUR m
EUR m
EUR m
Number
Number

–47.3
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HEINZEL GROUP, which is united under the Heinzel Holding umbrella,

CONTENTS

ranks with its industrial locations Zellstoff Pöls AG (Austria), Laakirchen
Papier AG (Austria), Raubling (Germany) and AS Estonian Cell (Estonia) among
the largest producers of market pulp and magazine paper in Central and Eastern
Europe. Since the end of 2015, containerboard has also belonged to the group’s
range of products. The group’s Trading Business Area includes Wilfried Heinzel
AG, a globally active pulp, paper and board trading company, and Europapier
International AG, the leading paper merchant in Central and Eastern Europe. In
addition, Bunzl & Biach GmbH is the largest and most important waste paper
company in Austria and the leading wholesaler in Central and Eastern Europe.
Heinzel Group’s successful growth is based on the fulfilment of the highest
customer demands with regard to quality and efficiency.
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For us 2015 closed on a highly positive
note, not least owing to the fact that
we successfully overcame the major
damage caused by the accidents in Pöls
and Laakirchen. Therefore, the most
important question to confront us now
relates to the direction that the markets
will take in the period up to 2020 and
what products and services they will
require. Fortunately we are able to build
on a solid foundation, as the global pulp
and paper markets are growing, particularly in segments such as packaging,
hygiene and special papers. However,
it should be added that this expansion
is slowing and the printing and writing
paper segment is in sharp decline, especially with regard to publication paper.
In Heinzel Group we have adopted
an 
active approach to the changes in
consumer behaviour and the transfor
mation from print to packaging. Anyone emulating the young and ordering
clothing via the Internet receives a clear
demonstration of the opportunities that
e-commerce presents to the p
aper
industry in general and Heinzel Group
in p
articular. Firstly, the consumer
receives a large box made of corrugated
containerboard (components which are
manufactured in Raubling and will soon
be part of Laakirchen’s portfolio). The
clothing inside is wrapped in bleached
MG kraft paper (like that supplied by
Starkraft in Pöls) and enclosed at the
bottom of the box is a fashion magazine
(printed on SC paper as produced in
Laakirchen). The delivery slip is tucked
into an attractively designed card folder
(for example manufactured using BCTMP
pulp from E
 stonian Cell and marketed by
Europapier) and finally, the box lands in
a waste paper container from where it is
returned to the paper production cycle by
a company such as Bunzl & Biach.

My prediction is that by 2020, over fifty
per cent of Heinzel Group business in
the industrial and trading areas will relate directly or indirectly to product and
transport packaging. This transition will
also require a change of generation and
management, which is something that
we are currently undertaking.

I would like to wish my and our colleagues, suppliers and customers continued success and offer my thanks for
the past fifteen good years spent with
Heinzel Group, which were characterised by trust and mutual goodwill.

Alfred H. Heinzel
CEO
Heinzel Holding GmbH
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CHANGES ACROSS
THE BOARD
A NEW EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT
TEAM AT ZELLSTOFF PÖLS AG

KURT MAIER AS THE NEW HOLDING CEO
ALFRED H. HEINZEL JOINS THE SUPERVISORY
BOARD
“Not at all! I am delighted by my new
assignment and will be an active Supervisory Board president.” Moreover, when
questioned as to why Kurt Maier had
been selected as his successor, Alfred
H. Heinzel’s answer was short and to the
point. “Because he has what it takes and
my family can rely upon his loyalty.”

Kurt Maier

O

n 31 March 2016, Kurt Maier, the
long-serving CEO of Zellstoff Pöls AG will
assume Alfred H. Heinzel’s executive
management post in Heinzel Holding. In
a parallel move Alfred H. Heinzel is to
join the Supervisory Board as its pres
ident.
When asked if he had found the withdrawal from operative business a difficult process, Alfred H. Heinzel replied:
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The excellent understanding between
both generations of the Heinzel family is
also a decisive reason why Kurt Maier, a
graduate in industrial engineering, e njoys
working for the group. “The clear ownership structure represents an important
element in the dynamism of Heinzel
Group because it facilitates the rapid
taking of decisions that frequently require
a degree of courage.” Kurt Maier adds
that this is very much in line with his own
corporate management ideas: “I intend
to shape and form, not administer.” It is
precisely this approach that has characterised the native of Styria’s ten years as
the Zellstoff Pöls CEO and provided him
with valuable insights for his new position.

Ingrid Gruber

The transfer of Kurt Maier, the long-term
Pöls CEO, to Heinzel Holding has triggered personnel changes at the Styrian
mill. From 1 April 2016, Andreas Vogel,
to date the Production Manager at
Laakirchen Papier AG, will become the
Pöls CTO, CEO and company spokesperson. Ingrid Gruber, who has long been
the Pöls Finance Manager, will assume
the position of CFO.

Andreas Vogel

HEINZEL GROUP
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EUROPAPIER:
NEW LOGO
F

rom the summer of 2016 the Europapier
logo will shine with a fresh sparkle. The completely redesigned, colourful brand image is
intended to mirror the development of
Europapier Group and the diversity of its

product and services range. In addition, the
new ”FIRST OF ALL” claim underlines the
position of Europapier as the initial port of call
for a large number of customers.

Lauri Raid, CTO of Estonian Cell

HONOURED

ESTONIAN CELL RECEIVES THE PRESTIGIOUS
EUROPEAN BUSINESS AWARD
In May 2015, the Estonian pulp producer
Estonian Cell was selected as the best
Estonian company in the “Environmental
and Corporate Sustainability” category of
the highly respected European Business
Awards.
As Lauri Raid, the company CTO explains: “A decisive factor in the receipt of
this award is the biogas plant, which has
reduced our ecological footprint by 30
per cent. The plant was commissioned in
2014 at an investment cost of EUR 11
million. Moreover, Estonian Cell was the
first mechanical pulp mill in Europe to
have the courage to invest in a biogas
system. Today, we are the largest biogas
producer in Estonia and therefore this
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spending has more than paid dividends.”
Lauri Raid travelled to London for the
awards ceremony in the company of
Arvo Davel, the waste water treatment
manager.
Siiri Lahe, the Estonian Cell CFO, also regards the verdict of the jury as important

European Business Award

recognition: “The European Business
Award is a major international prize that
acknowledges the probity of our major
investment and the hard work of our
employees.” The Estonian member of

Heinzel Group currently has a workforce
of 85 and annual sales of EUR 69 million.

Prize awarded in London
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COMEBACK
OF THE BOILER

2015

RECOVERY BOILER AT ZELLSTOFF PÖLS AG HAS BEEN
REPAIRED IN RECORD TIME
part was completed by the beginning
of September and approved by the TÜV
following a boiler pressure test.”

months and following the positive testing and certification of all the safety
systems, the new boiler went into operation right on schedule.

The required further checks were then
carried out during the subsequent

The Pöls liquor recovery boiler

Just before Christmas, the repairs to the
large liquor recovery boiler at Z
 ellstoff
Pöls AG, which exploded in March
2014, were completed and now, only
17 months after the big bang, it is once
again in full operation. The task of restoring the entire boiler house, which
has dimensions of 30 by 30 metres and
a height of over 70 metres, proved to be
correspondingly large and complicated.
The first priority immediately after the
explosion was to clear away the debris
and disassemble the damaged boiler.
Roughly 3,000 tonnes of steel were
taken apart under very trying circumstances and then scrapped. Subsequently, surrounding buildings had to
be demolished in order to make way
for the infrastructure and provide the
access required for the installation of
the new plant, which commenced at
the beginning of 2015. As Kurt Maier,
the CEO at Zellstoff Pöls AG explains:
“The first step was the repair of the
entire steel structure. Then in April the
pressure section, which forms the heart
of the boiler, was installed. This main
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A PHOENIX RISES FROM THE ASHES
AFTER THE MAJOR FIRE IN SEPTEMBER, LAAKIRCHEN’S PM10
IS NOW BACK IN TOP GEAR

In precisely eighty days, hundreds of kilometres of cable and thousands of hydraulic pipes were laid and some 70,000
square metres of hall walls and machine
parts were cleaned. Then at 6:30 a.m.
on 16 December 2015 the decisive
moment arrived and the PM10 paper

machine in Laakirchen was restarted.
Mark Lunabba, the mill CEO: “We have to
thank our employees and suppliers for
this achievement, as it was only possible
due to their skills and outstanding commitment.”
What had actually happened? On
24 September the alarm bells suddenly
started to ring and clouds of smoke rose
into the air. A drive shaft in the PM10 had
fractured and the machine had subsequently caught fire. The good news was
that all the employees in the vicinity were
evacuated within minutes and no one
was injured. In addition, the second paper machine, the PM11, was undamaged and thus able to resume production within hours. Now the PM10 is back

in full operation and as a delighted Mark
Lunabba says: “It is unbelievable, but I
have the feeling that only shortly after the
restart the machine is already running
just as perfectly as before the fire.”

Rapid repair work

The PM10 in Laakirchen

HEINZEL GROUP
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FURTHER
EXPANSION

HEINZEL GROUP HAS PURCHASED A PAPER MILL AND
A PAPER RECYCLING COMPANY IN BAVARIA

SANCTUARY
HEINZELSALES AND HEINZEL
HOLDING JOIN C ARITAS IN
SUPPORTING REFUGEE
MINORS

In the district of Neudörfl in Burgenland,
the Austrian Caritas aid organisation
runs a house that offers accommodation
to around sixty refugees. The majority of
the residents are unaccompanied
minors aged between 14 and 19, who
mostly come from Syria and A
 fghanistan.
At the end of 2015, heinzelsales and
Heinzel Holding decided to add the
home to its list of supported initiatives.
Andrew Paul, the heinzelsales CEO:
“Successful integration is especially
important for such youngsters.”

The Raubling paper mill

Heinzel Group remained on an expansion course in 2015. At the end of the
year, the pulp and paper group purchased the Raubling paper mill and
Chiemgau Recycling, which operates at
the same location, from Mondi Group.
In addition, the adjacent real estate was
acquired from EMACS Raubling GmbH,
which was linked to the 
owner. The
total purchase price amounted to
EUR 25 million.
The paper mill in Raubling has an annual
capacity of around 220,000 tonnes and
produces containerboard on two paper
machines. Chiemgau Recycling GmbH
on the other hand operates a sorting
plant for used paper and beverage
cartons.
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Following approval by the anti-trust
authorities, the transaction was closed
on 22 December. Alfred H. Heinzel, the
Heinzel Holding CEO, sees this latest
acquisition as follows: “The takeover of
the mill in Raubling brings a meaningful
supplement to our range and also contributes to the securing of our raw material supply.”
Additional purchases are not excluded in
order to further consolidate Heinzel’s
global role. Moreover, supplementary
investments of EUR 150 million are

planned at the three locations in
Laakirchen, Upper Austria, Pöls in Styria
and Kunda in Estonia.

Among other purposes, the financial aid
from heinzelsales and Heinzel Holding is
being used to organise language
courses, equip classrooms and arrange
apprenticeships for the young refugees.
Caritas General Secretary, Klaus
Schwertner: “We are very grateful for this
support.”

Representatives of Caritas and heinzelsales
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“WE ARE
OPPORTUNISTIC IN
A POSITIVE SENSE.”
F.l.t.r.: Wolfgang Pfarl, Kurt Maier, Alfred H. Heinzel, Sebastian Heinzel

The spring of 2016 brings a generational change to
Heinzel Holding’s executive management and Supervisory
Board: a conversation on farsightedness, continuity and
renewal within Heinzel Group.
8
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AG and was thus strengthened in my
resolve to become a fully independent
businessman.
Wolfgang Pfarl: One must add that while
a managerial employee, Alfred H.
Heinzel had already acted in an entrepreneurial fashion and not only set a
great deal in motion, but also established
a corresponding reputation.
What is your personal résumé regarding
the first fifteen years of Heinzel Group?

Heinzel Group’s
generation
change

Mr. Heinzel, fifteen years ago you laid
the foundation stone for Heinzel Group
with the acquisition of Zellstoff Pöls AG.
Prior to that you were a m
 anager in an
international pulp and paper group.
What led you to become an entrepreneur
at a relatively late stage of your career?
Alfred H. Heinzel: My transition into a
company owner was somewhat unexpected and certainly unplanned. The
trigger was provided by a telephone call

A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 15

in 2000 during which I was offered the
post of chairman of the ÖIAG Supervi
sory Board. My spontaneous decision to
accept this challenge also marked my
simultaneous rebirth as an entrepreneur.
This was because the position as the
CEO of a listed company, for which I was
foreseen at the time, was incompatible
with the ÖIAG appointment. Moreover,
following consultations with my employers, I had already initiated negotiations
regarding the purchase of Zellstoff Pöls

Alfred H. Heinzel: I honestly believe that
they could not have been better. Even
the failure in the Netherlands, which was
painful, proved to be a valuable experience and a decisive turning point. It
brought us back to earth with a jolt and
saved us from becoming excessively
overconfident (N.B. The Dutch board
producer De Eendracht B.V. purchased
in 2002 was closed in 2006 following
months of difficulties).
Is there a formula for your success?
Alfred H. Heinzel: In reality we do nothing
else except carry out successful portfolio
management. The majority of our acquisitions have proved to be good purchases
and we have already resold a couple at a
profit. However, we have retained the
vast majority and are very happy with
them. One of our main considerations
was and remains sustainable equity
hedging and due to our trading origins,
we have always had a very close eye on
the market. Therefore, sales revenues
have constantly been the main driving
force behind our acquisitions.
Wolfgang Pfarl: As a party to these
developments and the president of the
Heinzel Holding Supervisory Board, I
feel I should add that this company is
characterised by a high level of professionalism in everything that it has done
and will do. This mirrors the major
players in the best possible regard.
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The group’s strengths also emanate from
its broad industrial and trading base.
Moreover, we are anything but a
slow-moving apparatus. Indeed, our
credo is not to administer, but to create.
Over the years, I have also greatly
enjoyed following this approach in Pöls
and I look forward to maintaining it in
Heinzel Holding.
In recent years the pulp and paper sector
has seen massive changes. How have
you positioned yourselves in this environment?

Alfred H. Heinzel

 ccordingly, no growth is undertaken for
A
its own sake. Rather, the basis for expansion is a clear position on the part of the
owner that earnings are never squandered, but reinvested. Moreover, one
secret of the company’s success is
undoubtedly its size. It is big enough to
dare and small enough to care.
Mr. Maier, in March Alfred H. Heinzel will
move to the Heinzel Holding Supervisory
Board and you will assume his role as
CEO. Where do you see the special
strengths of Heinzel Group?
Kurt Maier: Having spent ten of Heinzel
Group’s fifteen years of existence as the
Zellstoff Pöls CEO, I have been able to
experience the organisation’s most
important developments at first hand

and also participate in shaping them.
Two major reasons why I still enjoy
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 orking here are the clear ownership
w
structure, with a single family holding all
the shares, and our high level of understanding. Equally, the change of generation is a clear signal that Heinzel Group
should continue to be managed as a
family concern, which I find particularly
pleasing.

„

Alfred H. Heinzel: In the course of the
past forty years our business first underwent a transition from being local to
European and then in the last decade it
became global. In the period since the
millennium, market position, mergers
and capacity drove the entire industry.
Analysts and consultants constantly
repeated the mantra that relative market
share and size were decisive and represented the only means of influencing the
market. However, today it is precisely
those companies that followed this
advice that are under pressure and are
being forced to reduce their capacity.
We are comparatively small and have no
problems with use of capacity. In addition, the fact that others have dispensed
with areas that they regarded as no longer relevant has provided us with opportunities.

Our credo is not to administer,
but to create.

“

HEINZEL GROUP

COVERSTORY

What do these trends mean for production in Europe?
Wolfgang Pfarl: We can look back on
fifteen years during which a paradig
matic shift has occurred. Until 2008, we
had market growth but then this ended
at a stroke with the simultaneous arrival
of the financial crisis and the debut of the
iPad as a symbol of the digital revolution.
Naturally enough these events also had
an impact on the companies within
Heinzel Group. However, unlike many
others we have not shrunk, but grown.
Moreover this is in spite of the fact that
we have deliberately continued to bank
on paper at a time when some companies have even removed the word from
their names. Quite simply, from a capacity, financial and managerial standpoint,
we were in a position that enabled us to
act.
Sebastian Heinzel, you have been the
heinzelsales’ Chief Strategy Officer for
over a year and therefore have a finger
on the pulse of the international pulp
and paper market. Where do you see
decisive developments taking place at
present?
Sebastian Heinzel: Market globalisation
is intensifying and for Brazil pulp is
increasingly becoming what oil already is
to Saudi Arabia. China has also grown
into an important paper producer and
offers major trading potential. In turn the
decline in demand in Europe means that
we must see these overseas markets
from a strategic perspective and not
merely as buyers for seasonal surpluses.
In addition, although a slowdown is
evident in both Latin America and Asia, I
believe that these are still the markets of
the future and will continue to grow more
strongly than those in Europe. However,
the really big leap will occur in Africa,
where in around twenty years’ time
countries such as Nigeria will number
among the world’s strongest economies.
In fact states such as Mozambique are
already undertaking massive eucalyptus
afforestation.

A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 15

Kurt Maier: To a certain extent this is
protected, as transport is a major cost
factor. Moreover, while in terms of kilometres, sea transport costs virtually
nothing and overland transportation is
extremely expensive. In this regard we
profit from the locational advantages
provided by our favourably positioned
plants. For example, Pöls is situated
roughly half way between Scandinavia
and the Mediterranean. This means that
we are ideally situated to serve mills in
both Central Europe and the growing
Eastern European market.
Where are things heading with regard to
products in high demand and what position has Heinzel Group adopted?
Sebastian Heinzel: One of our main
strengths is that our roots are in trading
and half of our 2,200 employees still

work in sales. Consequently we are close
to our customers and certainly recognise
trends much sooner than pure production companies. In addition our waste
paper specialist Bunzl & Biach supplies
an extremely concrete picture of current
trends. For example, household collections now contain far more packaging
than in the past, as people are increasingly making online purchases. At the
same time, fewer newspapers and magazines printed on paper are being read,
which has resulted in declining demand
for graphic papers. The Internet is the
driving force behind both of these developments.
We also have to reflect this transformation within Heinzel Group. At present, we
are very strongly represented in the
graphic area both at the Laakirchen mill
and in our trading activities, but in years
to come packaging will gain in significance. In turn, pulp is not only important
for the expanding packaging segment,

Kurt Maier
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but also for tissue and special papers.
These areas are set to grow as an increasing number of countries switch
from fabric to disposable diapers and
start to use toilet paper, which will thus
trigger greater demand for pulp.
Alfred H. Heinzel: I can only underline
what Sebastian has said. In Laakirchen
we are gradually supplementing our
graphic paper portfolio with packaging
segment products and the combined
purchase of a mill specialising in
container
board, and a waste paper
sorting plant in Raubling/Germany

repre

sents another initiative in this
direction. With the building of the PM2,
Pöls is currently undertaking a similar
integrative move. Furthermore, we are
considering the installation of a third
paper m
 achine at the mill, which would
further strengthen this trend. Lastly, at
Estonian Cell we are attempting to raise
the share of pulp d
 eliveries to packaging producers.
Sebastian Heinzel: We are not aiming to
become a fully integrated packaging
supplier, but are consciously seeking
niches. In other words, we are being
opportunistic in the best sense of the
term by creating possibilities and seizing
chances.

„

We deliberately seek niches and are
therefore opportunistic in the best sense
of the word, as within them we create
possibilities and use our chances.

“

are currently manufacturing our highly
successful “Starkraft” kraft paper in Pöls
on the PM2.
Tissue segment growth is also reflected
within the group. If eight years ago ten
per cent of our pulp deliveries went to
this area, today it accounts for thirty per
cent. At the same time, we continue to
defend our strong position in the graphic
paper segment, not least through attractive new products.

Could we briefly look at the hotly debated
issue of wood as a raw material and an
energy source, a topic about which you
have repeatedly expressed your concerns in the media?
Wolfgang Pfarl: Wood is not available in
unlimited quantities and is simply too
precious to be burned immediately.
Therefore, its employment as a material
must take precedence over energetic
utilisation. Heinzel Group is one of the
few Austrian enterprises to raise this

As the pulp and paper industry is both
raw material- and energy-intensive is
there not also a continual demand for
new purchasing concepts?
Wolfgang Pfarl: Yes, but we are using
the threat posed by supply bottlenecks
as an impulse for important changes.
In the case of wood, our hands are
more or less tied, but we can do a
great deal in the energy sector. To date
we have been relatively successful in
mastering the energy crisis, as demonstrated by the Pöls mill’s autonomy in
this area.
Kurt Maier: We have also reacted to the
problematic issue of raw material supply
with increased location integration and
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matter in significant political discussion
and show that the current biomass subsidy system endangers pulp production
in Central Europe. Alfred Heinzel’s presidency of Austropapier is also an
important signal in this regard and I

should add that although at present the
situation has eased at least temporarily,
the supply of wood still remains an issue.
Alfred H. Heinzel: Even though the subsidies scheme continues to result in distortions, a change of attitude is slowly
becoming apparent. A way out may be
provided by the emergence of excess
capacity in the energy sector and changes in governmental subsidy policy due to
monetary shortages. Such developments are already evident in Germany,
where funding for renewable energy has
ceased and the same applies to Estonia,
Romania, Spain and Portugal. The wind
has thus started to swing round to a
more favourable direction.

Alfred H. Heinzel: At the same time, we
should not forsake our streamlined
organisation and thus become too large
and cumbersome. We must avoid dissipating our strengths through excessive
diversification and although we will continue to grow in the coming fifteen years,
it may be the case that this expansion
will be somewhat less extensive than in
our first fifteen.
Sebastian Heinzel: Whatever the case,
we will maintain the entrepreneurship at
our individual group companies and
locations. Integration should not be

forced, but rather our enterprising approach will be anchored throughout the
group. We have a shared set of values,
but we are not a concern.

employee fluctuation is virtually zero.
Such quality is not a matter of course in
our industry and indicates clearly the
importance that we attach to human

resources. We will continue to do

everything possible to retain our status
as an attractive employer and offer our
personnel the chance to harmonise their
private and working lives, which is an
important factor in safeguarding the

future.
Wolfgang Pfarl: As far as a vision of
Heinzel Group in 2030 is concerned, I
lack the imagination to create a concrete
picture, but I am certain that the group
will be in great shape!

Kurt Maier: We are not alone in believing
that our mill in Pöls constitutes a model
example of how the wood value-added
chain can be employed in optimum
fashion. This is because in our case material use is followed by highly efficient
energy utilisation. As a consequence we
are not only autonomous with regard to
energy, but also feed heat and electricity
into the public networks.
In view of the change of generations
might we take a look into the future?
What is your vision for 2030 and where
will Heinzel Group then stand?
Sebastian Heinzel: Apart from our core
paper and pulp business, we will be still
stronger in the packaging segment and
even more global in the trading area. On
the basis of our existing strengths we will
continue to pursue active further development. In other words, should an important area weaken this will be counter
balanced by a move into the next field on
an identical scale. Consequently, as
already mentioned, we will remain opportunistic in a positive sense.
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Sebastian Heinzel

Kurt Maier: Integrity and loyalty will
remain our central principles. Where

Heinzel is on the outside, Heinzel must
also be inside. Our workforce appreciates this approach, as evidenced by the
fact that within Heinzel Group we have
never had a managerial problem and
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INTERNATIONAL – CUSTO
Heinzel Group overview

SALES PER
PRODUCT CATEGORY 2015

RESULTS 2015
Sales revenues
EBITDA
EBIT
Financial result
Earnings before tax (EBT)
Net income

EUR 1,480.4 m
EUR 144.3 m
EUR 94.2 m
EUR –12.8 m
EUR 81.4 m
EUR 61.6 m

3.3 MILLION
TONNES
PULP
0.98 M TONNES

SALES TRADED GOODS | OWN PRODUCTION (IN TONNES)
TRADED GOODS

OWN PRODUCTION

2,400,697

1,353,751
1,116,587 1,254,245
710,765
670,430
506,798
2008

2009

2010

1,807,676

1,770,193 1,850,064

440,142

573,234

2011

2012

963,250
2013

2,249,770

997,269

924,071

2014

2015

PRINTING & WRITING PAPER
0.47 M TONNES

PUBLICATION PAPERS
0.77 M TONNES

SALES (IN EUR M)
579.3

534.9

649.1

2008

2009

2010

GLOBAL
NETWORK

PACKAGING & BOARD
0.72 M TONNES

1,016.2
2011

1,093.1

2012

1,329.1

2013

1,406.5

1,480.4

2014

2015

OTHER
0.39 M TONNES

GROUP OVERVIEW

OMER-ORIENTED – FAST
1,221 SALARIED EMPLOYEES

914 BLUE-COLLAR WORKERS

54% IN SALES

2,135 EMPLOYEES
38 NATIONALITIES

55 APPRENTICES

615 FEMALE

1,520 MALE
37.9%
Pulp
350,666

27.8%

Own production
924,071

53.9%

Publication papers
498,863

SALES TRADED GOODS |
OWN PRODUCTION 2015 (IN TONNES)

8.2%
72.2%

Traded goods
2,400,697

Packaging & board
74,542

GROUP COMPANIES

HEINZEL GROUP
COMPANIES

INDUSTRY

INDUSTRY

INDUSTRY

INDUSTRY

LAAKIRCHEN PAPIER AG

RAUBLING PAPIER GMBH*

ZELLSTOFF PÖLS AG

AS ESTONIAN CELL

Laakirchen/Austria

Raubling/Germany

Pöls/Austria

Kunda/Estonia

Paper production

Paper production

Pulp and paper production

Pulp production

Super calendered gravure

Kraft top liner, test liner,

Bleached kraft pulp,

Bleached aspen

and offset uncoated paper

fluting

bleached kraft paper

BCTMP pulp

Publishers, printers,

Corrugated containerboard

Paper producers, bag and

Paper industry

catalogue producers,

producers

packaging industry

Germany, Italy, Austria

Italy, Austria, Slovenia,

India, Germany, France,

Germany, France,

Italy

retail chains
Germany, Italy, Austria,
Central and Eastern Europe

Mediterranean region

EUR 234,054k

EUR 81,867k

EUR 184,212k

EUR 68,668k

514

132

389

85

498,862 tonnes

204,314 tonnes

251,476 tonnes

173,732 tonnes

* Fully consolidated within
Heinzel Group from 1 January
2016
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GROUP COMPANIES

TRADING

TRADING

TRADING

WILFRIED HEINZEL AG

EUROPAPIER INTERNATIONAL AG

BUNZL & BIACH GMBH

Vienna/Austria,

Vienna/Austria, subsidiaries in

Vienna/Austria, Linz/Austria,

24 branches worldwide

13 countries

LOCATION

subsidiary near Ceské
Budějovice (CZ), subsidiary in
Raubling/Germany*

Global pulp and paper trading

Paper wholesaling

Waste paper and packaging

ACTIVITIES

disposal and trading
Pulp, paper, board, china clay

Office paper, printing paper,

and chemicals

packaging paper, board

Waste paper, data protection,

PRODUCTS

document archiving, document
shredding, waste disposal

Paper producers, processors,

Printers, packaging processors,

printers, publishers, wholesalers,

office paper retailers, business

packaging companies

and industry

Global – 97 countries worldwide

Russia, Poland, Austria,

Business and industry

CUSTOMERS

Austria

MAIN MARKETS

EUR 92,368k

SALES REVENUES

Hungary, Czech Republic,
Slovenia
EUR 516,457k

EUR 512,054k

2015

906

101

134

EMPLOYEES
2015

2,065,450 tonnes

593,417 tonnes

674,544 tonnes

SALES VOLUMES
2015

* Part of Heinzel Group
since 1 January 2016

The Heinzel Group companies possess all the standard environmental and production certifications.
A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 15

17

INDUS
18

HEINZEL GROUP

STRY
A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 15

19

R AUBLING PAPIER

A BAVARIAN
PLAYMAKER
The premises of the Raubling paper mill in Bavaria

As of 2016 the paper mill in Raubling has joined
Heinzel Group. The underlying strategy, the
thoughts of the Bavarian workforce on the
takeover and the new subsidiary’s similarities
to a midfield strategist.
20
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transaction involved two acquisitions in
one because for a sum of EUR 25 million Heinzel Group not only acquired
the paper mill, but also the Chiemgau
Recycling GmbH waste paper company,
which operates at the same location
(please see the article on page 46).
Even on the first day after the takeover,
the heinzelpaper homepage (www.
heinzelpaper.com) referred visitors to
two pages of detailed information. On

Naturally such processes are anything
but straightforward, as explained by
Klaus Vlach, who is responsible for
organisational development within

Heinzel Group and from the beginning
was part of the Raubling takeover: “Until
very recently numerous details such as
purchasing at the paper mill and parts
of the accounting system were still the
responsibility of the former owners
Mondi. This is in sharp contrast to
Heinzel Group, as we favour a decen-

APART FROM THE RAUBLING PAPER MILL,
HEINZEL GROUP ALSO PURCHASED
THE CHIEMGAU RECYCLING GMBH WASTE
PAPER SUPPLY COMPANY FOR A TOTAL OF

EUR 25 MILLION

The date of the closing possessed a
thoroughly symbolic character. At six in
the evening on 31 December 2015, just
a few hours before the champagne
corks popped all over Europe and the
night sky was lit up with fireworks, the
deal between Mondi Holding G
 ermany
and Heinzel Group was finally sealed.
Prior to this, both the Austrian and
responsible European anti-trust authorities had given the 
anticipated green
light for Heinzel Group’s purchase of the
Raubling paper mill. In actual fact the

A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 15

the left there was a link to the paper mill
in Laakirchen, Upper Austria and on
the right, to the paper mill in Raubling in
the Upper Bavarian district of Rosenheim, Heinzel Group’s newest sub
sidiary. Moreover, immediately after the
conclusion of the agreement, the company signs with the new “heinzelpaper”
logo were put up at the Raubling location.
The rapidity of these changes clearly
indicated both the delight of the new
owner with its latest acquisition and the
level of confidence shown from the outset in this tradition-steeped, Bavarian
paper mill with its workforce. This
speed also demonstrated that while
others lose considerable amounts of
time when integrating acquisitions,
Heinzel Group attaches enormous
value to quick assimilation.

tralised corporate culture. C
 onsequently,
like all other group companies, Raubling will operate independently and
have to deliver results.”
However, no one at Heinzel has the
slightest doubt that this task will be
mastered, especially in view of the fact
that a comprehensive due diligence test
was already launched in Raubling
during last summer. This means that
the mill’s strengths and available potential for improvement are already well
known. Moreover, there is also another
historical link to the location, as from
1995 onwards Alfred H. Heinzel,
Heinzel Group CEO, headed Papier
werke Waldhof Aschaffenburg AG
(PWA) and among other assignments
was responsible for the integration of
the largest German paper group into
the Swedish SCA Group. At that time,
the PWA group headquarters were
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The paper machines produce containerboard.

With Raubling the
intention is to gain
considerable ground
in the packaging area
by means of special
qualities.

s ituated in the district of Raubling with
its 11,000 inhabitants, directly adjacent
to the paper mill.
For Heinzel Group the acquisition of the
Raubling paper mill represents a major
gain on several levels and resembles
the purchase by a football club of a
midfielder with the ability to influence
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the strategy of the entire team. This is
because the mill occupies an extremely
favourable geographic position, as its
most important customers are to be
found in Germany and Italy. As a result
Heinzel Group has further consolidated its position in the European market. Moreover, the most important
trump card of the Bavarian paper
manu
facturer is provided by its two
paper machines, which exclusively produce containerboard. This packaging
product holds the promise of excellent
sales in the international markets and to
date was missing from the diverse
range offered by the Heinzel subsidiaries. Therefore, the intention is to make
up ground in the packaging segment
and raise profits with special qualities
from Raubling.
This is a logical move, for while the
global crisis in the print sector has

resulted in magazine products such as
SC paper suffering severe losses;
hygiene articles and packaging prod
ucts are experiencing a boom. In the
case of the latter this relates to the use
of corrugated containerboard by mail
order companies such as Amazon and
Zalando for their deliveries. And they


These finished goods are in great demand worldwide.

HEINZEL GROUP

R AUBLING PAPIER

MANAGEMENT
Maximilian Luger, COO
Klaus Vlach, CFO

The machine maintenance team at work

FURTHER INFORMATION
www.heinzelpaper.com

are not alone, as a growing number of
companies are earning a lion’s share of
their sales revenues through online
transactions. Klaus Vlach: “The Raubling mill possesses a great deal of packaging know-how and in turn, this offers
us an opportunity to become better
acquainted with this type of production.
In Raubling there are numerous top
packaging specialists, who can put
their expertise at the disposal of other
Heinzel Group companies.”
This is a reference to the Heinzel paper
mill in Laakirchen some 160 km away
from Raubling. In future, its paper
machine 10 is to be employed to

develop a new packaging board business segment. Alfred H. Heinzel: “With
the related investments, in future the
mill in Laakirchen will not only manufacture magazine papers for intaglio
and offset printing, but also machine
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finished and liner packaging papers.
Owing to current developments in the
packaging market the demand for these
products is bound to rise and on the
basis of our good geographical position,
we intend to actively exploit this trend.
In view of the investments in L aakirchen,
the purchase of the Raubling mill
provides a valuable addition to our

portfolio.”

the mill only days after the takeover and
is on site at least once a month.
Maximilian Luger: “As a subsidiary in
Heinzel Group one is far more in the
spotlight. The intention is to further
develop the location in a sustainable

and appropriate manner and members
of the Board are constantly here. The
employees sense this and therefore feel
that they are being taken seriously.”

But how is Heinzel Group’s takeover of
the Raubling paper mill seen by
its roughly 140-strong workforce?
Maximilian Luger, the mill’s financial

manager and since 1 January 2016 its
Managing Director: “As is the case with
all major changes, initially there was a
good deal of scepticism, but in the
meantime the mood is highly positive,
as the team has realised that Heinzel
Group pays very close attention to its
subsidiaries.” Alfred H. Heinzel visited

In fact, it only took a few days for Heinzel
Group to decide upon the first investment in Raubling, which will initially
involve the separation of the circulated
and used water on the paper machines.
Maximilian Luger: “Another immediate
measure is an increase in machine
efficiency.” Therefore a good deal of

work is on the agenda in Raubling and
this can only be a positive sign for the
future.
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Laakirchen
Efficiency Programme

NO
PAPER
TIGER

360°

Intelligent management and innovations – that’s
how Laakirchen has reacted to the global print
crisis. Indeed, a visit quickly shows that in terms
of efficiency, the mill could eventually overtake
Formula 1.
24
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The machines rattle, rumble and whir in
a constant rhythm, but the largest of
them all is also the quietest. This is a six
metre-high and ten metre-wide steel
monster that exudes innumerable pipes
and cables. A paper machine, or PM for
short, which at one end is constantly fed
with a mixed diet of waste paper, pulp,
wood and additives, and at the other
emits tonnes of top quality paper. The
freshly produced goods are then rolled,
smoothed and subsequently prepared
for dispatch by two fully automatic robots.
For the experienced Laakirchen personnel the manufacture of paper is basically
routine. However, 2015 was definitely far
from being a normal year for this member
of Heinzel Group. The 
“Laakirchen
Efficiency Programme 360°” was the

name given to an internal auditing
process, which was launched in January
2015 and kept the mill’s over 500 employees on their toes throughout the
year. The aim of the programme was to
achieve optimum paper production
efficiency, resource-protective working

and lower costs.
Easier said than done. Especially in view
of the fact that the paper mill in the
Upper Austrian district of Gmunden was
already well known for precisely its
high level of efficiency. Nonetheless,
the 
results of the programme have
been remarkable. As Mark Lunabba,
Laakirchen Papier’s Finnish CEO notes:
“Alone in 2015, the effects of the
Laakirchen Efficiency Programme 360°
amounted to around EUR 6 million.
Therefore, we look to the future with a
good deal of realistic optimism.”
Fellow Board member Franz Baldauf,
who has his office on the ground floor, is
no less content with the result. “The primary focus of the Laakirchen Efficiency
Programme 360° was actually on increased
efficiency and not necessarily cost cutting.” However, as the L aakirchen controller, Martin Karbasch adds: “We took
a really close look at every department,
process and working procedure. There
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SC paper production in Laakirchen

“We look to the future
with a good deal of
realistic optimism.”
Mark Lunabba

were no sacred cows and even the
smallest detail was scrutinised with regard to its effectiveness.” Franz Baldauf
also has no doubts that the most pleasing aspect of this audit was the cooperation shown: “I was personally delighted
to see the level of motivation with which
the entire team contributed to this process and thus made the success
achieved in 2015 possible.”
The fact that Franz Baldauf and Mark
Lunabba can still utter words such as
“success” and “optimism” in a branch
such as the paper industry is also something of a pleasant surprise and certainly
relates to the acquisition of Laakirchen
by Heinzel Group in 2013. The mill
quickly found its feet within the organisa-

tion, but nevertheless 2015 proved to be
a turbulent year for the workforce in
more ways than one. In September a
technical defect caused the PM10 to
catch fire (please see the Newsflash on
page 6) and it was only record-breaking
repair work that ensured the restart of
the machine in less than three months.
Today, this matter has already been
committed to the company archives and
the PM10 is now back in full production
at its usual high quality level.
In 2015, Laakirchen also had to battle
with the ongoing print crisis, progressive
digitalisation having pushed the global
paper industry into recession. The mill
manufactures SC paper, the grade used
for magazines, and since 2008 sales in
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this segment have fallen by around 30
per cent. This decline is illustrated by the
fact that a growing number of catalogue
publishers, who traditionally were loyal
SC paper customers, are gradually closing down their printed publications. As
Thomas Krawinkler, the Laakirchen
Sales Manager observes: “In general the
market is easing at a rate of three to four
per cent per year.”
This sounds relatively alarming, but the
Laakirchen management team has no
fears regarding the future. Mark
Lunabba: “It is a shrinking market, but
nevertheless the paper industry is not
threatened by total extinction. At some
point there will simply be a limited number of suppliers and we intend to be one
of them.” This ambition has nothing to
do with megalomania, but rather the
conviction that Laakirchen has that certain something that will enable it to
outstay the competition. And what is this
secret of success? A visit to the mill
reveals a great deal.
It is just before 12 noon in the Traun
viertel region of Upper Austria. The

 aper mill is located in a secluded spot
p
amongst hills, fields and endless woodland. Safety measures are obligatory for
all visitors. Therefore those entering the
production facilities must wear a warning
vest, safety shoes and a helmet, and
remain at a safe distance from the

machines.
Andreas Vogel, Laakirchen Papier
Production Manager, and Franz Baldauf
first guide the visitors into a smaller hall
where several metal containers stand. It
is these that make Laakirchen a
European pioneer in the areas of

resource conservation and environmental protection. In a first step, a steel drum
frees tonnes of waste paper from staples
and plastic before a device called a
flotation cell, which is part of a modern
de-inking system, removes the colours
from the paper in several washing
phases. As Franz Baldauf points out, this
high-tech process has dual benefits:
“Thanks to these machines we have
been able to markedly increase the
amounts of waste paper used in our
production. This means that we are on
an exemplary course with regard to envi-

Waste paper stockpiles on the plant premises

ronmental protection because apart
from the increased recycled content,
less energy is needed than is the case
with wood pulp.”

“At some point there
will simply be a limited
numer of paper suppliers and we intend to be
one of them.”
Mark Lunabba

The PM11 currently has a 94 per cent availability rate.
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The tour continues in the large, diagonally opposite production hall where pulp is
first treated prior to being fed into the
paper machine. Pulp has also been
subject to one of the numerous modifications made in the course of the
Laakirchen Efficiency Programme 360°
for as Franz Baldauf explains: “We
recently started to employ new and less
expensive recipes without any loss of
quality.” And this is by no means all, as
Andreas Vogel is quick to remark: “We
have also fine-tuned a number of details
on the equipment with the result that the
PM11 currently has the highest avail
ability level of any comparable machine.
At present, this amounts to 94 per cent,
which means that the machine can
virtually run on a 24-7-365 basis.”
In addition to these technical improvements, the Laakirchen team also have a
number of other aces up their sleeves
such as the mill’s geographical position.
Franz Baldauf: “We can be in Germany,
Eastern Europe, France, Italy or Poland
far faster than many of our competitors
and with lower transport costs.”
Laakirchen’s second major strength is its
flexibility, as confirmed by Thomas
Krawinkler: “We are able to respond very
quickly to special customer wishes,

“We are able
to respond
very quickly
to special
customer
wishes.”
Thomas Krawinkler

This constant search for increased efficiency permits the speculation that the
Laakirchen papermakers could eventually end up outpacing Formula 1, where
following the end of each season the
work of the technical departments
immediately starts anew. Untiring efforts
then go into the design of the most
efficient transmission, the fastest tyres
and a perfect engine. Laakirchen’s
approach is not dissimilar but for the

time being at least the crews from Red
Bull, Mercedes and Ferrari can relax, as
the mill’s team still feels happiest in the
paper industry!

irrespective of whether these relate to
delivery dates or quality changes. It is
precisely for this reason that despite the
temporary loss of a paper machine in
2015, virtually all of our customers
remained loyal. It would seem that the
vast majority really appreciates us.”
Now that 2015 has passed, the question
arises as to whether the Laakirchen
Efficiency Programme 360° has also

been concluded. CEO Mark Lunabba
shakes his head and smiles: “In this
branch seconds and a few millimetres
are often decisive and therefore further
adaptations are certain to be needed at
repeated intervals in the future.”

LAAKIRCHEN PAPIER AG

MANAGEMENT
Mark Lunabba, CEO
Franz Baldauf, CFO

LAAKIRCHEN PAPIER 
PRODUCT OVERVIEW

2015

2014

Production

Tonnes

492,474

552,580

Sales

Tonnes

498,862

545,479

Production per employee

Tonnes

958

1,052

Sales revenues

EUR k

234,054

271,641

EBITDA

EUR k

26,671

22,474

EBITDA margin

%

11.4%

8.3%

EBIT

EUR k

11,011

5,545

EBIT margin

%

4.7%

2.0%

Equity ratio

%

49.3%

41.6%

Gearing ratio

%

–0.2%

5.3%

Employees (average)

Number

514

526
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“C” AS IN CULTURAL
TRANSFORMATION,
“F” AS IN FUTURE
Zellstoff Pöls AG mill premises in Styria

Apart from the production of market pulp, Zellstoff Pöls AG
now has two additional business cornerstones – paper and
energy production. During 2015 the workforce also
developed a new company mission statement.
It was the afternoon of Wednesday 29
April when the departmental heads at
Zellstoff Pöls AG gathered for one of their
regular meetings. On the agenda were
discussions concerning the future of the
company and topics such as where the
workforce sees Zellstoff Pöls AG being in
ten years, what visions do the employees
have regarding the future of the Styrian
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pulp producer and how can the company continue to evolve in the direction of a successful future? In order to answer these questions, the Board launched an internal
project in the course of which personnel from every department and differing hierarchical levels drew up a joint company mission statement for the Pöls location, which
was to also serve as a type of guideline for all Zellstoff Pöls AG employees. The
basis for this new mission statement is provided by Heinzel Group’s “Organisation
Principles”:

Responsibility – Excellence – Respect
HEINZEL GROUP

ZELLSTOFF PÖLS

A new corporate
statement in

2015

“Above all, I wanted
the Zellstoff Pöls AG
mission statement to
be formulated in a
process that would
traverse all hierarchies
and departments.”
Kurt Maier

Kurt Maier: “Above all, I wanted the Zellstoff Pöls AG mission statement to be
formulated in a process that would traverse all hierarchies and departments. It
should be representative of an attractive
employer and thus serve as an attractive
future guideline for everyone.”

“R” AS IN RESPONSIBILITY
The background to this project was provided by the rapid development of the
company in the last few years in the
areas of paper and energy production.
On the one hand, this has involved the
successful launch of paper manufacturing under the name “Starkraft”, which
has the striking flying rhino symbol and
on the other, the growing importance of
Pöls as a supplier of eco-energy to the
Aichfeld region of Styria. CEO Kurt Maier
“So much has happened recently that
for me it was essential to initiate the next
step in the cultural transformation process. This was to involve as many employees as possible through questions as
to the ways in which they identify with
Zellstoff Pöls AG, their opinions regard-
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ing current developments and how they
envisage the company’s future.”
The 32-year-old legal expert Hans-Georg
Pranckh, who has spent the last five
years working at the Styrian pulp mill,
was assigned the management of this
internal project. He heads the company’s Legal Department and is regarded
as one of its many hopes for the future.
Moreover, like the rest of the workforce,
Hans-Georg Pranckh had experienced
many crucial developments at Zellstoff
Pöls AG in recent years and therefore as
he recollects: “Naturally I was very
pleased by this gesture of confidence
and at the same time hundreds of ideas
immediately raced through my mind
regarding the realisation of the project.”

“E” AS IN EXCELLENCE
No sooner said than done. And on the
very next day after the departmental
managers’ meeting on 29 April, work
commenced with the formation of a
16-strong project team headed by
Hans-Georg Pranckh. This was com
prised mainly of personnel from the
widest possible selection of departments
and hierarchical levels, which ensured a
diversity of viewpoints.
In an initial move, the team began to
draw up an overall concept together with
the consulting company Gesellschaft
für Organisationsentwicklung. An anonymous online survey was launched, which
asked the entire Zellstoff Pöls AG workforce questions regarding the company
management, organisation and internal
structures. Hans-Georg Pranckh: “Some
colleagues were reluctant to utter their
criticisms in public, but I was genuinely
surprised by the constructive manner in
which the majority finally participated in
the overall inquiry process.”
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CEO Kurt Maier was especially pleased
by the very great extent to which the
workforce identified with the firm and
the fact that many employees stated that
they were proud to work for a leading
company such as Zellstoff Pöls AG. In
particular, the workforce stressed the
importance of this identification with the
employer and the transparent and open
corporate culture. Therefore, these
points naturally flowed into the activities
of the project team.

ZELLSTOFF PÖLS AG

MISSION
STATEMENT
Our company mission statement
answers questions such as, “Who are
we?”, “How should we behave towards
one another?”, “What do we offer?”
and “Where do we want to go?”.
THE FOLLOWING ARE SOME ACTUAL
EXTRACTS:

R We are an independent company

within the privately managed Heinzel
Group, which numbers among
Austria’s top 100 enterprises.

R Clear information and communi-

cation channels ensure a working
climate that encourages motivation.

R We stand for top quality products,
professional services and state-ofthe-art production processes.

R We intend to master the challenges

of the future through pioneering spirit,
courage and a willingness to accept
change.
The complete mission statement
(in German) can be found at:
http://www.zellstoff-poels.at/
ueber-uns/unternehmensleitbild/
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“R” AS IN RESPECT
Another focal point of the project was the
improvement of interdepartmental communications. Hans-Georg Pranckh: “For
example, we brought colleagues from
Maintenance and Technical Planning
together in order to ascertain how

improved cooperation could be achieved
in future.” As Hans-Georg Pranckh says
this created a greater understanding for
the respective “other” side, but at the
same time he warns against impatience:
“We can deal with numerous details
right away. Nonetheless, it is impossible
to further develop all our internal structures without a concept and this natu
rally needs time. However, the statements made so far have provided us
with a relatively clear picture as to how
we can progress and thus achieve a successful and profitable future.”
Personal discussions constituted the
predominant feature during all phases of
the project. Accordingly for many employees the entire proceedings initially
represented a refreshing opportunity to
become mutually acquainted. HansGeorg Pranckh: “Colleagues frequently
lacked a detailed knowledge of other
departments and were somewhat sur
prised when they first became fully
aware of the diverse fields of activities
offered by Zellstoff Pöls AG.” The candid
discussions with the workforce also
showed just how important the issues of
ecology and sustainability have become.
Hans-Georg Pranckh: “The fact that as a
pulp producer we are a European pioneer with regard to environmental protection and energy supply was frequently underlined.” The employees expressed
the clear wish that efforts in this direction
should continue.
“F” AS IN FUTURE
The question arises as why “the future”
is a constant matter for discussion? After
all, internal reviews often take place at
companies as an emergency measure.
However, at Pöls this was definitely not
the case. On the contrary, apart from its
core pulp production both the com

Since the
introduction
of the PM2
paper machine,
some 80,000
tonnes of kraft
paper will be
sold annually.

pany’s energy sales and, in particular its
paper business, are booming. Since the
introduction of the PM2 paper machine,
some 80,000 tonnes of kraft paper will
be sold annually. Starkraft is now used in
almost fifty markets for packaging,
carrier bags, bread bags, gift paper and
medical sector products. In addition, following the restart of the liquor boiler,
pulp production is again in top gear.
Nonetheless, for CEO Kurt Maier the formulation of the company mission statement was extremely important: “In the
last few years we have been much concerned with the topic of organisational
development with a view to growth and
new technologies, but also in relation to
the change of generation that is currently
occurring in some departments.”
The CEO explains the special consideration being allocated to young employees as follows: “In a technology-oriented
company it is generally the case that the
technically best qualified persons are
appointed to management posts. However, it is not always the case that they
possess the necessary managerial skills
and it is precisely in this area that we

HEINZEL GROUP
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The workforce played an active role in drawing up the new corporate principles statement.

must do more, as this is the only means
by which a company can achieve longterm success.”
How will Zellstoff Pöls AG develop in the
coming years? It is quite possible that in
roughly a decade young hopefuls from
the circle of the project team will have
been promoted to leading positions in
Zellstoff Pöls AG. Equally, the Styrian
pulp, paper and energy producer may

have changed to such a degree that it
will again be time to tabulate a new company mission statement. At least for
Hans-Georg Pranckh this should not
prove a problem for in the meantime he
is certain to have acquired more than
sufficient experience in this field.

FURTHER INFORMATION
www.zellstoff-poels.at
www.starkraft.at

ZELLSTOFF PÖLS AG
Total production

MANAGEMENT
Kurt Maier, CEO
Gunther Sames, CFO

2015

2014

Tonnes

259,503

291,529

thereof market pulp

Tonnes

184,147

233,100

thereof paper

Tonnes

75,356

58,429

Total sales

Tonnes

251,476

287,591

thereof pulp

Tonnes

176,934

230,196

thereof paper

Tonnes

74,542

57,395

Production per employee

Tonnes

666

768

Sales revenues

EUR k

184,212

189,739

EBITDA

EUR k

78,331

51,401

EBITDA margin

%

42.5%

27.1%

EBIT

EUR k

59,799

30,370

EBIT margin

%

32.5%

16.0%

Equity ratio

%

54.1%

48.6%

Gearing ratio

%

20.3%

37.0%

Employees (average)

Number

389

380
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ESTONIAN CELL

THE KUNDA
WONDER
The pulp mill on the Estonian coast

How the Estonian Cell team is reinventing itself
to pass another milestone: 200,000 tonnes of
pulp annually.
H

ave you ever heard of the athlete Gerd
Kanter? No? Well, in his home country of
Estonia, the discus thrower, who measures around two metres and weighs
127 kg, is a superstar. At the Beijing
Olympics he appeared to be a lost
cause. However, with his fourth and final
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throw, he catapulted the discus 68.82 m
and thus to general amazement captured the gold medal.
Gerd Kanter recently visited the
85-strong Estonian Cell workforce to talk
about the art of motivation and although

at first glance this may appear somewhat
strange, it is actually highly appropriate.
Because the Estonian pulp producer is
also attempting to surpass its own limits
and achieve the seemingly impossible
against all the odds. Gerd Kanter’s
appearance was a well-kept secret until

HEINZEL GROUP

ESTONIAN CELL

VISION

We make the best
BCTMP in the world!
MISSION

From wood
to paper

As one enthusiastic workshop attendee put it: “It really
was the Olympic champion himself! Gerd Kanter’s message
that in order to achieve ambitious results you have to think
big was perfectly clear from the presentation.”

through hard work and unrelenting
effort, which in turn demands a new

corporate culture.”

the event and was received extremely
well by the employees. “It really was the
Olympic champion himself! Until now I
had only seen him on television,” commented Raavo Vask, a water treatment
plant operator, adding that, “The message that you have to think big to achieve
ambitious results was perfectly clear
from the presentation.”
As Lauri Raid, the Estonian Cell CTO
explains: “Our aim is to raise BCTMP

production to 200,000 tonnes annually.
A target that can only be reached

A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 15

No sooner said than done and since
January 2015 the team at the mill, which
has been in operation since 2006, has
been undergoing a process of internal
change. Cooperation spirit is being
strengthened under the motto: “We can
do it together” and the entire workforce
has been integrated into the transition
process. Siiri Lahe, Estonian Cell CFO,
describes the reasons for the internal
reforms as follows: “We studied our

organisation very closely and came to

the conclusion that although we are well
set-up, we could be even more efficient
and competitive than to date.”
In concrete terms, vision, mission and
strategy were first redefined during managerial meetings. Siiri Lahe: “Our vision
is to produce the best BCTMP in the
world. This sounds like an unobtainable
goal, but only those that set the highest
targets can improve from day to day.”

Raavo Vask: “The new vision statement
is a short sentence that says it all.”
A major aspect of this change process is
heightened transparency within the
management. HR Manager Helen
Neeve: “It is critically important that
every single employee in Estonian Cell
has a clear and identical understanding
of our objectives. Our awareness of the
importance of communications has
increased considerably during 2015 and
a lot of effort has been put into the visual
underpinning of key messages.”
Siiri Lahe and Lauri Raid also see improvement potential in the decision-making processes at Estonian Cell. Lauri
Raid: “We have re-examined our empowerment mechanisms in order to both
enable people to take responsibility and
speed up decision-making. In 2016 we
will continue with competence development with the aim of raising overall performance levels. This will make us more
efficient and above all further motivate
younger employees.”
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“In 2016 we will con
tinue with competence
development with the
aim of raising overall
performance levels.
This will make us more
efficient and above all
further motivate
younger employees.”
Lauri Raid

This is not all. It is decisive that everyone
in the team pulls together and receives
the feeling that he or she is an important
part of the company. Lauri Raid: “Our
personnel are allocated defined tasks
and are provided with regular feedback
regarding their work.“ Naturally, change
processes are a major challenge and
therefore, as Lauri Raid adds: “We like
to energise our employees with star
guests.”

“Our vision is to produce the best BCTMP in the
world. This may sound like an unobtainable goal,
but only those that set the highest targets can
improve from day to day.”

Estonian Cell’s mill is located in a small
town of 3,000 inhabitants called Kunda,
which is a 90-minute drive away from
the Estonian capital of Tallinn. Here, in
the Estonian backwoods, it used to be
relatively unusual for the company’s
workforce to meet leading personalities,
but this changed radically in 2015. Apart
from the discus thrower Gerd Kanter, the
famous Estonian actor Peeter Oja was
also a guest in the company, where he
gave a talk about the benefits of teamwork that was as witty as it was intelligent. “Now I am surrounded by the
vision, mission and objectives of E
 stonian
Cell,” said Matti Tirmaste, a bailing line
operator, when commenting on the giveaways from the Vision Day held in April.

change process was launched. As Lauri
Raid recollects: “At first, some people
did not see the necessity for change.”
This was not difficult to understand in
view of the fact that Estonian Cell was
highly successful in 2015.

It must be admitted that initially not
every
one was enthusiastic when the

The year started with some notable recognition. Firstly, Estonian Cell was select-
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ed as the nation’s most environment-
friendly company by the Ministry of the
Environment. Secondly, European Business Awards nominated the company
for the Environmental and Corporate
Sustainability Award. These accolades
relate to the highly modern biogas plant
commissioned in 2014, which has
proved to be a genuine success in spite

HEINZEL GROUP
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of the fact that it represented unknown
technological territory and thus required
an extended start-up curve.
This advanced, environment-friendly installation produces more than six million
cubic metres of biogas annually. Consequently, previous natural gas purchases
have been cut by thirty per cent. In turn,
this represents a major step towards the
energy autonomy of the pulp mill. During
the year, the company’s export volume
increased to a record high of 173,732
tonnes and per capita productivity rose
to EUR 900,000, which is currently the
highest figure in the whole of Estonia.
By the end of 2015, the long-term loan
from the early days of the mill project

was refinanced. Moreover, the refinancing package has also opened the way for
the investment in growth needed to
reach to the 200,000 tonne mark.
Therefore, the question arises as to why
one should turn everything upside down,
when Estonian Cell is improving from
year to year anyway? Siiri Lahe’s answer
is as short as it is meaningful: “Estonian
Cell has had a long journey to success.
Only those that get better every second
can one day become the world number
one.”

underestimating the will to win of the
Estonians could prove to be a capital

error. One only needs to think of Gerd
Kanter who, believe it or not, followed up
his gold medal at the Olympics with an
unbroken series of 28 competitive victories!

200,000 tonnes per year of the world’s
finest BCTMP? The competition could
write off the Estonian Cell team as a
bunch of hopeless dreamers. However,

THE COMPANY’S EXPORT VOLUME
INCREASED TO A RECORD HIGH OF

174,000 TONNES

MANAGEMENT
Siiri Lahe, CFO
Lauri Raid, CTO

FURTHER INFORMATION
www.estoniancell.ee

AS ESTONIAN CELL

2015

2014

Production

Tonnes

169,294

166,248

Sales

Tonnes

173,732

164,199

Production per employee

Tonnes

1,992

1,956

Sales revenues

EUR k

68,668

61,024

EBITDA

EUR k

14,755

10,756

EBITDA margin

%

21.5%

17.6%

EBIT

EUR k

5,452

2,080

EBIT margin

%

7.9%

3.4%

Equity ratio

%

58.7%

49.7%

Gearing ratio

%

46.2%

70.9%

Employees (average)

Number

85

85
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INTERNAL
CHANGE
PROCESS

FITNESS
PROGRAMME
heinzelsales’ future aims include open communications and a modern working environment.

The keywords in heinzelsales’ internal restructuring:
efficient working, open communications and entrepreneurial
action. The aim? To become the industry leader in years
to come.
A

Chinese employee is walking along the
corridor while calling her branch office in
Guangzhou. In a conference room two
Russian visitors are conversing in their
mother tongue, while in the adjacent
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offices paper deliveries to Egypt and
Argentina have just been finalised. For
some a cosmopolitan tapestry, but
everyday routine for the roughly seventy
employees at the Vienna offices of the

heinzelsales paper trading company.
They come from more than 25 nations
and the resultant blend of linguistic
diversity and pulsating global business
delighted Sebastian Heinzel from his

HEINZEL GROUP

HEINZELSALES

“Fit for the Future” through modern tools and flat hierarchies

very first day at the firm. Alfred H.
Heinzel’s son joined heinzelsales in 2014
and since the beginning of 2015 has
been a member of its Management
Board.
Nonetheless, Sebastian Heinzel was also
quick to spot certain internal company
characteristics that caused him to wonder: “When an organisation has been
successful over a very long period, as is
the case with heinzelsales, it is sometimes the case that various things are no
longer questioned and one has to be
careful that modernisation is not neglected.” Among the most immediately evident of these idiosyncrasies were vast
amounts of paper printouts, the piles of

A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 15

files handled daily by the staff, partly
closed office doors and the formality
demonstrated during contacts between
the various hierarchical levels.
Prior to joining heinzelsales, Sebastian
Heinzel founded and headed an Internet
start-up in New York. The business environment there was totally different and
consisted of a communal office with
numerous laptops, but not a single printer,
open communication on an equal footing and teamwork instead of a go-italone approach. Therefore, together with
his colleagues on the Board, Andrew
Paul, Moncef Reisner and Dietmar Geigl,
and a firm of consultants, in 2015
Sebastian Heinzel prepared an internal

change process for heinzelsales under
the name “Fit for the Future”. Although a
company like heinzelsales, with tradition
reaching back 70 years, may have little
in common with a modern Internet startup, there are still lessons that it can learn
from new economy entrepreneurs.
According to Dietmar Geigl, the heinzelsales CFO, the declared aims of the programme are: “A rethink of our established procedures and greater speed
and efficiency through modern tools and
open communications. At the same
time, we wish to nurture the potential of
our younger employees, as a generation
change is impending in the next few
years.” However, implementing such a
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transformation is not so simple, particularly when a company is operating with
the degree of success enjoyed by
heinzelsales.
In 2015, heinzelsales sold over two million tonnes of pulp and paper, or to be
more precise a record volume of
2,065,450 tonnes, to no less than 97
countries around the globe. Moreover, in
spite of the decline in global demand for
some grades of paper, the sales r evenues
of this trading hub within the steadily
expanding Heinzel Group also continued
to rise. Dietmar Geigl: “Consequently it is
only logical that the necessity for change
be called into question when things are
running smoothly. In actual fact owing to
the increasing pressure on our suppliers
and customers our margins as a trader
are falling. Indeed, without quantitative
growth, our results would be retrogressive. Or to put it another way, a lthough
we are up and running selling more, as
far as our bottom line is concerned, we
are not really getting further. Therefore
we must become more flexible and
fitter.”
However, what will actually be altered?
How does one continue to be a competitive company in future? heinzelsales
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The heinzelsales team on the “Wolke 21” terrace

employee, Valerie Maitre, who is organising the “Fit for the Future” programme:
“We decided to ask the team exactly
these questions because they know best
where to find improvement potential.”
Accordingly at the beginning of the
project, an anonymous survey was

carried out among the roughly 100

heinzelsales employees around the
world in which they were able to give
their estimation of the internal processes
and structures within the company and
make improvement suggestions. The
main criticism that emerged was that
top-down and bottom-up communica-

tion was inadequate. The company personnel wanted more and clearer information from the management and a
better listening when new ideas and
initiatives were involved.
The next task following the survey was
realisation. Initial measures were
thrashed out at a managerial meeting in
Albrechtsfeld, Burgenland and presented to the entire team at a kick-off event
held in September at the chic “Wolke
21” event location in Vienna. Since then
six working groups comprised of employees from every area of the company

HEINZEL GROUP

HEINZELSALES

“We must give
employees the trust
and freedom needed
for entrepreneurial
action.”
Sebastian Heinzel

have been working on the details. The
company mission statement has been
sharpened up, values newly discussed,
career paths defined and training programmes implemented, the organisational diagram revised, a more open
office concept introduced and internal
procedures improved with new IT tools.
Valerie Maitre: “We are going through a
whole range of topics. As sales personnel, we generally have an external focus
on our customers and suppliers. How
ever, if we wish to enjoy long-term success, we must also work on our internal
organisation.”
As already mentioned, a major motive for
the current reform process is the imminent change of generations at heinzelsales. Andrew Paul, the company CEO is
to retire in 2017 and will be succeeded

by Sebastian Heinzel, who is the Chief
Strategy Officer at present. Moreover,
apart from Andrew Paul, other long-
serving company stalwarts are slowly but
surely reaching retirement age. Sebastian
Heinzel: “There must not be any gaps
when this generation with its wealth of
experience leaves. Therefore, by then
we need to have willing and able young
employees to take the tiller.”
Consequently Sebastian Heinzel attaches special value to entrepreneurship,
which is one of heinzelsales’ basic
values. “For me this means two things.
On the one hand, as the Board we have
to provide our personnel with the trust
and space to act in an entrepreneurial
manner and on the other, our team
members must seize the opportunity to
assume responsibility and show us what
they can do.” In other words, more
bottom-up and less top-down.
Naturally, “Fit for the Future” is not a process that will be limited to a few months.
Valerie Maitre: “To some extent we talk
about a change of culture and that cannot be achieved over night. Therefore we
must be patient, although the initial successes are already visible.” Definitely by
2017, heinzelsales will be characterised

WILFRIED HEINZEL AG
Total sales

Tonnes

by open offices, the latest IT tools and
internal processes in line with modern
thinking. In other words, the company
will resemble the very best aspects of
the Internet start-up that 
Sebastian
Heinzel created out of nothing in New
York.

MANAGEMENT
Andrew Paul, CEO
Dietmar Geigl, CFO
Moncef Reisner, COO
Sebastian Heinzel, CSO
FURTHER INFORMATION
www.heinzelsales.com
MORE PHOTOS FROM THE
FIT FOR THE FUTURE KICK-OFF-EVENT

2015

2014

2,065,450

1,997,218

thereof pulp

Tonnes

923,480

876,666

thereof paper/board

Tonnes

1,131,607

1,102,737

thereof other

Tonnes

10,363

17,816

Consolidated sales revenues

EUR k

516,457

453,659

EBITDA

EUR k

12,296

9,763

EBITDA margin

%

EBIT

EUR k

EBIT margin

2.4%

2.2%

10,115

9,120

%

2.0%

2.0%

Equity ratio

%

28.8%

30.4%

Gearing ratio

%

–3.8%

12.5%

Employees (average)

Number

101

104
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“WE ARE
THE BIG FISH”

HEINZEL GROUP

EUROPAPIER

Helmut Limbeck on his first five
years as Europapier CEO. How his
company is preparing for the d igital
future. And why Austrians simply
have a better understanding of
Eastern Europe.
The

large logo emblazoned on the
entrance to company headquarters is
impossible to miss. The offices are
located in the Autokaderstrasse in

Vienna’s 21st district where Austria’s
capital starts to slowly thin out in the

direction of Lower Austria. It is nearly 6
p.m., but work is still in full progress.
Stackers whiz through the aisles of the
warehouse, employees trim piles of
paper to order with millimetre accuracy
and between the high-bay shelves that
tower up to a height of ten metres, a type
of space capsule perambulates up and
down removing goods.
However, what goes on at company
headquarters represents a mere fraction
of the volume of work handled by
Europapier Group. In fact the paper

wholesaler is currently active in thirteen
Central and Eastern European countries
with a range that extends from classic
paper and packaging products, to cutting film and hygiene articles.
Helmut Limbeck has been Europapier
CEO ever since its takeover by Heinzel
Group in 2010. His balance to date is
most convincing with steady increases
in both sales revenues and trading
volumes. Moreover, Europapier is now
the leading paper wholesaler in Eastern
Europe. It therefore seemed only fitting
to ask Helmut Limbeck why this was not
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always an easy task, how the company
handles political crises in the region and
why, to quote his own words, his job
continues to surprise him.
Mr. Limbeck how happy were you with
2015?
It was a thoroughly positive year for
Europapier and we were able to clearly
surpass our 2014 results. This is relatively

„

 urope on a solid footing for 2016. In
E
addition, we became stronger in every
one of our markets. This was due in part
to the weakening of some of our competitors and the permanent departure from
the market of others. However, even
where the competition remained stable,
we were still able to expand and capture
new customers.
With Eastern Europe, Europapier has not
chosen a particularly easy market for its
activities. Doesn’t it present an ex
tremely diverse range of mentalities, as
well as political and economic uncertainties?
I believe that due to our size we are well
able to deal with these challenges.
What exactly do you mean?
One the one hand, Europapier is large
enough to be an important partner to
suppliers and receive good conditions.
But on the other, we are also small and
adaptable enough in order to stay genuinely close to the customers and account
for both individual national characteris-

It was a thoroughly positive year
for Europapier and we were able to
clearly surpass our 2014 results.

“

Helmut Limbeck

astonishing in a market with a tendency
towards falling demand. Nevertheless,
we managed not only to reach, but even
exceed some of our planned targets.
Which targets in particular?

tics and sudden uncertainties. In addition, all our companies are run by local
managements that are mostly comprised of long-serving employees with a
vast knowledge of their respective markets and the ability to shape our business strategies accordingly.

We succeeded in raising our profitability
and more importantly we put all of our
companies in Central and Eastern
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EUROPAPIER FACTS & FIGURES

Nonetheless there is nothing you can do
about the current confrontation between
the Ukraine and Russia. How have you
been affected by this conflict to date?

50,000
ITEMS

210

PRODUCT GROUPS

~2,100

SATISFIED CUSTOMERS PER DAY

959

EUROPAPIER SERVES
A MARKET WITH A TOTAL
OF
MILLION
PEOPLE

EMPLOYEES

16

496

SUBSIDIARIES

Could it be that Austrians understand
Eastern Europe better than some other
nationalities?
Whatever the case, Europapier Group
has a much more solid base in Eastern
Europe than her competitors. Many find
the market difficult, but 
although it is
not huge it does possess enormous
potential. At the same time, the differing

mentalities are not easy to comprehend.
Alone our headquarters in Vienna put us
far closer geographically to these countries and there are also many linguistic,
cultural and historical affinities that we
can employ within a business context.
Therefore the theory that we Austrians
simply possess a greater understanding
of the East may have at least some
validity.

I must confess that this crisis caused
me a few sleepless nights. The main
problems for Europapier Group emanated from a fall in Russian demand in the
graphic sector and a slight weakening
in the otherwise stable office market.
These developments led to stiffer competition and therefore we had to react
quickly. In the meantime we have succeeded in expanding our product range
and obtaining corresponding support
from our suppliers.
Thankfully, in the final analysis paper is
an international product and the prices
in Russia and those in international markets continually even out. Moreover, our
customers have seen that Europapier
is a reliable partner in a crisis and it is
for precisely this reason that we are the
number one in the region.
You have been the Board spokesperson
and joint owner of Europapier since
2010. Would you care to review the past
five years?
To be honest, working under the wing of
an owner like Alfred H. Heinzel is
enormous fun. The Heinzel Group team
is unbelievably motivated, ambitious,
future-oriented and always open to fresh
ideas. Naturally enough, I frequently
travel to Europapier Group countries and
I am continually surprised by the degree
to which the personnel at all our companies implement the Europapier strategy,
pull together and constantly seek to progress. However, it is also correct to say that
things were not always quite so rosy and
especially at the beginning there was
darkness where there is now light.
What was the problem?

Helmut Limbeck enjoys being part of the Heinzel team.
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We simply needed time to understand
the peculiarities of the respective markets in Eastern Europe. It also took us a
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while to explain our formulae for success
to the customers. And that was not all, as
initially market development failed to live
up to our expectations. I think we probably underestimated the toughness of the
competition in the region and moreover
we also had to deal with inherited liabilities such as customer payment defaults
and various managerial changes. The
result was a somewhat unstable phase,
but this also proved helpful as it enabled
us to become better established in the
various national markets, secure longterm solidity and develop joint strategies
for the coming years.

“We succeeded in raising our
profitability and more importantly
we put all of our companies in
Central and Eastern Europe on a
solid footing for 2016.”
Helmut Limbeck
The demand for print products is also
declining steadily in Eastern Europe.
What are your strategies for the coming
years?
Naturally enough we have to constantly
think about how as a wholesaler we can
attract new customers. However, we

have the advantage that Eastern Europe
continues to lag somewhat behind the
general trend towards digitalisation. In a
number of countries we even foresee
paper market growth and in combination
these factors give us time to adjust and
create new cornerstones. By 2020 we
wish to earn a considerable percentage
of our sales revenues in fresh segments
and no longer be primarily dependent
upon our current core business.
What are these new cornerstones?
We continue to assume that office paper
demand will remain stable. The packaging industry is growing strongly and represents a market in which we already
have a solid foothold. However, equally it
is an area in which we wish to expand in
future, although clearly the competition
in this field is not asleep.
A boom is also evident in the hygiene
sector, but here too there are problems
to be solved. The customer profile is very
different and therefore we may have to
adapt our business model. We have also
recently penetrated the advertising technology segment through an acquisition
made during summer 2015.
You have been part of Heinzel Group for
twelve years. When taking your A-levels

EUROPAPIER INTERNATIONAL AG

did you already foresee a career in the
paper industry?
No, at that point it was fairly clear that I
would assume the management of the
wine company owned by my family. In
the meantime, I have remained a wine
consumer and help a little in sales when
my schedule allows. My a rrival in the paper industry involved a number of detours, but today I can barely imagine a
change of metier. And what would be the
point? Europapier Group is the Eastern
European market leader and we are the
big fish. We are also working hard to
ensure that things stay this way in future.
And even though this area is tough, I
enjoy facing up to new challenges

together with my fantastic team.

MANAGEMENT
Helmut Limbeck, CEO
Jörg Bierlein, COO
FURTHER INFORMATION
www.europapier.com

2015

2014

Tonnes

593,417

570,096

thereof printing

Tonnes

376,858

358,850

thereof office paper

Tonnes

201,368

196,520

thereof other

Tonnes

15,190

14,726

Consolidated sales revenues

EUR k

512,054

484,077

EBITDA

EUR k

14,715

10,187

EBITDA margin

%

2.9%

2.1%

EBIT

EUR k

11,623

8,347

EBIT margin

%

2.3%

1.7%

Equity ratio

%

33.9%

35.1%

Gearing ratio

%

83.5%

75.9%

Employees (average)

Number

906

867

Total sales
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BUNZL & BIACH

HIGH TIME FOR
THE RECYCLER
Chiemgau Recycling GmbH trucks

With Bunzl & Biach, co-owned with SCA, Heinzel Group
has Austria’s leading wastepaper supplier on board.
Moreover, at the beginning of 2016 a regional, but
strategically important subsidiary joined the group:
Chiemgau Recycling GmbH.
46
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The

compressed and bound bales
soar into the sky to heights of up to five
metres. There are mountains of white,
brown and coloured paper for as far
as the eye can see, the bulk of which
comes 
directly from Viennese households. Tonnes of the product are taken
from the green and red wastepaper
containers for interim storage in the
Steinheilgasse on the northern edge of
Vienna where Bunzl & Biach, Austria’s
top wastepaper trader, is located.
Bunzl & Biach GmbH has been a
Heinzel Group subsidiary since 2013
and in this capacity fulfils an important
role, as it supplies the Laakirchen paper
mill in Upper Austria, SCA Ortmann and
external customers with wastepaper on
a just-in-time basis. In Laakirchen the
paper is first freed from printing ink and
then further processed for fresh paper
production. Andreas Mang, Bunzl &
Biach Managing Director: “We close the
paper industry cycle and thus make an
important contribution to sustainability.”

at one-minute intervals. They then tip
their loads into one of the warehouses
on Bunzl & Biach’s extensive company
premises and a bulldozer immediately moves in to sort out the loose paper
heaps and push them together for further handling. In the processing halls,
the conveyors on the sorting lines start to
clatter and vibrate, sieving the paper into
its various grades because waste paper

„

is not simply waste paper. For example,
newsprint is in greater demand than
high gloss magazine paper and fully
segregated office paper is more valuable
than the assorted, residual waste paper
from household refuse. Moreover, the
steadily rising volumes of used containerboard packaging are also becoming
increasingly sought-after in the international market.

With a volume of around
670,000 tonnes per year,
Bunzl & Biach is the No. 1
wastepaper trader in Austria.

“

Andreas Mang

Bunzl & Biach collects, sorts and sells
waste paper and is highly successful in
this business area. For as Andreas Mang
says while guiding visitors clad in yellow
warning vests through his company: “At
first glance many guests merely see an
enormous amount of waste. But on the
contrary, for the paper industry waste
paper represents a coveted and valuable
raw material from which we also p
 rofit.”
With a volume of around 670,000 tonnes
per year, Bunzl & Biach is the No. 1
wastepaper trader in Austria. Today the
long-established Viennese company has
a branch in both northern and southern Vienna, another in Linz and several
partner companies and subsidiaries in
Austria and its neighbouring countries.
It is Friday, shortly after 11 a.m. and
apart from the company’s own lorries,
the famous orange garbage trucks of
the Vienna City Authority’s Department
MA48 roll through the yard entrance
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Bunzl & Biach facilities in Vienna
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BUNZL & BIACH

owing to its use by mail order companies
such as Amazon and Zalando.

“The whole process
was handled with
honesty, transparency
and structure, which
is not a m
 atter of
course.”
Uwe Petersen

For Bunzl & Biach, 2016 commenced in
extremely promising fashion. For at the
turn of the year, the waste paper com
pany Chiemgau Recycling GmbH, which
is located in the upper Bavarian district
of Rosenheim, was purchased from
Mondi Group Germany and now is also
part of the Viennese company. W
 ithin
Heinzel Group, in future Chiemgau
Recycling GmbH is to provide the paper

Sorted waste paper at the Bunzl & Biach headquarters
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mill in Raubling with a guaranteed supply of waste paper and thus carry out a
task similar to that undertaken by Bunzl
& Biach for the paper mill in Laakirchen.
In the Raubling paper mill, which was
also part of the year-end transaction, two
paper machines manufacture containerboard. This is employed primarily for
packaging and is currently experiencing
a boom in the international paper market

With its new tasks, Chiemgau Recycling’s annual volume of waste paper
emanating from sorting and trading will
rise to over 200,000 tonnes per year
and workforce numbers increase from
26 to 29. Uwe Petersen, Chiemgau
Recycling Managing Director: “The

supply of 

Raubling gives us a new
type of responsibility because to date
the paper mill looked after its own waste
paper needs.” Uwe Petersen also has
praise ready for the negotiations and the
takeover by Heinzel Group with effect
from 31 December 2015: “The whole
process was handled with honesty,
transparency and structure, which is not
a matter of course.” A fact also noted by
the c ompany’s employees.
Bunzl & Biach’s Managing Director
Andreas Mang sees the takeover of the
Bavarian waste paper company as offering major opportunities for both parties:
“We have been working closely with
Chiemgau Recycling for many years. The
excellent personnel and experienced
waste paper specialists at our new subsidiary will provide us with major potential
for synergies.” And that is not all: “With
its philosophy of sustainability and active
approach, the company bears a striking
resemblance to Heinzel.” Through the
takeover, Bunzl & Biach has acquired
a partner of long-term, strategic significance in southern Germany, a region in
which until now Austria’s leading waste
paper trader did not have a strong local
presence. Andreas Mang: “As we now
have a recycling subsidiary in an area
that is also important to Laakirchen
Papier AG, we can jointly develop growth
strategies.”
Owing to the huge volumes involved,
the magnitude of the business activities of the waste paper companies
should not be underestimated. Andreas
Mang: 
“Basically we must be able to
estimate the waste paper needs of the
paper industry for a period of at least
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a year and then complete the advance
planning of our purchases and storage
capac
ity use accordingly. On the one
hand, shortages at the paper mills may
never occur, but on the other we must
avoid storing excessive quantities over
an extended period.”
In Austria things are made more d
 ifficult
by the fact that in spite of a very high
collection ratio, the supply of waste

paper is insufficient to meet the needs of
the domestic paper mills. This has to be
balanced with purchases in o ther countries and as Andreas Mang 
explains:
“One has to bear in mind that Austrian
paper producers export a large percentage of their output and as a result,
waste paper is created elsewhere. Last
year the Austrian paper and board
industry required roughly 2.3 million

tonnes of waste paper and at present
only some 1.5 million tonnes can be
collected nationally. Therefore, in order
to meet the demands of the domestic
paper industry, the remainder has to be
imported.”
In the meantime, it is approaching 1 p.m.
and in the Steinheilgasse in V
ienna
waste paper continues to be unloaded.
At the same time, other trucks are pulling out in order to deliver waste paper
to the paper industry, just as scheduled

With its new tasks,
Chiemgau Recycling’s
annual volume of waste
paper emanating from
sorting and trading will rise
to over 200,000 tonnes
per year.

by the Bunzl & Biach team for the start
of the weekend. In future, waste paper
demand in Austria is set to rise and with
it the quantities to be imported, which
will require even more sophisticated
planning. Nonetheless Andreas Mang
looks to the future with optimism: “2016
will definitely be another good year for
our waste paper recycling network.”

BUNZL & BIACH GMBH
Total trading volume

MANAGEMENT
Andreas Mang, CEO
Klaus Vlach, CFO

FURTHER INFORMATION
www.bunzl-biach.at

2015

2014

Tonnes

674,544

667,610

thereof waste paper

Tonnes

577,965

572,382

thereof waste card

Tonnes

89,626

89,201

thereof other

Tonnes

6,953

6,027

Sales revenues

EUR k

92,368

86,961

EBITDA

EUR k

4,849

4,308

EBITDA margin

%

5.3%

5.0%

EBIT

EUR k

3,529

3,088

EBIT margin

%

3.8%

3.6%

Equity ratio

%

52.1%

51.6%

Gearing ratio

%

–8.3%

–44.9%

Employees (average)

Number

134

138
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MI TA R BEI T ER

CONGRATS!
Awards at the annual event in the Albertina Museum in Vienna

Selecting the winners of this year’s Employee
Award was far from easy for the jury. The choice
of who should take the Lifetime Achievement
Award, however, was a straightforward matter ...
Apart from the Supervisory Board and
FURTHER INFORMATION
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the executive management, a large
number of invited guests gathered at the
end of March in the Albertina Museum
in Vienna for this year’s gala evening.
This elegant, highly traditional event,
which was accompanied by live music,
commenced with cocktails and a welcoming address given by Sebastian

Heinzel, who was then followed at the
microphone by Wolfgang Pfarl.
The presentation of this year’s Awards of
Excellence in the form of the coveted
paper cocoons was again undertaken by
Christoph J. Heinzel and as Alfred H.
Heinzel stressed: “We are very proud of
our motivated employees, who every

HEINZEL GROUP

EMPLOYEES

year provide us with an impressive list of
successfully implemented projects.”
This year’s programme also included a
dignified farewell to Alfred H. Heinzel as
the group CEO and Wolfgang Pfarl as the

departing president of the Heinzel
Holding Supervisory Board. This led up
to the sparkling finale of the festivities
with the first-ever presentation of a
golden cocoon as a Lifetime Achieve
ment Award, which went to Alfred H.

Heinzel for his foundation of Heinzel
Group and its successful development
into one of the most important players in
the global pulp and paper market.

THE 2015 NOMINEES
Awards of Excellence
Company

Nominee

Project

Estonian Cell

Arvo Davel

Implementation of an innovative technical solution
for a biogas plant that is the first in Europe to be
used in combination with a BCTMP mill

Estonian Cell

Marek Kobin

Outstanding support of working capital management through a break with standard practice in the
Purchasing Department

Europapier

Agnieszka Cegla

Successful placing of the new “Papierowy Dizajn”
brand in the Polish market

Europapier

Dmitry Tsvetkov

Speedy turnaround at the Russian company
through restructuring measures

heinzelsales

Peter Schak

Preparation of Heinzel Group for the entry into the
packaging market through comprehensive market
studies and the support of the Sales team

Laakirchen Papier

Helmut Sageder, Thomas Breiteneder,
Johann Enzi, Roland Stadlhuber

Rapid restart of the PM10 paper machine following
the serious fire

Laakirchen Papier

Jürgen Sturm

Limited damage to the PM10 paper machine due
to rapid fire fighting

Zellstoff Pöls

Siegmund Gerhardter, Karl Eder,
Rudolf Stranimaier

Quick provision of first aid and targeted measures
for the restart of production following the boiler
explosion and the prevention of a fire (production
downtimes) in the digester house

Zellstoff Pöls

Natacha Valera, Johann Brunthaler

Development of the new paper type “Starkraft
EVO” as a flexible alternative to SC paper

Zellstoff Pöls

Robert Zaiser, Klaus Eibinger, Gerhard Gruber,
Franz Hasler, Werner Kaiser, Othmar Sperdin,
Josef Hammerl, Heinz Schnedl

Successful resumption of birch wood pulp
production on a trial basis with the aim of pulp and
paper production cost optimisation

The jury selected these nominees as the prizewinners.
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EMPLOYEES

LIFETIME

ACHIEVEMENT
AWARD
for Alfred H. Heinzel

AWARDS OF EXCELLENCE

F. l. t. r.: Helmut Sageder, Thomas Breiteneder, Johann Enzi, Roland Stadlhuber

Peter Schak

One of the three Awards of Excellence
went to Peter Schak, the Director of Paper Sales Europe at heinzelsales. He was
chosen for his exceptional efforts during
the preparations for Heinzel Group’s
entry into the packaging market. In particular, Peter Schak supported the integration of the newly acquired Heinzel
subsidiaries in Raubling into the Heinzel
Group sales network.

Project Manager Helmut Sageder and his team consisting of Thomas Breiteneder,
Johann Enzi and Roland Stadlhuber were naturally delighted to receive one Award of
Excellence for 2015. This highly motivated quartet was responsible for the restart of the
PM10 paper machine following the serious fire at the Laakirchen mill and succeeded in
halving the amount of time estimated for the required repairs. With the restart of the
PM10 before Christmas, the team sent out an important signal of confidence to Heinzel
Group’s customers.

Jürgen Sturm
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Jürgen Sturm, the commander of the Laakirchen
fire service, received his Award of Excellence
for his exemplary conduct during the major fire
that enveloped the PM10 paper machine in
Laakirchen in September 2015. Under the

most difficult conditions, he directed 255 fire
fighters from 14 different services during the
four-
hour-operation that preceded the final
“Fire out!” s ignal. As a result, not only was the
damage to property minimised, but also no one
was injured.

HEINZEL GROUP

FOR YOUR
PERSONAL HIGHLIGHTS

CSR

WATER,
WIND
AND SUN
Heinzel turns green ideas into reality.

Moving towards a green and sustainable
future with Heinzel Energy
A

part from the manufacture of pulp and
paper, for quite some time the Heinzel
family has been pushing ahead with the
production of green and renewable
energy. Its aim is to help secure a sustainable economic approach for the
coming decades and contribute to environmental protection. Accordingly, at the
end of 2014 the related activities in the
energy sector were concentrated in
Heinzel EMACS Energie GmbH under
the name Heinzel Energy.

rivers Pöls in Styria and the Traun in
Upper Austria supply electricity to

Zellstoff Pöls AG and Laakirchen Papier
AG, two of the Heinzel Group’s pulp and
paper mills. Furthermore, Heinzel E
 nergy
operates a joint venture wind farm in
Burgenland. Using water and wind so
far, Heinzel Energy widened its range of
power sources to include sunlight, when
they took a 40 per cent share in 3F Solar
Technologies GmbH, an Austrian energy
company.

Heinzel Energy turns green ideas into
action: two hydropower plants on the

THE SUN COMES UP IN 2015
According to Christoph J. Heinzel,
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Heinzel EMACS Energie GmbH Managing Director: “Environmental protection,
efficiency and innovation are central
Heinzel Energy values.” Therefore with
3F Solar Technologies, Heinzel Energy
has invested in, “A young company that
has developed a product on the basis of
these principles, which ideally extends
our portfolio in the direction of solar technology.”
The global first that prompted Heinzel
Energy to make its initial investment in a
technology company is called SOLAR
ONE. “ONE” because for the first time

HEINZEL GROUP

CSR

At the end
of 2014 the
related activities
in the energy sector
were concentrated
under the name
Heinzel Energy.

an innovative collector employs a single
combined process that converts sunlight
into electricity by means of photovoltaics
and uses solar thermal energy to produce hot water. Double value added is
the result.
And what happens when for once the
sun doesn’t shine? Then it is likely that a
fresh breeze will blow across the flat
countryside of the Burgenland and each
of Heinzel Energy’s ten Albrechtsfeld
Windpower GmbH wind power plants will
begin to generate 3 MW of “green” electricity. The likelihood that a wind will actually get up in Seewinkel near Austria’s
border with Hungary is quite considerable, as evidenced by the fact that the
Albrechtsfeld plants are part of Europe’s
largest wind farm. Indeed, Heinzel
Energy produces roughly 70,000 MWh
of eco-electricity annually at this location.
Heinzel Energy is active in the hydropower field, which represents the oldest
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form of renewable energy generation.
The Katzling power plant on the River
Pöls has already been operating for
around a century and year for year produces up to 11,000 MWh of “green”
electricity. The Danzermühl hydro power
plant in Laakirchen, which is located on
the River Traun in the Salzkammergut
region of Upper Austria, is equipped with
four Francis turbines and at present has
total installed capacity of 2.8 MW. The
power thus generated amounts to over
16,000 MWh per year and is employed
in the adjacent paper mill. An enlargement of the Laakirchen power plant is
planned for the coming years, which will
virtually treble its capacity.
A MEGAWATT MILL
Heinzel Energy is not the only company
within Heinzel to be involved in renewable
energy generation, as the Pöls pulp mill
has also long served as a power source.
Every year Zellstoff Pöls AG processes
roughly two million cubic metres of wood
thinnings and sawmill waste into pulp
and paper, but does not require any
externally supplied electricity. The

Styrians achieve this feat by simply generating the power themselves using
wood residues. What’s more they also
supply some 20,000 households in the
surrounding districts with eco-electricity
via the public grid.
A highly efficient cogeneration unit forms
the nucleus of energy production at the

Pöls mill. It produces waste heat, which
is then employed to furnish approximately 15,000 homes in the Judenburg, Zeltweg and Aichdorf area with district heating. Zellstoff Pöls AG and its joint venture
partner Bioenergie Aichfeld were awarded the Austrian Environmental Protection prize for this project.
The production of renewable energy in
Pöls, which provides district heating,
eco-electricity, tall oil and turpentine, not
only prevents the emission of around
100,000 tonnes of CO2 annually, but is
also a graphic example of the cascading
utilisation of wood as a valuable raw material. Instead of immediately burning
wood in a biomass heating plant, it is first
used as a material and then for highly
efficient energy generation as confirmed
impressively by the related statistics.
AN ENERGY-CHARGED FUTURE
Acting in a sustainable fashion also means
looking ahead. Accordingly the district
heating network in Aichfeld is being
expanded and every year will be fed with
some 120 GWh of environment-friendly
heat from Pöls. In addition, Heinzel
Energy is also already looking at other

ingenious ideas for future projects in the
field of water, wind and solar power.

FURTHER INFORMATION
www.heinzelenergy.com

The Laakirchen power plant is soon to be enlarged.
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GENERAL ECONOMIC SITUATION
The 2015 financial year was characterised by a general increase in market volatility and hence a situation,
which in view of a lack of contrary indications, could well be of prolonged duration. From a level of 3.3 per
cent in 2014, during the past year global economic growth fell back to 2.4 per cent. Among other factors,
this was due to the sharp decline in raw material prices, the broadening of the sanctions against Russia,
the war in Syria, the related refugee crisis in Europe, and the cooling in the Chinese economy.
As opposed to this general slowdown, the USA reported an economic recovery and in the autumn of
2015 the US Federal Reserve Bank ushered in the end of the zero interest policy by raising its key interest
rate from 0.25 to 0.5 per cent. By contrast, the European economy is still far from achieving the two per
cent inflation rate objective set by the European Central Bank, which therefore maintained its bond
purchasing programme and thereby sought to open up possibilities for new investments on the part of
European companies.
The hardening of the US dollar that commenced in 2014 continued in 2015 and in March a twelve-year
exchange rate high of 1.05 EUR/USD was reached. Moreover, although in terms of the year as a whole
the exchange rate was extremely volatile, overall it remained at a high level and thus benefited the exports
of European pulp producers.
SECTOR DEVELOPMENT
During the year under review, global demand for pulp rose by 2.3 per cent. This general increase was
slightly above the average for the past decade, but on a regional level varied greatly. For example, while
a lateral movement was evident in the saturated markets of North America, Europe and Japan, demand
surged in expanding markets such as China, East Asia, Latin America and Eastern Europe. On the
supply side, market pulp production in 2015 demonstrated a general increase of 3.1 per cent. However,
output in Latin America, which is the largest regional producer, rose by 10 per cent, while producers in
Canada and Western Europe reduced their capacity.
As was the case with other commodities such as oil and energy, the market price for long-fibre pulp
(NBSK), which is quoted in US dollars, declined during the course of the year. The CIF price for NBSK
eased from 930 USD/t at the beginning of the year to 800 USD/t in December. Prices in the short-fibre
pulp segment (BEKP) developed in the opposite direction whereby the usual difference between the
two types of pulp shrank to virtually nil. The reference price for CIF-Price BEKP rose from 740 USD/t at
the start of 2015 to 810 USD/t in the third quarter. Subsequently, the Chinese market weakened
markedly and thus engendered a turnaround with the result that by the end of the year BEKP was listed
at 790 USD/t. Nonetheless, the strength of the US dollar meant that the production costs of European
producers were more competitive, which culminated in improved margins in the global market.

QUARTERLY PULP PRICE TREND
CIF-PRICE BEKP (USD/T)

CIF-PRICE NBSK (USD/T)

X-RATE (EUR/USD)
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Developments in the graphic and packaging papers segments of the paper market are shown, as these
are of major relevance to the group.
The slump in demand for printing papers continued unchecked. This decline was particularly evident in
the case of newsprint, as well as coated paper and higher quality, groundwood papers. As far as SC
paper was concerned, which is an important Heinzel Group product, demand fell by 2.4 per cent. This
figure was well below the overall trend and can be traced to the growing use of direct advertising.
Owing to the shutdown of a paper machine in Finland and the fire at the Laakirchen paper mill, SC paper
output was down by 300,000 tonnes or 6.5 per cent of total capacity, which resulted in a markedly
higher utilisation rate in this area. Nonetheless, it can be expected that this segment will continue to
suffer from overcapacity.
In 2015, the packaging paper market again grew by more than 2 per cent, whereby the increase in
demand for higher qualities in non-European markets was even greater. In Europe, kraft paper production capacity was cut back, which caused demand to rise, especially in the third and fourth quarters. The
technical requirements of customers heightened further in the direction of lower grammages in combination with unchanged processing quality.
Falling graphic paper sales have encouraged a growing number of producers to open up additional potential in the packaging paper sector. However, owing to the complexity of the related production for
some manufacturers this initiative proved unsuccessful during the year under report. We assume that
the demand situation in 2016 will be stable.

GROUP DEVELOPMENT 2015
During the year under review, Heinzel Group again raised its net income, which was 5.3 per cent up at
EUR 1,480.4 million. This growth was purely organic and can be seen as all the more positive in view
of the fact that accident damage resulted in lower production output at the Pöls and Laakirchen mills.
Owing to geographical business expansion and the enlargement of the product portfolio, sales revenues
in the trading area demonstrated especially strong growth. Own production continues to represent
roughly a third of the 3,324,768 tonnes sold.
The favourable raw materials price trend brought an easing of the cost burden and facilitated an operating result (EBIT) of EUR 94.2 million. The insurance payments used for investment purposes,
amounting to EUR 23.5 million, and a sum of EUR 5.7 million derived from the calculation of the final
purchase price for Laakirchen Papier AG, were reported as non-recurring items. Accordingly, if the
adjusted year-on-year figures are compared, an improvement in the result of operating activities of
EUR 19.4 million emerges.
During the year under report, Heinzel Group’s scope of consolidation remained unchanged.
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
In EUR m

Sales revenues
EBITDA
Operating result (EBIT)

2015

2014

+/–

1,480.4

1,406.5

+73.9

144.3

117.9

+26.4

94.2

67.4

+26.8

Financial result

–12.8

–5.4

–7.4

Taxes

–19.9

–9.5

–10.1

61.6

52.5

+9.1

Net income

In 2015 Heinzel Group had a cash flow from operating activities of EUR 130.2 million (2014: EUR 98.6
million). The cash flow from investing activities also includes spending on group expansion consisting of
the agreed earn-out payment for Laakirchen Papier AG and the purchase price payments for the
acquisition of Raubling Papier GmbH and Chiemgau Recycling GmbH. During the period under review,
large-scale investments also took place at the Pöls location in connection with repairs to the liquor
boiler.
During the 2015 financial year, Heinzel Group carried out measures for the optimisation of its interest
burden. These included the early redemption of loans and the partial repayment of the Laakirchen
Papier AG promissory note. In addition, Estonian Cell refinanced its long-term borrowing in order to
achieve greater flexibility and create possibilities for the financing of additional investments.
Consequently, the consolidated net debt of Heinzel Group declined further to EUR 83.7 million (2014:
EUR 100.6 million). The key ratio of net debt to EBITDA stood at 0.6 (2014: 0.9) and the group’s equity
ratio rose to 47.8 per cent (2014: 44.4 per cent).
GROUP KEY FIGURES
2015

2014

ROS

%

6.4

4.8

ROE

%

11.7

10.8

Equity ratio

%

47.8

44.4

Gearing ratio
Working capital

%

16.1

21.3

EUR m

199.7

222.2

EMPLOYEES
Human resource management in 2015 focused upon more efficient working procedures, improved
teamwork amongst the entire workforce and enhanced professional, managerial and social competences.
By the end of the year, Heinzel Group employee numbers had risen to 2,194 (2014: 2,102).
The accidents in Pöls and Laakirchen confronted a large number of employees with unexpected
situations and the repair of the resultant damage demanded a tremendous amount of effort and the
acceptance of heavier workloads. Consequently, the restart of the affected plants before the end of
2015 was achieved mainly due to the exceptional commitment shown by the workforce.
RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
Heinzel Group research and development is carried out primarily at its individual industrial locations.
These company activities, which take place in cooperation with external research institutes and universities, are focused largely on the topics of quality improvement, product portfolio expansion and process
and energy efficiency.
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INDUSTRIAL
BUSINESS AREA

In 2015 Heinzel Group’s Industrial Business Area incorporates Zellstoff Pöls AG, AS Estonian Cell and
Laakirchen Papier AG. This business area has a strategy of product diversification and therefore Heinzel
Group mills produce both short- and long-fibre pulp. Moreover, apart from graphic papers, since 2014
the paper segment has also included packaging papers.
In 2015, segment sales revenues totalled EUR 485.8 million (2014: EUR 520.3 million) and were
affected by the reduced production at the Austrian mills caused by damage-related plant downtimes.
EBITDA amounted to EUR 119.8 million (2014: EUR 84.6 million) and resulted from the positive sales
price trend in tandem with the equally price-related reduction in raw material costs.
LAAKIRCHEN PAPIER AG
During the year under report, the Laakirchen mill produced 492,474 tonnes of paper. This figure was
lower than that for 2014, for while output in the first three quarters was highly satisfactory, owing to a
fire in September, the PM10 paper machine remained out of service until the necessary repairs were
completed in mid-December. During this period the undamaged PM11 was able to continue production
and the financial effects of the accident were covered by insurance. By the end of the year EUR 18.2
million had been received in insurance payments, which were counterbalanced by repair costs and lost
contribution margins. Consequently this amount can be recognised as operative income.
At EUR 234.1 million sales revenues were also down on the 2014 level. Apart from the aforementioned
losses this was due to a fall in sales prices, which was partially the result of the changed product mix.
Nevertheless, with an operating result of EUR 11 million, the company demonstrated an improvement
of EUR 5.5 million over the previous year. This emanated from a reduction in fixed costs, the o ptimisation
of raw material consumption, increased energy efficiency and lower energy prices.
During the year under report, the earn-out payment for Laakirchen Papier AG was completed as agreed
in 2013. It amounted to EUR 25.6 million and thus concluded the transaction.
ZELLSTOFF PÖLS AG
The main focus at the Pöls pulp mill during 2015 was on the repair and recommissioning of the liquor
recovery boiler 2, which finally took place on 19 December. In addition, work on the optimisation of the
new PM2 in its second year of operation pressed ahead and the company also focused on securing and
stabilising the production, quality and sales of Starkraft paper. As a result, if the damage to liquor
recovery boiler 2 is e xcluded, operations at the Pöls mill were stable and distinguished by the high
availability of every production unit. A “third biological tank” project was also launched for the improvement in the cleaning capacity of the used water treatment plant and risk minimisation.
All in all, during the period under report, 184,147 tonnes of market pulp (2014: 233,100 tonnes) and
75,356 tonnes of paper (2014: 58,429 tonnes) were produced. The fall in raw material prices contributed
to the Pöls mill’s satisfactory result in 2015. Sales revenues of EUR 184.2 million (2014: EUR 189.7
million) generated EBITDA of EUR 78.3 million (2014: EUR 51.4 million) and this result includes a
non-recurring item in the form of insurance payments totalling EUR 23.5 million, which were employed
for investments.
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AS ESTONIAN CELL
The Estonian Cell pulp mill delivered an outstanding performance with a 1.8 per cent increase in production output to 169,294 tonnes. Owing to solid price levels and the support derived from a strong US
dollar, sales revenues of EUR 68.7 million were attained. Furthermore, a favourable energy market price
trend and the weak wood market eased the cost burden.
In 2015, the biogas plant installed in 2014 showed increased stability and from the second half of the
year was able to supply a third of the volume of natural gas consumed previously. These positive developments culminated in an operating result of EUR 5.5 million and at the end of the year the company
refinanced the loan for plant construction taken out at the beginning of the mill project.

TRADING
BUSINESS AREA

The activities of the companies in the Trading Business Area consist of paper wholesaling and agency
transactions with pulp and paper. On the one hand, these involve the marketing of production from
Heinzel Group’s own mills and on the other, the support of third suppliers as an important partner with
a comprehensive knowledge of the market.
In 2015 all the firms in the Trading Business Area performed well. Both the globally active trading house
Wilfried Heinzel AG and the Europapier International AG wholesaling company, as well as the waste
paper trading enterprise Bunzl & Biach GmbH, reported increases in quantity. Business area sales,
which consisted mainly of pulp and paper, amounted to 3,345,545 tonnes. The resultant sales revenues
totalled EUR 1,109.2 million (2014: EUR 996.1 million) and EBITDA EUR 31.9 million (2014: EUR 24.3
million).
WILFRIED HEINZEL AG
A 3.4 per cent increase in sales volumes means that Wilfried Heinzel AG can look back upon a successful
year. A total of 2,065,450 tonnes of goods was delivered to 97 markets around the world. As compared
to 2014, this represented an increase of eleven markets and thus clear evidence of the successful implementation of the company’s growth strategy. Sales went up by 13.8 per cent to EUR 516.5 million partly
due to newly concluded sales cooperations with two newsprint producers. However, the reduction in
output caused by the fire in Laakirchen and the boiler explosion in Pöls led to a fall in internal group sales
volume. Notwithstanding this setback, an overall increase in business volume enabled the trading house
to raise its gross margins. Accordingly, on balance the sub-group generated an operating result of
EUR 10.1 million (2014: EUR 9.1 million).
EUROPAPIER INTERNATIONAL AG
In the majority of Europapier Group markets, the 2015 financial year was characterised by a business
recovery. However market growth in areas such as visual communications, hygiene and office paper
was counterposed by a fall in demand in the printing and graphic segments. Nevertheless, sales
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v olumes increased in all product areas with the largest rises taking place in the visual communications
(22 per cent) and hygiene (71 per cent) fields although it should be noted that seen in absolute terms,
these segments remain relatively insubstantial yet.
All in all, Europapier Group sales, including those in the commission business areas created in 2015,
were up by 4.1 per cent at 593,417 tonnes. The higher gross revenues thus achieved amounted to
EUR 512.1 million and owing to the satisfactory business trend in most countries, an operating result of
EUR 11.6 million was registered, which was 39.7 per cent higher than that for 2014. Moreover, as a
consequence of an improvement in the group’s financing structure and the elimination of tax risks, the
net profit for the year rose by 47.4 per cent. A figure that provides renewed confirmation of E
 uropapier
Group’s market strength and earnings power.
BUNZL & BIACH GMBH
In 2015, Bunzl & Biach again concluded a financial year in highly successful fashion and was able to
secure the supply of waste paper to both its owners at all times. Together with its Czech subsidiary,
Austrian Recycling s.r.o., Bunzl & Biach raised its consolidated sales revenues by 6.2 per cent to
EUR 92.4 million and simultaneously achieved a record sales volume of 674,544 tonnes, which
represented an increase of more than 1 per cent. The operating result amounted to EUR 3.5 million.
At the end of the year, Bunzl & Biach took over the waste paper company Chiemgau Recycling GmbH,
which is located in the town of Raubling in Bavaria. The integration of this subsidiary during the coming
financial year will represent a particular challenge.

RISK MANAGEMENT
As a global player with production locations in Europe, during its business activities Heinzel Group is
subject to a diversity of general and specific, industry-related risks. In general terms the risks c onfronting
the group, including those relating to its exposure in Russia, remain manageable and both the group’s
continued existence and capacity for development are secure.
All Heinzel Group companies possess a matrix for risk compilation and evaluation, which is updated
annually and presented to the audit committee. The various areas of company activity and the related
disparity between the risk focal points already result in risk distribution at group level. In addition,
increased vertical integration has reduced the vulnerability to external influences.
The group’s risk policy is denoted by a conservative approach. Risk avoidance and reduction constitute
a major priority and as far as is economically acceptable, are achieved by suitable control measures
and supplemented by the group’s hedging programme. The recent accident damage resulted in a
re-evaluation of the risk potential relating to critical plant.
During the past financial year, risk auditing focused on the IT area and among other measures a project
was launched with the aim of increasing IT security during payment transactions.
One long-term risk that applies to the entire group is a decline in the demand for pulp and paper. In this
connection, the operative units work together with Heinzel Holding on the fine-tuning of strategic policy,
in order to ensure the prolongation of sustained success.
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In particular, market risks emanate from general economic developments and the political and economic
frameworks within respective national markets. In view of the prevailing overcapacity, the pulp and
paper markets are characterised by intensive competition. Therefore, a major uncontrollable risk is
posed by price fluctuations for the products sold, which are also subject to exchange rate volatility.
However, solid liquidity offers an adequate buffer against such risks.
As far as sourcing is concerned, Heinzel Group’s production units are dependent upon supplies of raw
materials, which by and large consist of wood, fibres comprised, energy and chemicals. The group
counteracts the availability risk by means of the continuous monitoring of the markets and demand. The
connected risks are mostly of a price-related nature and to limit them, group companies rely on their
extensive market knowledge and a combination of short- and long-term supplier contracts. Furthermore, in order to attain cost optimisation, during certain purchasing procedures Heinzel Group operates
in the market as a single entity. In the trading s egment, the potential loss of a main supplier constitutes
a major risk. Therefore, risk minimisation efforts in this area are focused constantly on supplier spread.
At Heinzel Group’s industrial locations there is a risk of production plant failure. This is accounted for by
a multifaceted insurance programme, which covers the entire group. Furthermore, plant and processes
correspond with the technological state-of-the-art and are subject to systematic further d
 evelopment.
Financial risks incorporate currency and liquidity risks. Therefore, in order to reduce the latter to a
minimum, Heinzel Group cooperates with banks possessing good credit ratings in both the investment
and loan areas, and ensures the sufficient availability of credit lines.
Currency and interest risks are continually monitored and either limited or reduced by means of appropriate hedging. In this regard the group focuses primarily on natural risk compensation through the
creation of a balance between receivables and payables on the level of the individual subsidiaries, and
the use of currency forwards and exchange rate swap transactions. Derivative financial instruments are
neither employed for trading, nor for speculative purposes. More detailed information on these matters
is to be found in the Notes. The default risk with respect to trade receivables from customers is restricted
by means of ongoing creditworthiness checks and credit hedging for the group’s entire clientele.
From a current perspective, no immediate risks are recognizable that could threaten the continued
existence of Heinzel Group.

MATERIAL EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE
SHEET DATE
In January 2016, the participations purchased in the companies in Raubling were included in the
Heinzel Holding GmbH scope of consolidation. Apart from this no other material events occurred after
the balance sheet date.
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OUTLOOK
From a global viewpoint it can be anticipated that the current economic uncertainties will persist.
Growth in the USA is counterbalanced by the limited chances of recovery in Europe. Chinese economic
growth continues to cool down and Russia remains subject to the burdens of sanctions. For these
reasons, it is difficult to make predictions regarding further economic developments. Nevertheless, the
favourable price of oil and other forms of energy offers European industry at least a temporary breathing
space.
As one of its largest customers, China exerts a major influence on the pulp and paper market. Therefore, the slowing of its economy has further exacerbated the demand situation and heightened the
pressure on prices. In response, we have established conservative price expectations for our entire
product range for the 2016 financial year.
Through its acquisition of the Raubling Papier containerboard mill, Heinzel Group has taken a nother
strategic step forward in the packaging paper segment, which in view of consumer b
 ehaviour trends is
seen as possessing major growth potential. In 2016, the group will continue to pursue this course by
means of both enhanced efficiency and further investments in its production facilities. One of the key
assignments in this regard will be the rapid integration of the Raubling mill, including its clear strategic
orientation towards the production of containerboard specialities. The initial main priority in this connection is an increase in production performance through the implementation of optimisation measures.
In the trading field, the group will counteract the growing pressure upon margins through the opening
up of new markets and the enlargement of the product portfolio.
On the basis of its solid financial position and profound market knowledge, Heinzel Group intends to
place its business on an even more sustainable footing, which is an objective that can be achieved by
both organic and investment-driven growth.
Vorchdorf, 25 February 2016
The Executive Management
Alfred Hannes Heinzel m.p.			

A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 15

Riia Sillave m.p.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2015 (IFRS)
HEINZEL HOLDING GMBH

In EUR k

ASSETS
Intangible assets
Tangible assets
Shares in associated companies
Shares in other companies
Other financial assets
Deferred tax assets
Non-current assets
Raw materials and supplies
Trade accounts receivable and other accounts receivable
Other financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Current assets
TOTAL ASSETS

Note

31.12.2015

31.12.2014

1
2
3
3
4
24

23,893
423,544
1,271
21,996
8,233
6,391
485,328

20,729
427,188
1,271
41
8,230
6,265
463,725

5
6
7
8

152,134
307,729
56,888
82,677
599,428
1,084,756

129,664
294,906
61,930
113,073
599,573
1,063,298

3,635
8,600
42,341
440,589
495,165
23,217
518,382

3,635
8,600
41,429
396,829
450,493
21,866
472,359

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Equity attributable to the shareholders of the parent company
Share capital
Capital reserves
Other reserves
Retained earnings
Equity of non-controlling interests
Equity

70
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Financial liabilities
Pensions and other employee benefits
Deferred tax liabilities
Other liabilities
Non-current provisions and liabilities

10
11
24
12

97,089
58,564
6,591
7,953
170,197

168,955
59,539
7,448
6,518
242,461

Financial liabilities
Tax liabilities
Trade accounts payable
Other liabilities and provisions
Current provisions and liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

14

126,131
715
198,162
71,169
396,177
1,084,756

106,612
1,212
155,941
84,713
348,478
1,063,298
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 2015 (IFRS)
HEINZEL HOLDING GMBH

In EUR k

Note

2015

2014

Sales revenues
Changes in inventories
Other own work capitalized
Other operating income
Cost of materials and services
Personnel expenses
Other operating expenses
Amortization of intangible and depreciation of fixed assets
Operating result (EBIT)

17
18
18
19
20
21
22
1, 2

1,480,410
–4,427
1,412
132,487
–1,289,821
–120,267
–55,523
–50,057
94,214

1,406,502
2,252
1,363
96,286
–1,216,643
–115,256
–56,633
–50,462
67,407

3,220
–10,732
88

3,370
–11,618
414

–3,719
–1,661
–12,804

–1,651
4,059
–5,427

81,410

61,980

–19,855
61,555

–9,506
52,474

57,760
3,795

49,410
3,064

Interest income
Interest expenses
Divident income
Income/expenses from the market evaluation of derivative
financial instruments
Other financial income/expenses
Financial result

23
23

Earnings before taxes (EBT)
Taxes on income
Earnings after taxes (Net income)
Attributable to:
Shareholders of the parent company
Non-controlling shareholders
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 2015 (IFRS)
HEINZEL HOLDING GMBH

In EUR k

2015

2014

61,555

52,474

1,789
–447
–1,202
140

–2,803
701
–2,449
–4,552

Other income in the period, net
Total income for the period

609
158
767
907
62,462

–2,907
782
–2,125
–6,677
45,797

Attributable to:
Parent company shareholders
Non-controlling shareholders

58,672
3,790

44,177
1,620

Income after taxes (Net income)
Items of other comprehensive income, which if necessary may
be subsequently recycled to profit and loss
Hedge accounting
Deferred taxes on hedge accounting
Currency translation
Items of other comprehensive income, which will not be
subsequently recycled to profit and loss
Revaluation of employee benefit obligations
Deferred taxes on liabilities from employee benefits
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 2015 (IFRS)
HEINZEL HOLDING GMBH

In EUR k

2015

2014

81,410
–21,460
88
2,871
–3,004
56,534
13,781
130,220

61,980
–10,220
87
2,661
–4,571
47,476
1,182
98,596

Investment activities
Payments from company acquisitions
Payments for company acquisitions
Income from/investments in other financial assets
Investments in intangible assets
Investments in other tangible assets
Cash flow from investments

0
–51,955
5,039
–6,760
–37,717
–91,393

10,616
0
–13,983
–4,638
–40,299
–48,304

Financing activities
Dividends paid
Shareholder injections
Borrowing/repayment of current financial liabilities
Borrowing/repayment of non-current financial liabilities
Cash flow from financing activities

–16,440
0
19,519
–71,866
–68,787

–22,401
8,000
–12,223
–21,725
–48,350

Decrease/increase of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year
Changes in currency differences
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year

–29,960
113,073
–436
82,677

1,297
111,776
–645
113,073

Operating activities
Earnings before taxes
Income tax paid
Dividends received
Interest received
Interest paid
Cash neutral income and expenses
Changes in working capital
Cash flow from operating activities
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (IFRS)
HEINZEL HOLDING GMBH

In EUR k

Balance as at 1 January 2014
Result after tax (profit for the year)
Other comprehensive income in the period, net
Net result for the period
Payment of dividends
Other changes
Balance as at 31 December 2014
Result after taxes (profit for the year)
Currency translation
Hedge accounting
Actuarial gains/losses
Other comprehensive income in the period, net
Net result for the period
Payment of dividends
Other changes
Balance as at 31 December 2015
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Share capital

Capital
reserves

Foreign currency
translation

3,635
0
0
0
0
0
3,635
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
3,635

600
0
0
0
0
8,000
8,600
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
8,600

–8,691
0
–2,811
–2,811
0
0
–11,502
0
–1,201
0
0
–1,201
–1,201
0
0
–12,703
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Hedging
reserves

Revaluation of
employee benefit
obligations

Other
provisions

Retained
earnings

Equity
attributable to
the shareholders
of the parent
company

–587
0
–2,102
–2,102
0
0
–2,689
0
0
1,342
0
1,342
1,342
0
0
–1,347

–3,409
0
–2,062
–2,062
0
0
–5,471
0
0
0
771
771
771
0
0
–4,700

60,910
0
0
0
0
181
61,091
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
61,091

367,152
49,410
0
49,410
–19,681
–52
396,829
57,760
0
0
0
0
57,760
–14,000
0
440,589

419,610
49,410
–6,975
42,435
–19,681
8,129
450,493
57,760
–1,201
1,342
771
912
58,672
–14,000
0
495,165
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Equity of
non-controlling
interests

Equity
total

21,227
3,064
298
3,362
–2,723
–1
21,866
3,795
–1
0
–4
–5
3,790
–2,439
0
23,217

440,837
52,474
–6,677
45,797
–22,404
8,128
472,359
61,555
–1,202
1,342
767
907
62,462
–16,439
0
518,382
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2015
HEINZEL HOLDING GMBH
A. GENERAL INFORMATION
For the 2015 financial year, Heinzel Holding GmbH has prepared consolidated financial statements in accordance
with the current International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted in the EU, and the interpretations of
the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC, formerly Standing Interpretations
Committee/SIC). These consolidated financial statements meet the requirements for a consolidated financial statement with discharging effect pursuant to §245a of the Austrian Commercial Code (UGB). Heinzel Holding GmbH is
headquartered in Austria at Einsiedlinger Strasse 47, 4655 Vorchdorf. The main shareholder of Heinzel Holding
GmbH is Heinzel EMACS Beteiligungs AG. Heinzel Holding GmbH and its subsidiaries are engaged in the manufacture and trading of pulp and paper products worldwide. The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
was completed subject to the premise of the continued operation of the enterprise. The principle of materiality was
applied to reporting and the summary of individual items in the balance sheet, comprehensive income statement,
cash flow statement, and the statement of changes in equity.
The consolidated financial statements of Heinzel Holding GmbH, Vorchdorf, are prepared in euros (= the functional
currency of the parent company) and unless otherwise stated, all the figures reported are in thousands of euros.
As in the previous reporting period of 2014, the reporting period for 2015 comprises a full financial year of twelve
months.
The Heinzel Holding GmbH Management Board approved the consolidated financial statements on 25 February
2016.
The individual financial statements for 2015 are published in accordance with the applicable legal requirements.
The following amendments or new versions of standards were employed for the first time in the 2015 financial year:
Standard
IAS 19
IAS 16
IAS 38
IAS 24
IFRS 2
IFRS 3
IFRS 8

IFRS 13
IAS 40

IFRS 1
IFRS 3
IFRS 13
IFRIC 21
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Content
Employee Benefits: simplification of the reporting of employee
contributions
Property, Plant and Equipment/Intangible Assets: clarification of
acceptable methods of depreciation and amortisation using the new
valuation method
Related Party Disclosures: clarification of the required disclosures
regarding “key management services”
Share Based Payment: clarification of classifications
Business Combinations: clarification of the accounting of contingent
considerations resulting from business combinations
Operating Segments: new disclosure obligations regarding the
aggregation of business segments and clarification of the reconciliation of the total assets of the company to be reported
Fair Value Measurement: clarification of the measurement of fair value
in the case of short-term receivables and payables
Investment Property: clarification of the relationship between IFRS 3
and IAS 40 during the classification of “retained for capital appreci
ation”
First Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards:
significance of “effective date”
Business Combinations: clarification of the application of IFRS 3 with
regard to joint arrangements
Fair Value Measurement: clarification regarding the scope of
application for the portfolio exception
Levies: interpretation with guidance regarding the date and amount
of the accounting of governmental levies

Effective as from
February 2015
February 2015

February 2015
February 2015
February 2015
February 2015

February 2015
January 2015

January 2015
January 2015
January 2015
June 2014
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The amendments to the IAS 19 standard are subsequently explained in brief:
IAS 19 provides that employee contributions determined within the formal regulation of a defined benefit plan and
linked to work performance are to be classified as negative payments. This stipulation basically conforms with the
projected unit credit method, which involves the projection of (in this case negative) payments and their attribution
to the vesting periods. While prior to the coming into force of the current version of IAS 19 it was standard practice to
take employee contributions into account during payments to the amount of the benefit obligation, the application of
the current version may necessitate the completion of extremely complex calculations. Taking into account the now
publicised amendment, it is permissible to continue to report work performance-related employee contributions that
are not linked to the number of years of service in the period in which the corresponding work performance was
provided using the projected credit method and without the prescribed calculation and distribution method.
Within the framework of the annual IFRS improvement process, individual standards are amended with the primary
aim of clarifying the existing regulations.
Where individually applicable, the listed standards have been employed in these financial statements. However, this
did not give rise to any material changes in the presentation of the asset, financial and earnings positions in the period
under review.
Amended IFRS not yet applied
The following amendments or amended versions of standards had already been accepted by the EU on the closing
date, but were either not yet binding or applicable for the 2015 financial year:
Standard
IFRS 11
IAS 16
IAS 41
IAS 1
IAS 27
IAS 16
IAS 38

Standard
IFRS 9
IFRS 15
IFRS 14
IFRS 10
IFRS 12
IAS 28
IFRS 16
IAS 28
IFRS 10

Content
Joint Arrangements: acquisition of an additional interest in a joint
operation
Reporting of bearer plants
Disclosure Initiative (amendments to IAS 1)
Separate Financial Statements: equity method in separate
financial statements
Tangible/Intangible Assets: clarification of acceptable methods
of depreciation and amortisation

Content
Financial Instruments
Revenue from Contracts with Customers
Regulatory Deferral Accounts
Investment Entities: use of consolidation exceptions

Leases
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures/Consolidated
Financial Statements: sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or joint venture

Accepted and
effective as from
January 2016
January 2016
January 2016
January 2016
January 2016

Unaccepted and
effective as from
January 2018
January 2018
January 2016
January 2016

January 2019
Postponed for an
indefinite period

IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” contains requirements for the classification, recognition and measurement of financial assets and liabilities. The completed version of the IFRS 9 was published in July 2014 and replaced the sections
of IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” relating to the classification and measurement of
financial instruments. IFRS 9 retains the mixed measurement model with simplifications and creates three measurement categories for financial assets consisting of amortised cost, fair value through comprehensive income and
fair value through profit and loss. Categorisation is in line with the business model of the entity and the characteristics of the contractual payment flow of the financial asset. As a rule, investments in equity instruments must be
recognised at amortised cost. In this case, the irrevocable right to report changes to fair value in the other result only
exists initially. There continues to be a new loss impairment model based on potential losses that replaces the
IAS 39 model, which employed actual losses. The categorisation and measurement of financial liabilities remain
unchanged. The only exception relates to liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss for which changes
in own credit risk are to be recognised in the other result. IFRS 9 eases the regulations regarding the measurement
of hedging effectiveness owing to the basic obviation of the quantitative effectiveness test. What is required is an
economic connection between the hedged underlying business and the hedging instrument. In addition, the hedging relationship must comply with the requirement that the management actually employs it for the purpose of risk
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management. Simultaneous documentation remains a prerequisite but differs from the documentation currently
prepared pursuant to IAS 39.
IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” regulates revenue recognition and thus replaces IAS 11 and IAS
18. Its objective is to create principles that companies must apply when reporting useful information to users of
financial statements about the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from a
contract with a customer. IFRS 15 stipulates that a company report revenues when the customer has obtained
control and can make use of the agreed goods and services. The new standard prescribes a five-stage model for
the determination of the realised sales revenues and IFRS 15 also contains numerous reporting obligations with
respect to the type, amount, accrual and uncertainty of sales revenues, and the payment flows resulting from
customer orders.
IFRS 16 “Leases” sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases in
financial reports. For the lessee the standard prescribes a single accounting model. This requires the lessee to
recognise all the assets and liabilities from lease agreements with a term of twelve months or less,, except when the
underlying asset is of low value. This simplification creates a right of choice. For accounting purposes, the lessor
must continue to classify its leases as operating or finance agreements. In this regard, the accounting model
contained in IFRS 16 does not differ materially from that employed in IAS 17.
The effects of the new and amended standards are currently being evaluated. The executive management assumes
that the aforementioned standards, which will be applied in the financial year commencing on 1 January 2016 and
the related comparative periods, will not exert a material influence on group equity and results in their first year of
application.

B. CONSOLIDATION PRINCIPLES
Scope of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the company and the financial statements
of the companies controlled by the parent company as at 31 December of each year. Control is deemed to exist if
the company is exposed to fluctuating returns from its involvement with the company, or is entitled to these and has
the ability to affect these returns through its power over the affiliated company. Such control is presupposed with a
stockholding in excess of 50 per cent.
The consolidation of an affiliated company commences on the day upon which the investor gains control of the
company and ends when this is lost.
No changes to the scope of consolidation occurred during the 2015 financial year.
The following companies purchased in December 2015 were not consolidated during the 2015 financial year, as no
control existed. In accordance with IAS 39, they were reported as available-for-sale securities.
Company acquired
Mondi Raubling GmbH, Raubling
Chiemgau Recycling GmbH, Raubling
Heizkraftwerk Bauernfeind Betreibergesellschaft mbH, Raubling

Initial consolidation date
January 2016
January 2016
January 2016

The scope of consolidation as at 31 December 2015, including Heinzel Holding GmbH as the parent company,
consisted of 41 fully consolidated companies (2014: 41), and no companies consolidated at equity (2014: 0).
The scope of consolidation of Heinzel Holding GmbH is presented on the final pages of these Notes under the Item
“Scope of consolidation of Heinzel Holding GmbH”.
Certain companies remained unconsolidated owing to the fact that their business results were not considered to be
material to the consolidated financial statements. These companies are listed under the Item “Non-consolidated
subsidiaries and associated companies”.
Interests in joint arrangements
Interests in joint arrangements exist when two or more entities jointly control an undertaking. Pursuant to IFRS 11,
depending on the contractually agreed sharing of rights and obligations, there are two forms of joint arrangements
consisting of joint ventures or joint operations. At present, the companies in Heinzel Group do not possess any
interests in joint arrangements.
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Transactions with non-controlling interests without loss of control
Transactions with non-controlling interests without loss of control are recognised as transactions with the owners of
the group acting in their capacity as owners. A difference between the fair value of the paid amount and the acquired
share of the carrying value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired during the purchase of a non-controlling
interest, is recognised as equity. Profits and losses resulting from a sale to non-controlling interests are also recognised
as equity. No such transactions took place in the financial year expired.
Participations in associated companies
An associated company is a company that is neither subject to full nor joint control, but upon which the group can
exert significant influence by means of participation in its financial and business decision-making processes. As a
rule, an affiliation exists when 20 to 50 per cent of voting rights are held.
Associated companies are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method (IAS 28).
Interests in associated companies are reported in the balance sheet at the cost of acquisition, which is adjusted for
changes in the group’s share of net assets after the acquisition date, as well as for losses resulting from impairment.
Losses that exceed the group’s interests in associated companies are included to the extent that legal or de facto
obligations exist.
Where the initial costs of the acquisition of the company exceed the full fair value of the group’s interest in the identifiable fixed assets and debts of the associated company on the date of acquisition, the difference is shown as
goodwill. If the initial costs of the acquisition of the company are less than the full fair value of the group’s interest in
the identifiable fixed assets and debts on the date of acquisition, the difference is recognised in the income statement
in the period when the acquisition took place.
On every closing date, the group carries out an examination to ascertain if there are any indications that the investment in an associated company is subject to impairment. Should this be the case, the impairment requirement is
determined as the difference between the investment carrying value of the associated company and the corresponding attainable amount, and recognised separately in the income statement.
Unrealised gains or losses from up- and downstream transactions between group companies and an associated
company are only to be recognised in the consolidated financial statements in line with the interest of third parties in
the associated company. Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction shows indications that an impairment of the transferred assets exists. Where necessary, the accounting and measurement methods are adjusted in
order to guarantee uniform accounting and measurement throughout the group.
Dilution gains and losses resulting from the interests in associated companies are recognised through profit and loss.
Interests in associated companies that do not have a material influence on the consolidated financial statements are
not included in the scope of consolidation at equity, but in line with IAS 39 as available-for-sale securities.
Subsidiary consolidation method
Subsidiaries are all companies over which the group exerts control. The group has control over an associate when
it has the power of disposition over the company, a risk burden or rights to financial returns exist as a result of its
involvement in the associate and the group has the ability to use its power of disposition over the subsidiary in such
a manner that this will influence the amount of the variable financial returns of the subsidiary. Consolidation of the
associate commences on the day that the group takes control of the company. It ends when the group loses control
of the associate.
Purchased subsidiaries are recognised in line with the acquisition method. The costs of the purchase correspond
with the fair value of the transferred assets, the equity instruments issued and the debts resulting or assumed upon
the transaction date. Costs relating to the company acquisition are recognised as an expense in the periods in which
they occur.
Capital consolidation occurs at the time of acquisition through the netting of the purchase price against the fair
value of the net assets of the acquired company. The identifiable assets, liabilities, and contingent liabilities of
subsidiaries are recognised at full fair value regardless of any minority interest. Intangible assets are capitalised
separately from goodwill if they are separable from the enterprise, or result from a statutory, contractual, or other
legal right. Remaining positive differences are recognised in the balance sheet as goodwill. If there are negative
differences, these are recognised as earnings only after a revaluation of the identifiable assets, liabilities, and
contingent liabilities of the acquired company and an assessment of the acquisition costs.
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Intercompany receivables and liabilities, expenditure and income, as well as intercompany profits, are eliminated
unless they are of minor importance.

C. CURRENCY TRANSLATION WITHIN THE GROUP
The consolidated financial statements are prepared in euros, which is the reporting currency of Heinzel Group.
Where the functional currency used for international financial statements differs from the reporting currency of the
group, translation takes place in accordance with the concept of the modified closing date method. Balance sheet
items are translated using the respective mid rate as at the closing date. The income statements of the consolidated
foreign subsidiaries are translated using the mean rates of exchange for the respective period. Any differences
resulting from currency translation related to the pro rata share of equity are reported under shareholders’ equity
without affecting net income. Should a foreign subsidiary be deconsolidated, the currency translation differences
are recognised as profit and loss.
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at the exchanges rates on the
transaction date.
Assets and debts in foreign currencies are translated into the group currency at the mean exchange rate on the
reporting closing date. In the case of exchange rate hedging, the hedged rate is employed. Gains and losses
resulting from foreign currency valuation are recognised as profit or loss.

D. ACCOUNTING AND VALUATION PRINCIPLES
General
With the exception of derivative financial instruments and securities, which are valued at fair value, the consolidated
financial statements are prepared on the basis of historical acquisition and production costs.
Intangible fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets are valued at the acquisition cost and depreciated as scheduled using the straight-line
method, assuming a depreciation period of three to five years.
Goodwill
Goodwill is created during the acquisition of subsidiaries and is constituted by the surplus difference between the
agreed purchase price and the acquired identifiable assets, the assumed debts and all non-controlling interests of
the purchased company, as well as the fair value of its existing equity. Should the purchase costs of the acquired
subsidiary be lower than net assets measured at fair value, the resulting difference will be recognised directly as
comprehensive income under the item badwill.
Concessions and rights
The acquisition costs for computer software, commercial rights and similar rights are capitalised and subject to
straight-line amortisation over their estimated useful life. On average, the expenses for electronic software programs
are amortised over a period of four to five years. In the group, licences and patents demonstrate an amortisation
period of around three years.
Tangible assets
Tangible assets are valued at acquisition or production cost, less scheduled amortisation, which is calculated by
applying the straight-line method, and impairments. In the 2015 financial year, no tangible asset impairments were
recognised.
Subsequent additional acquisition and production costs are only recognised as part of the acquisition or production
costs of the asset, or where appropriate as a separate asset, when it is probable that the group will accrue a future
economic benefit as a result and the costs can be reliably determined. The carrying value of the part replaced is
written off.
Expenses for repairs and maintenance that do not represent material replacement investments are recognised in
the income statement during the financial year in which they are incurred.
A difference between the gains from the sale of plant and the carrying value is reported as a gain or loss under the
result from operating activities.
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For depreciable tangible assets, the following expected useful lives are assumed:
Buildings including buildings on third-party property
Plant and machinery
Other fixed assets, tools and equipment

15 to 50 years
5 to 20 years
5 to 8 years

Borrowing costs
In accordance with IAS 23, borrowing costs that can be attributed directly to the purchase, construction or production of a qualified asset are capitalised as part of the cost of acquisition or production of this asset until all the work
required for the use of the created asset for its intended purpose or sale has been largely completed. During the
determination of the amount of the capitalised borrowing costs in a certain period, all the plant earnings obtained
from the financial investment that were temporarily invested for the qualified asset up to the point of use are
deducted from the borrowing costs incurred.
During the 2015 financial year, the criteria for a qualified asset were not fulfilled for any recognised asset in the
group and accordingly no capitalisation of borrowing costs was undertaken.
Other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they occur.
Impairment of non-financial assets
Goodwill and other intangible assets with an undetermined useful life are subjected to an impairment test at least
once a year, or when indications of value impairment exist. All other assets and cash-generating units are tested
should there be any indications of value impairment.
For impairment testing, assets are grouped on the lowest level generating independent cash flow (cash-generating
unit). Goodwill is allocated to those cash-generating units that are expected to provide benefits from synergies derived from the related business purchase and that represent the lowest level within the group at which management
monitors the related cash flows.
An impairment loss is recognised to the amount by which the carrying value of the individual asset or the cash-
generating unit exceeds the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s net selling
price and the value in use. Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating units, to which goodwill is allocated,
primarily reduce the carrying value of goodwill. Any additional impairment losses reduce the carrying value of the
other assets in the cash-generating unit on a pro rata basis.
With the exception of goodwill, a reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the event of a reversal of p
 reviously
recognised impairment indicators.
Leasing
For leasing and tenancy items, pursuant to IAS 17 the leasing item is allocated to the lessor or the lessee in accordance with the criterion of the attribution of all significant risks or benefits associated with the ownership of the
leasing item.
Payments made in connection with an operating leasing agreement (net after accounting for incentive payments
made by the lessor) are recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the duration of the leasing
relationship.
From the point of view of a lessee, in the case of finance leases the underlying items are recognised with the lower
value derived from a comparison of the discounted leasing or tenancy payments with fair value at the time of
acquisition and depreciated over their useful lives. The recognised assets are offset against the cash value of the
obligation from the outstanding leasing and/or tenancy payments as at the closing date.
The group does not act as a lessor.
Government grants
In accordance with IAS 20, government grants are only recognised at fair value when reasonable assurance exists
that the entity will comply with any conditions attached to the grant and that it will be received. Grants are basically
recognised as income over the period necessary to match them with the costs for which they are intended to
compensate. Where grants are received for the purchase or production of assets, the amounts are deferred and
recognised as income for the useful service life of the asset.
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Inventories
Own products and goods are valued at the lower of the acquisition or production costs and the net realisable value.
The net realisable value is the estimated selling price less estimated costs of completion and necessary selling
costs. Raw materials, supplies, and operating materials are valued using sliding average prices. In addition to direct
material and labour costs, group products include an appropriate proportion of material and production overheads
(based on normal operational capacity). The costs of acquisition and production do not contain any borrowing
costs.
Financial assets
Upon initial recognition, financial assets are to be reported at fair value. Initial recognition takes place on the date of
the trading day.
Financial assets reported at fair value are financial assets that are retained for trading purposes. A financial asset
is allocated to this category when it was purchased with the principal intention of a short-term sale. Assets in this
category are reported as current assets if the realisation of the asset value is anticipated within twelve months. All
other assets are classified as non-current.
Changes in the current value of financial assets, which are recognised at fair value, are recognised as profit and loss.
Unless they qualify as hedges, derivatives with a positive current value belong to the sub-category of the financial
assets held for trading purposes.
Securities are recognised at their current value.
Loans and receivables represent non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
listed in an active market. Trade and other receivables belong to this category.
The valuation of this category takes place at amortised cost. Long-term financial assets in this category are valued
using the effective interest method. Recognisable risks are accounted for by means of valuation discounts. These
impairments are recognised as profit and loss.
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that have been defined as available-for-sale
or cannot be classified as belonging to any of the other categories. Valuation takes place at fair value, whereby
current value changes are reported in the “Other income”. In the case of objective indications of impairment, losses
recognised under equity are removed and recognised in profit or loss. Reversals of equity instrument impairments
are not recognised. Such changes to financial instruments are recognised in profit or loss as value recovery.
Interests in companies, which for reasons of materiality are either not fully consolidated, or are consolidated at
equity, are allocated to this category. As fair value cannot be determined reliably for all non-consolidated

participations, the costs of acquisition are maintained as an approximate value. The costs of acquisition (both in the
current reporting period and preceding year) either correspond with fair value or the deviations are minor.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash, demand deposits, and other short-term, highly liquid financial assets that
are available at any time such as assets at banks with a maximum original maturity of three months.
Hedging relationships
The reporting of changes in the fair value of derivatives is dependent upon if and how hedging instruments have
been designated. The group designates certain financing instruments as hedging against the risks derived from
payment flows (cash flow hedge), which are linked to a recognised asset or liability, or an anticipated future transaction that is highly likely to occur.
Upon the conclusion of the transaction, the group documents the hedging relationship between the hedging instrument and the basic transaction, the objective of its risk management, and the strategy underlying the conclusion of
hedging transactions. In addition, an estimate as to whether the derivatives used in the hedging relationship can
compensate highly effectively for the changes in fair value or cash flow is documented at the beginning of the
hedging transaction and subsequently on an ongoing basis.
The effective part of changes to the fair value of derivatives, which are foreseen for cash flow hedging and can be
designated as a cash flow hedge, is reported in the “Other income”. Conversely, the ineffective part of such value
changes is recognised directly as profit and loss. Amounts recognised as equity are transferred to profit and loss
and recognised as income or expense during the period in which the basic hedged transaction is recognised

82

HEINZEL GROUP

NO T E S T O T HE C ON SO L IDAT ED F IN A NCI A L S TAT EMEN T

(e.g. on the date at which a hedged future sale takes place). However, should a hedged future transaction result in
the recognition of a non-financial asset (e.g. inventories or tangible assets) or a non-financial liability, the gains or
losses previously recognised as equity are included in the initial valuation of the acquisition or production costs of
the asset or the liability.
Financial liabilities
Upon initial recognition, financial liabilities are to be reported at fair value and measured following the deduction of
the transaction costs. Subsequently, other financial liabilities are reported with the amortised and the incidental
acquisition costs.
Financial liabilities reported at fair value are financial instruments that are retained for trading purposes.
Changes in the current value of financial liabilities, which are recognised at fair value, are recognised under profit
and loss.
Unless they qualify as hedges, derivatives with a negative current value belong to the sub-category of the financial
assets held for trading purposes.
Netting of financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are only netted and reported in the balance sheet as a net amount when a legal right
to netting exists and the intention is to achieve an offset on a net basis, or realise the affected asset and settle the
related liability simultaneously. A legal claim to netting may not depend upon a future event and must be implementable both in the course of normal business, as well as in the case of a default, insolvency or bankruptcy.
Employee benefits
Within the group, various plans exist for payments to employees due in the long term.
Pensions, obligations similar to pensions and severance payments
A defined contribution plan is a plan under which the group pays fixed amounts to a non-group company or
corporate body. The group is under no legal or de facto obligation to make additional payments should the fund have
insufficient assets in order to meet all the employee claims derived from the current and previous financial years. A
defined contribution plan is not a performance-related plan.
Typically, performance-oriented plans establish a pension sum that the employee will receive upon retirement and
as a rule, is dependent upon one or more factors (such as age, period of service and remuneration). Included
among the performance-oriented plans are the severance payments to be made in Austria to employees, whose
employment relationship commenced prior to 1 January 2003.
The provision made in the balance sheet for performance-oriented plans corresponds with the cash value of the
defined benefit obligation (DBO) on the closing date less the fair value of the plan assets.
An independent actuary calculates the DBO annually by means of the projected unit credit method. The cash value
is calculated through the discounting of the anticipated future cash outflows with the interest rate for top credit-rated
corporate bonds. The corporate bonds are in the currency of the payment amounts and have maturities in line with
the pension obligations.
Actuarial gains and losses, based on experience-related adjustments and changes to actuarial assumptions are
recognised as equity in the period in which they occur in the “Other income”.
Service costs and past service costs are recognised immediately as personnel expenses.
Increases in provisions derived purely from compounding are recognised under profit and loss as interest expenses.
In the case of defined contribution plans, the group makes payments to public or private insurance plans on a legal,
contractual or voluntary basis. The group has no payment obligations above and beyond the contribution payments.
When due, the amounts are recognised as personnel expenses.
Other long-term employee benefits
Other long-term payments to employees include long-term, paid leave of absence such as special leave following
long service or leave for personal further training, long-service bonuses and other related payments. As opposed to
the accounting prescribed for payments made following the termination of the working relationship, revaluations of
the net debt (or net assets) are not recognised as “Other income”, but as an expense or income, as is the case with
service costs and net interest on the net debt (or net assets).
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Provisions
Provisions are formed when the group (a) has a current legal or de facto obligation resulting from a prior event, (b)
it is more likely than not that the settlement of the obligation will result in an asset burden and (c) the amount of the
provision could be reliably determined.
Provisions are measured using the cash value of the anticipated expense, whereby a pre-tax interest rate is
established that accounts for current market expectations regarding the interest effects and the specific risks
relating to the obligation. Increases in provisions derived purely from compounding are recognised under profit and
loss as interest expenses.
Current and deferred taxes
The tax expense for the period consists of both current and deferred taxes. Taxes are reported as profit and loss
unless they relate to items reported under “Equity” or “Other income”. In this case, the taxes are also reported
under “Equity” or “Other income”.
The current tax expense is calculated using the tax regulations valid on the closing date of the countries in which
the company and its subsidiaries are active and generate taxable income. The management examines tax declarations regularly, in particular with regard to issues subject to interpretation, and where appropriate, forms provisions
based on the amounts expected to be paid to the fiscal authorities.
Tax deferrals are formed for all the temporary differences between the assets/liabilities tax base and their carrying
values in the IFRS financial statements (so-called liabilities method). However, if in the course of a transaction that
does not constitute a company merger, deferred taxation emanates from the initial recognition of an asset or a
liability that at the time of the transaction had neither an effect upon the balance sheet or taxable profit or loss, the
deferred tax asset or liability is neither recognised at the date of initial recognition nor subsequently. Deferred taxes
are measured using those tax rates (and regulations) that apply on the closing date, or have been substantially
adopted into law and which are anticipated to be valid on the date of the realisation of the deferred tax accrual or
the settlement of the deferred tax liability.
Deferred taxes are only recognised to the extent that a sufficient fiscal surplus is expected in the future against
which the temporary difference can be employed.
Deferred tax liabilities resulting from temporary differences in connection with interests in subsidiaries, associated
companies and joint arrangements are recognised unless the date of the reversal of the temporary differences can
be determined by the group and it is probable that owing to this influence, it is unlikely that the temporary differences
will not be reversed in the foreseeable future. As a rule, the group has no influence on the date of reversal in the
case of associated companies. Therefore, temporary differences are only not recognised in those cases that are
contractually regulated and upon which the group can exert an influence.
Deferred tax accruals and liabilities are netted when a corresponding legally enforceable right to offsetting exists and
the deferred tax accruals and liabilities relate to income taxes imposed by the same fiscal authority for either
identical or differing tax objects, which intend to complete offsetting on a net basis.
Realisation of income and expenses
Sales revenues are measured at the fair value of the payment received or to be received. Sales revenues include the
consideration derived from the sale of goods and are reported free of sales tax, returns, rebates and price r eductions.
The group realises sales revenues once the income amount can be determined reliably, when it is sufficiently
certain that an economic benefit will flow to the company, and when the specific criteria for every type of activity
described below are fulfilled.
The group is active in the fields of pulp, paper and board production and sales. Recognition of sales revenues from
the sale of goods occurs when a group company has supplied a recipient in accordance with the contractual
conditions and there are no unfulfilled obligations that could have a negative influence on the acceptance of the
goods by the recipient.
Operating expenses are recognised on the date the service is utilised, or on the date of occurrence.
Fair value of financial instruments
The fair value of financial instruments is the amount either received for a sale or paid for a transfer in the course of
an orderly transaction between market participants on the reporting date. If no current value is available, the
determination of the fair value of derivative financial instruments and securities employs the market-based method
using the market information available on the closing date (reporting date rates, interest rates). In view of the
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variability of influential factors, the figures reported here may differ from those subsequently realised. Heinzel
Holding GmbH classifies individual financial instruments as Level 1, 2 or 3 using the input factors of the valuation
method and every year at the end of the reporting period establishes whether or not reallocations between the
individual levels are required.
Use of estimates
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires estimates and assumptions that may affect the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities and financial obligations as at the date of the financial statements, as well as
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results can differ from these
estimates. The principle of true and fair view is fully applied in the use of estimates.
The consolidated financial statements include the following material items, the valuation of which is influenced
significantly by the underlying assumptions and estimates:
•	The assessment of the recoverability of intangible assets, goodwill and property is based on forward-looking
statements. The calculation of recoverable amounts as part of the impairment test is based on various
assumptions, for example regarding future surplus funds and discount rates. The surplus funds correspond to the
values contained in the latest business plan at the time of preparation of the financial statements.
•	Assumptions relating to interest rates, retirement age, life expectancy, employee turnover and future increases in
remuneration are used for the valuation of existing pension and severance payment obligations.
•	The recognition of deferred tax assets is based on the assumption that sufficient tax income will be realised in the
future to utilise tax loss carryforwards.
•	The fair value of financial instruments not traded on an active market (e.g. OTC derivatives) is determined through
the use of suitable measurement techniques that can be selected from numerous methods. The assumptions
employed in this regard are based to the greatest possible extent on the market conditions on the closing date.
Rounding
Owing to rounding, it is possible that individual figures in these financial statements do not add up precisely to the
sum reported and that the percentages given do not mirror exactly the absolute values that they reflect.
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E. NOTES TO THE BALANCE SHEET
ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
1. Intangible assets
In EUR k
Gross values as at 31.12.2013
Investments
Foreign currency differences
Disposals
Transfers/reclassifications
Changes in the scope of consolidation
Gross values as at 31.12.2014
Investments
Foreign currency differences
Disposals
Transfers/reclassifications
Changes in the scope of consolidation
Gross values as at 31.12.2015
Accumulated depreciation
as at 31.12.2013
Depreciation 2014
Foreign currency differences
Disposals
Transfers/reclassifications
Changes in the scope of consolidation
Accumulated depreciation
as at 31.12.2014
Depreciation 2015
Foreign currency differences
Disposals
Transfers/reclassifications
Changes in the scope of consolidation
Accumulated depreciation
as at 31.12.2015
Net values as at 31.12.2014
Net values as at 31.12.2015

Concessions
and other rights
6,862
4,346
39
0
–1,200
0
10,047
5,162
–69
–190
–16
0
14,932

Software
4,683
292
–154
–64
1,200
0
5,957
1,598
–32
–14
11
0
7,520

Goodwill
11,687
2,042
0
67
–72
103
13,828
0
0
0
0
0
13,828

Total
intangible
assets
23,232
6,680
–115
3
–72
103
29,832
6,760
–101
–204
–6
0
36,280

2,699
1,292
0
0
0
0

1,900
552
–48
–63
0
0

2,770
0
0
0
0
0

7,369
1,844
–48
–63
0
0

3,991
2,858
0
–190
0
0

2,341
652
–22
–13
–1
0

2,770
0
0
0
0
0

9,102
3,510
–22
–203
–1
0

6,659

2,959

2,770

12,387

6,055
8,274

3,616
4,561

11,058
11,058

20,729
23,893

Pursuant to IFRS 3, goodwill is no longer subject to scheduled amortisation. Part of the reported goodwill relates to
the Wilfried Heinzel AG sub-group on the one hand (EUR 2,829k), and Europapier Group (EUR 2,998k) on the
other. There were no capitalised, internally generated intangible assets within the group.
Goodwill is reviewed for impairment with respect to the value in use by means of the discounted cash flow method.
A calculation is made once a year on the basis of the pre-tax cash flow in medium-term planning as part of balance
sheet accounting. The period of the medium-term planning is five years. During medium-term planning an increase
in sales revenues and costs within a range of 2 to 2.5 per cent was assumed. Following investments in 2016 and
2017, from 2018 EBITDA will increase by 4 to 11 per cent. Capital flows are counterbalanced by payments for
investments in tangible assets and working capital for new products and customer segments.
The cash flows for subsequent years were calculated using a growth rate of approx. 1.80 per cent (2014: 1.67 per
cent). Cash flow discounting took place using an average cost of capital (WACC) of 5.89 per cent before taxes
(2014: 5.92 per cent before taxes). There were no goodwill impairments in either the 2015 or the 2014 financial
year. A sensitivity analysis showed that with an increase in the discount rate of one percentage point, the carrying
amounts are still covered and no impairment exists.
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2. Tangible assets
The net values represent residual carrying values after depreciation, i.e. purchase costs less accumulated
depreciation.
Total
Property and
Tools and Assets under
tangible
In EUR k
buildings
Machinery
equipment construction
assets
Gross values as at 31.12.2013
167,503
608,356
52,530
113,527
941,916
Investments
4,769
21,159
4,361
6,421
36,710
Foreign currency differences
–9
–221
–232
–2
–464
Disposals
–1,817
–8,910
–2,774
–175
–13,675
Transfers/reclassifications
24,317
86,575
751
–111,531
112
Changes in the scope of
consolidation
0
0
0
0
0
Gross values as at 31.12.2014
194,762
706,959
54,636
8,240
964,598
Investments
2,181
9,028
5,554
27,751
44,514
Foreign currency differences
–2
–38
–13
–52
Disposals
–190
–22,478
–2,759
182
–25,245
Transfers/reclassifications
243
2,158
593
–2,876
118
Changes in the scope of
consolidation
0
0
0
0
0
Gross values as at 31.12.2015
196,995
695,630
58,011
33,297
983,933
Accumulated depreciation
as at 31.12.2013
70,622
400,017
27,936
–150
498,425
Depreciation 2014
6,798
34,896
6,449
–82
48,062
Foreign currency differences
–2
–179
–139
0
–320
Disposals
–1,170
–5,191
–2,395
0
–8,756
Transfers/reclassifications
0
0
0
0
0
Changes in the scope of
consolidation
0
0
0
0
0
Accumulated depreciation
as at 31.12.2014
76,247
429,544
31,852
–232
537,410
Depreciation 2015
7,621
33,772
6,169
53
47,616
Foreign currency differences
0
–38
–13
0
–51
Disposals
–179
–22,325
–2,240
159
–24,585
Transfers/reclassifications
0
–3
4
0
1
Changes in the scope of
consolidation
0
0
0
0
0
Accumulated depreciation
as at 31.12.2015
83,689
440,949
35,771
–20
560,390
Net values as at 31.12.2014
118,515
277,416
22,785
8,472
427,188
Net values as at 31.12.2015
113,306
254,681
22,240
33,318
423,544
Significant additions to the fixed assets include payments for the liquor recovery boiler 2 (EUR 24,145k), the
purchase of a machine table for Paper Machine 2 (EUR 3,443k), costs for the control technology used on the sheet
drier (EUR 568k), as well as investments in noise insulation on the flash drier (EUR 495k) in Pöls.
In Laakirchen, three new thermal/heated rolls (EUR 771k) were purchased. In addition, a new truck parking area
was built (EUR 453k) adjacent to the south store.
The bulk of investments in Estonia were employed for the update of a distributed control system (EUR 292k) and
for press rollers (EUR 108k).
Since 2009, interest is capitalised for long-term projects during the construction phase. In the period expired, an
interest expense of EUR 0k was capitalised (2014: EUR 376k).
In accordance with IAS 17, land and buildings used subject to leasing contracts, which owing to the design of the
lease are attributable to the lessee (finance leasing), are reported under “Land and buildings”. The carrying value
of these assets amounted to EUR 2,571k as at 31 December 2015 (31 December 2014: EUR 2,574k). Obligations
existing from these contracts are reported as financial liabilities.

A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 15

87

NO T E S T O T HE C ON SO L IDAT ED F IN A NCI A L S TAT EMEN T

3. Shares in associated and other companies and investments
In line with IAS 39, shares in non-consolidated affiliated and other companies, as well as other interests are
allocated to the category of available-for-sale financial assets and show the following movement:

In EUR k
Gross values as at 31.12.2013
Investments
Foreign currency differences
Disposals
Transfers/reclassifications
Changes in the scope of consolidation
Gross values as at 31.12.2014
Investments
Foreign currency differences
Disposals
Transfers/reclassifications
Changes in the scope of consolidation
Gross values as at 31.12.2015
Accumulated depreciation
as at 31.12.2013
Depreciation 2014
Foreign currency differences
Disposals
Reversals
Changes in the scope of consolidation
Accumulated depreciation
as at 31.12.2014
Depreciation 2015
Foreign currency differences
Disposals
Reversals
Changes in the scope of consolidation
Accumulated depreciation
as at 31.12.2015
Net values as at 31.12.2014
Net values as at 31.12.2015

Shares in
associated
companies
1,028
700
0
0
0
0
1,728
0
0
0
0
0
1,728

Shares in
other
companies
30,919
–80
0
–620
93
0
30,312
21,983
0
–30,206
0
0
22,089

Total
investments
31,947
620
0
–620
93
0
32,040
21,983
0
–30,206
0
0
23,817

457
0
0
0
0
0

30,178
93
0
0
0
0

30,635
93
0
0
0
0

457
0
0
0
0
0

30,271
0
0
–30,178
0
0

30,728
0
0
–30,178
0
0

457

93

550

1,271
1,271

41
21,996

1,312
23,267

As already mentioned under Item B of the consolidation principles, in December 2015 an interest was purchased
in Mondi Raubling GmbH, Chiemgau Recycling GmbH and Heizkraftwerk Bauernfeind Betreibergesellschaft mbH.
Owing to a lack of control these companies are not consolidated and pursuant to IAS 39 are recognised as
available-for-sale assets.
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4. Other financial assets
Securities held as non-current assets consist of shares in listed investment funds and serve primarily to cover the
provisions for pension payments as required under Austrian tax law.

In EUR k
Gross values as at 31.12.2013
Investments
Foreign currency differences
Disposals
Changes in the scope of consolidation
Gross values as at 31.12.2014
Investments
Foreign currency differences
Disposals
Changes in the scope of consolidation
Gross values as at 31.12.2015
Accumulated depreciation
as at 31.12.2013
Depreciation 2014
Reversals 2014
Foreign currency differences
Disposals
Changes in the scope of consolidation
Accumulated depreciation
as at 31.12.2014
Depreciation 2015
Reversals 2015
Foreign currency differences
Disposals
Accumulated depreciation
as at 31.12.2015
Net values as at 31.12.2014
Net values as at 31.12.2015

Securities
7,883
6
0
–6
0
7,883
18
0
–7
0
7,895

Loans to
third parties
2
0
0
0
0
2
0
0
0
0
2

Total
of other
financial
assets
7,885
6
0
–6
0
7,885
18
0
–7
0
7,897

–151
0
498
0
0
0

–2
0
0
0
0
0

–153
0
498
0
0
0

347
0
9
0
0

–2
0
0
0
0

345
0
9
0
0

339
8,230
8,233

–2
0
0

337
8,230
8,233

CURRENT ASSETS
5. Inventories
For obsolete inventories, impairments were established to an amount of EUR 22,430k (2014: EUR 10,624k). In
2015, a comparison of the purchase price or production cost with the net realisable value resulted in a depreciation
requirement of minus EUR 150k (2014: minus EUR 242k), which was reported in the expenses for materials. The
carrying value of inventories depreciated to the lower net realisable value amounted to EUR 2,911k (2014:
EUR 3,742k).
In EUR k
Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods and goods for sale
Payments on account
Supplies and operating materials
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2015
22,053
3,327
104,387
4,027
18,340
152,134

2014
21,445
3,106
82,582
3,714
18,816
129,664
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6. Trade and other receivables
The trade receivables are due from various national and international customers.
In EUR k
Trade receivables
Trade receivables from associated companies
Other receivables
Other receivables from other companies
Other receivables from associated companies
Deferred expenses

2015
243,462
1,107
58,769
3,742
28
621
307,729

2014
245,643
932
47,828
0
24
479
294,906

The receivables from associated and affiliated companies result primarily from the ongoing offsetting of trade
receivables within the group and from group financing.
The insolvency risk emanating from doubtful customers is accounted for by a provision of EUR 18,169k
(2014: EUR 16,683k). Provisions development is as follows:
In EUR k
Year beginning balance as at 1.1.
Foreign currency differences
Use of provisions
Reversals
Additions
Year ending balance as at 31.12.

2015
16,683
–116
–1,620
–2,384
5,606
18,169

2014
16,534
–523
–2,100
–2,931
5,703
16,683

31.12.2015
41,456
8,611
8,702
58,769

31.12.2014
26,932
6,797
14,099
47,828

2015
5,106
51,782
56,888

2014
5,106
56,824
61,930

The item “Other receivables” consists of the following components:
In EUR k
Receivables from tax authorities
Supplier bonuses
Other

7. Other short-term financial assets
The item “Other short-term financial assets” is comprised of the following:
In EUR k
Pledged securities
Not pledged securities
Other financial assets

Securities with a carrying value of EUR 5,106k (2014: EUR 5,106k) serve as hedging for an export credit taken out
by Zellstoff Pöls Aktiengesellschaft.
8. Other financial assets, cash and cash equivalents
In EUR k
Cash in hand and balances with banks

2015
82,677

2014
113,073

The adjustment of the cash in hand and balances in banks from the previous year relating to currency translation
amounted to minus EUR 436k (2014: minus EUR 645k).
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
9. Equity
As at 31 December 2015, share capital amounted to EUR 3,635k and remained unchanged in the 2015 financial
year.
The capital reserves as at the closing date for 2015 contain non-appropriated capital reserves totalling EUR 8,600k
(2014: EUR 8,600k).
The item foreign currency translation contains exchange rate differences from currency translation within the
course of consolidation and as at 31 December 2015 amounted to minus EUR 12,703k (2014: minus 11,502k).
This represents an increase of EUR 1,201k.
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Non-controlling interests
This item includes the equity attributable to minority shareholders in Wilfried Heinzel Aktiengesellschaft and its
subsidiaries, Europapier Group, Laakirchen Papier Aktiengesellschaft and its subsidiaries.
10. Non-current liabilities
This item contains the following:
In EUR k
Non-current financial liabilities Zellstoff Pöls Aktiengesellschaft
Non-current financial liabilities Heinzel Holding GmbH
Non-current financial liabilities AS Estonian Cell
Non-current financial liabilities Europapier Austria GmbH
Non-current financial liabilities Europapier - Hercegtisak d.o.o.
Non-current financial liabilities Europapier CEE GmbH
Non-current financial liabilities Laakirchen Papier AG
Other non-current financial liabilities Europapier Slovensko s.r.o.

2015
31,903
12,438
21,120
752
0
5,000
22,000
3,876
97,089

2014
49,035
15,375
31,883
1,504
954
6,250
60,000
3,955
168,956

The fair value of the non-current financial liabilities corresponds to the carrying value.
The maturities and interest rates are as follows:

Zellstoff Pöls AG
Heinzel Holding GmbH
AS Estonian Cell
Europapier Austria GmbH
Europapier CEE GmbH
Laakirchen Papier AG
Europapier Slovensko s.r.o.

31.12.2015
in EUR k
31,903
12,438
21,120
752
5,000
22,000
3,876
97,089

Interest rate in %
2.15%
2.51%
1.58%
2.36%
4.70%
3.36%
1.64%

Maturity
2017–2020
2017–2021
2017–2020
2017
2017–2020
2018–2020
2017

The effective interest rate represents the average interest expense in the 2015 financial year, following consideration
of any interest and currency hedging, in terms of a percentage relative to the average carrying value. This interest
rate is 2.73 per cent.
Non-current liabilities amounting to EUR 97,089k are due in one to five years.
The carrying values of financial liabilities are reported entirely in euros.
On the closing date, the interest rate change risks relating to the financial liabilities and contractual interest adjustment dates were as follows:

6 months or shorter

2015
97,089
97,089

2014
168,956
168,956

Certain liabilities to banks are secured by means of the granting of liens on company real estate or machine mortgaging. Furthermore, loan liabilities are secured through bills of surety and federal guarantees from O
 esterreichische
Kontrollbank Aktiengesellschaft (OeKB).
In addition, Heinzel Group receives export loans from the OeKB export credit agency.
As at 31 December 2015, the liabilities to banks in connection with the aforementioned securities amounted to
EUR 77,301k.
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11. Non-current provisions
Pensions and other employee benefits
In EUR k
Provisions for severance payments
Provisions for pensions
Provisions for long-service bonus obligations

2015
30,404
21,894
6,266
58,564

2014
30,613
23,336
5,591
59,540

Personnel of Austrian companies, whose employment commenced prior to 1 January 2003, are entitled to a oneoff payment in the event of their employment being terminated by the employer, or upon their retirement. The
amount of this payment is dependent upon the number of years of service and wages or salary at the time of
termination. For personnel, whose employment commenced after 31 December 2002, this obligation is transferred
to a defined contribution plan. Payments to these external employee pension funds are recognised as an expense.
The pension obligations are defined as supplementary pensions on an individual contractual basis or as part of
company agreements. They exist for Zellstoff Pöls AG, Europapier CE GmbH, EURO Handelsgesellschaft m.b.H,
Laakirchen Papier AG and Bunzl & Biach GmbH, and contain retirement, occupational invalidity pension, widows’
and widowers’, and orphans’ pensions. The pensionable age corresponds with that of the individual agreements.
For employees, who are still active, the level of payments has been defined in accordance with the individual
contracts. The company or the pension fund pay the annual pension amount to solvent employees with vested
rights who have already left the company. The widows’ and widowers’, and orphans’ pensions are established in
accordance with the agreements.
In addition, various pension commitments exist that primarily affect employees in Austria.
The valuation of social capital is based on the following parameters:

Interest rate
Wage/salary increases
Pension increases (Heinzel Group)
Pension increases (Europapier Group)
Pension increases (Bunzl & Biach)
Pension increases (Laakirchen)
Retirement age men/women
Mortality tables

%
%
%
%
%
%
Years

2015
2.50
2.25
2.50/0.00
2.50/0.00
2.50
0.00/2.50
max. 65/60
AVÖ 2008-P

2014
2.50
2.25
2.50/0.00
2.50/0.00
0.00/2.00
0.00/2.00
max. 65/60
AVÖ 2008-P

The fluctuation probabilities applied in determining the amount of provisions allocated for severance and long-
service payments are calculated on the basis of a fluctuation analysis from 2013.
In line with a statement from the Austrian Financial Reporting and Auditing Committee regarding the handling of
“old severance payments” pursuant to IAS 19 from March 2013, terminations of employment and “solutions by
mutual consent on the part of the employer” are not accounted for in the fluctuation.
Therefore, differing fluctuation probabilities are employed for the provisions for severance payments and long-
service bonuses.
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Provisions for severance payments
In EUR k
As at 1.1.
Initial application of IAS
From changes to the scope of consolidation
Currency translation
Service costs for the period
Interest expense for the period
Amortisation and other changes
Actuarial gains and losses from changes
in demographic assumptions
Actuarial gains and losses from changes
in financial assumptions
Actuarial gains and losses from experience adjustments
Total actuarial gains and losses
Severance payments
Provisions for severance payments as at 31.12.
Defined benefit obligation as at 31.12.

31.12.2015
30,613
0
0
34
720
735
–50

31.12.2014
30,589
4
0
28
743
1,049
415

0

13

0
50
50
–1,748
30,404
30,404

–354
–74
–415
–1,385
30,613
30,613

31.12.2015
23,336
0
0
497
0
563

31.12.2014
21,103
0
0
316
–400
709

1

0

0
–224
–2,279
21,894
31,126
9,232
21,894

3,642
–317
–1,717
23,336
31,465
8,129
23,336

31.12.2015
8,129
0
0
203

31.12.2014
7,392
0
0
259

215

341

1,054
0
–370
9,232

494
0
–358
8,129

Provisions for pensions
In EUR k
As at 1.1.
From changes to the scope of consolidation
Currency translation
Service costs for the period
Past service costs
Interest expense for the period
Actuarial gains and losses from changes in demographic
assumptions
Actuarial gains and losses from changes in financial assumptions
Actuarial gains and losses from experience adjustments
Pensions including severance payments
Provisions for pensions as at 31.12.
Defined benefit obligation as at 31.12.
Plan assets
= DBO – plan assets
Plan assets development
In EUR k
As at 1.1.
From changes to the scope of consolidation
Currency translation
Interest gains for the period
Income from plan assets excluding contributions reported as
interest
Contributions
– Employer
– Employee
Payments made from plan assets
As at 31.12.

The plan assets for the coverage of the pension obligations of Wilfried Heinzel Aktiengesellschaft were reinsured by
means of insurance policies concluded with Wiener Städtische Versicherung AG Vienna Insurance Group.
The plan assets for the coverage of the pension obligations of Laakirchen Papier AG are invested in and administered by Allianz Pensionskasse AG.

A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 15

93

NO T E S T O T HE C ON SO L IDAT ED F IN A NCI A L S TAT EMEN T

The plan assets for the coverage of the pension obligation to a member of the board of Laakirchen Papier AG are
reinsured through an insurance policy concluded with the Wiener Städtische Versicherung AG Vienna Insurance
Group.
The plan asset portfolio structure is shown below.
According to information received, the Allianz Pensionskasse AG share of plan assets is invested as follows:
Structure of the capital investments in classic cover stock
Stocks
Financial market
Alternative investments
Loans
Total

In %
36.00%
1.00%
3.00%
60.00%
100.00%

This breakdown is based on the latest values available.
According to information received, the Wiener Städtische Versicherung AG share of plan assets is invested as
follows:
Structure of the capital investments in classic cover stock
Fixed interest securities
Stocks, supplementary capital, usufruct rights, part.cap.
Investment funds
Affiliated companies and participations
Loans
Real estate
Bank credits
Total

In %
39.00%
5.00%
32.00%
6.00%
11.00%
3.00%
4.00%
100.00%

This breakdown is based on the latest values available.
Other plan assets pursuant to IAS 19 do not exist.
Provisions for long-service bonuses
In EUR k
As at 1.1.
From changes to the scope of consolidation
Currency translation
Service costs for the period
Interest expense for the period
Other changes
Actuarial gains and losses from changes
in demographic assumptions
Actuarial gains and losses from changes
in financial assumptions
Actuarial gains and losses from experience adjustments
Long-service bonus payments
Long-service bonus provision as at 31.12.
Defined benefit obligation as at 31.12.

31.12.2015
5,591
0
0
289
134
0

31.12.2014
5,643
0
0
286
188
0

0

0

0
817
–566
6,266
6,266

2
92
–618
5,592
5,592

The following components were recognised and disclosed in the result for the period:
Pensions
In EUR k
Current service costs
Past service costs
Interest expense
Expected income from plan assets
Amortisation
Annual expense
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2015
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0
563
–215
0
844

2014
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–400
709
–341
0
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Severance payments
In EUR k
Current service costs
Interest expense
Amortisation
Annual expense

2015
720
735
0
1,455

2014
742
1,049
0
1,791

2015
289
134
817
1,240

2014
286
188
92
566

Long-service bonuses
In EUR k
Current service costs
Interest expense
Actuarial gains/losses
Annual expense

Contributions of EUR 830k (2015: EUR 667k) to the plan assets are anticipated in 2016.
The average maturities of the respective obligations of the individual companies in years are as follows:
Duration – DBO in years
Zellstoff Pöls AG, Wilfried Heinzel AG, Heinzel Holding GmbH
Companies of the Europapier sub-group
Bunzl & Biach GmbH
Laakirchen Papier AG

Pensions
11
9
11
15

Severance payments
8
7
10
7

Sensitivities to changes in the discount rate and salary and pension increases for pensions and severance
payments
The subsequent actuarial assumptions were considered to be significant and stressed with the following margins:
Hedging interest rate +/–0.25 per cent, wages and salary trend +/–0.25 per cent, pensions trend +/–0.25 per cent.
The impact upon the DBO should the interest rate or wages, salaries and pensions increase/decrease by 0.25 per
cent is shown.
The differences to the reported values are shown in the table below as relative deviations.
Owing to the differing stock structures of the companies, sensitivities are shown separately.
Heinzel companies
Pensions

Interest rate

Assumed change
0.25%

Pension increases

0.25%

Parameter decrease/
DBO change
+3.00%
None, as fixed
contractually

Parameter increase/
DBO change
–3.00%
None, as fixed
contractually

Assumed change
0.25%
0.25%

Parameter decrease/
DBO change
+2.00%
–2.00%

Parameter increase/
DBO change
–2.00%
+2.00%

Assumed change
0.25%
0.25%

Parameter decrease/
DBO change
+2.00%
–2.00%

Parameter increase/
DBO change
–2.00%
+2.00%

Severance payments

Interest rate
Wage/salary increases
Europapier Group
Pensions

Interest rate
Pension increases
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Severance payments

Interest rate
Wage/salary increases

Assumed change
0.25%
0.25%

Parameter decrease/
DBO change
+2.00%
–2.00%

Parameter increase/
DBO change
–2.00%
+2.00%

Assumed change
0.25%
0.25%

Parameter decrease/
DBO change
+3.00%
–3.00%

Parameter increase/
DBO change
–3.00%
+3.00%

Assumed change
0.25%
0.25%

Parameter decrease/
DBO change
+2.00%
–2.00%

Parameter increase/
DBO change
–2.00%
+2.00%

Assumed change
0.25%
0.25%

Parameter decrease/
DBO change
+4.00%
–1.00%

Parameter increase/
DBO change
–4.00%
+1.00%

Assumed change
0.25%
0.25%

Parameter decrease/
DBO change
+2.00%
–2.00%

Parameter increase/
DBO change
–2.00%
+2.00%

Bunzl & Biach GmbH
Pensions

Interest rate
Pension increases
Severance payments

Interest rate
Wage/salary increases
Laakirchen Papier AG
Pensions

Interest rate
Pension increases
Severance payments

Interest rate
Wage/salary increases
12. Other liabilities
In EUR k
Obligations from subsidies received
Other

2015
7,620
333
7,953

2014
5,989
529
6,518

The subsidies received are divided as follows in line with their maturities:

Subsidies received

2015
7,620

< Year
1,175

> Year
6,445

Subsidies received

2014
5,989

< Year
1,149

> Year
4,840

The reported subsidies include grants for the Paper Machine 2 project in Pöls. A further tranche relates to funding
of the Laakirchen Papier shoe press. As all conditions and requirements are currently being complied with, there is
no risk that repayment of the subsidies will be required.
Subsidies are realised over the expected useful life of the asset for which they were granted.
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13. Liabilities from financial leasing
The office and warehouse building in Bratislava is rented under the terms of a financial leasing agreement. The
contract expires on 31 December 2017, whereby the lessee is obliged to purchase the object following the end of
the lease for a sum of EUR 3,748k.
The interest rates underlying the liabilities from financial leasing are adjusted to the 6-month EURIBOR on a
half-yearly basis. The interest rate at the closing date amounted to 1.309 per cent. The cash value of the minimum
leasing payments has the following maturities:

In EUR k
Maturity of up to one year
Maturity between one and five years
Maturity of over five years
As at 31.12.2015

Total of future
minimum leasing
payments
128
3,978
0
4,106

In EUR k
Maturity of up to one year
Maturity between one and five years
Maturity of over five years
As at 31.12.2014

Total of future
minimum leasing
payments
130
4,147
0
4,277

Discount
1
102
0
103

Cash value of
minimum leasing
payments
127
3,876
0
4,003

Discount
2
192
0
194

Cash value of
minimum leasing
payments
128
3,955
0
4,082

14. Current financial liabilities
In EUR k
Short-term export financing
Bond and bank financing with maturity < 1 year
Other short-term financing

2015
47,500
36,780
41,851
126,131

2014
47,500
31,217
27,895
106,612

Interest rates range between 0.30 and 15.06 per cent, whereby all the liabilities reported under this item have a
term of less than one year.
The carrying values of the financial liabilities are denominated in the following currencies:
In EUR k
EUR
USD
CAD
CZK
BGN
HRK
HUF
PLN
RUB

2015
97,313
735
331
5,793
0
357
20
18,352
3,230
126,131

2014
80,739
413
355
5,201
51
385
447
16,257
2,764
106,612

On the closing date, the interest rate change risks in connection with the financial liabilities and contractual interest
rate adjustment dates were as follows:
In EUR k
6 months or shorter
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2015
126,131
126,131

2014
106,612
106,612
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15. Trade accounts payable
In EUR k
Trade accounts payable to third parties
Trade accounts payable to affiliated companies
Trade accounts payable to associated companies
Liabilities from investments

2015
185,402
0
11,590
1,169
198,161

2014
146,397
115
7,496
1,933
155,941

2015
24,995
19,887
1
386
23,502
2,399
71,169

2014
31,149
42,203
18
475
7,602
3,265
84,712

16. Other current provisions and liabilities
In EUR k
Other provisions
Other liabilities to third parties
Other liabilities to associated companies
Deferred income
Other liabilities to affiliated companies
Other liabilities to employees

Other provisions

In EUR k
Legal and
consulting costs
Other personnel-
related provisions
Other

Additions

Disposals
through
reversals

Disposals
through
utilisation

Balance as at
31.12.2015

266

69

171

67

97

5,318
25,565
31,149

10,717
21,613
32,399

8,824
26,819
35,813

252
2,419
2,739

6,958
17,940
24,995

Balance as at
1.1.2015

The other provisions from 2015 contain the following items:
Supplier bonuses
Sales revenue deductions
Provisions from hedging
Provisions for contingencies
Payments for building and maintenance measures
Provisions for trade receivable defaults
Provisions for discounts
Transport insurance
Trade discounts
Supervisory Board remuneration
Annual report costs
EDP costs
Other

3,133
2,788
1,473
1,215
1,014
713
245
144
139
115
88
36
6,837

For other provisions, maturity is expected within a year.
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F. NOTES TO THE INCOME STATEMENT
17. Sales revenues
During the year under report, Heinzel Group again demonstrated growth with a 5.3 per cent rise in net income to
EUR 1,480.4 million. This improvement was of a purely organic nature and can be seen as all the more positive in
view of the damage-related reduction in output from the mills in Pöls and Laakirchen. The trading area showed a
particularly strong increase in sales revenues as a result of geographical business expansion and the enlargement
of the product range. Own production continues to account for roughly a third of the sales volume of 3,324,768
tonnes.
The entire sales revenues attained in 2015 derived from the goods area. Therefore, Heinzel Group had no earnings
from services.
18. Changes in inventories and own work capitalised
In EUR k
Changes in inventories
Own work capitalised

2015
–4,427
1,412
–3,015

2014
2,252
1,363
3,614

The changes in inventories comprise the changes in finished products and work in progress as compared to the
previous year.
In addition to direct material and production costs, own work capitalised contains an appropriate share of material
and production overhead costs.
19. Other operating income
In EUR k
Income derived from the badwill from the initial consolidation
of Laakirchen Papier AG
Other operating income

2015

2014

0
132,487
132,487

10,616
85,670
96,286

The other operating income contains income from insurance amounting to EUR 89,215k (2014: EUR 62,000k).
This resulted from the damage to the liquor recovery boiler 2 at Zellstoff Pöls AG. In addition, this item contains the
income derived from insurance payments to Laakirchen Papier totalling EUR 18,311k, which resulted from a fire
involving one of the paper machines.
20. Cost of materials and services
In EUR k
Raw materials
Supplies and operating materials
Goods for resale

2015
213,767
199,899
876,154
1,289,821

2014
230,035
207,236
779,372
1,216,643

2015
34,467
54,398
1,408
1,809
24,168
4,017
120,267

2014
34,172
50,928
1,668
1,201
22,500
4,787
115,256

21. Personnel expenses
In EUR k
Wages
Salaries
Expenses for severance payments
Expenses for pensions
Statutory social expenses
Voluntary social expenses

The expenses for defined contribution plans (DCP) reported under the personnel expenses amounted to
EUR 1,695k (2014: EUR 1,582k).
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22. Other operating expenses
In EUR k
Taxes other than taxes on income and earnings
Consultants and fees
Insurance
Rents and leasing
IT and communications costs
Travel expenses
Advertising costs
Trade receivable defaults
Training costs
Donations and representational costs
Contributions
Office material
Miscellaneous other operating income

2015
1,015
6,176
5,337
7,290
3,446
3,959
1,181
2,372
1,007
850
707
526
21,657
55,523

2014
1,074
5,533
5,047
6,871
3,697
3,834
1,036
3,903
1,014
1,080
790
497
22,257
56,633

An amount of EUR 363k (2014: EUR 43k) in recognised exchange rate differences is reported under the item
“Other operating expenses”.
23. Other financial income/expenses
The interest and other financial result consists of the following components:
In EUR k
Interest income
Interest expenses
Dividend income
Income/expenses from mark-to-market valuations
Other financial income/expenses

2015
3,220
–10,732
88
–3,719
–1,662
–12,804

2014
3,370
–11,618
414
–1,651
4,059
–5,427

24. Income taxes

The corporate tax rate applicable to the parent company, Heinzel Holding GmbH, Vorchdorf, as at the
closing date was 25 per cent.
With the 2005 Tax Reform Act, the Austrian legislature created the possibility for group taxation. Under
this system, following the clearing of prior losses, the tax results of the companies belonging to the tax
group are attributed to the tax group parent. To compensate for the tax results being passed on to the
tax group parent, an apportionment of taxes is agreed in the tax group contracts.
For the calculation of deferred taxes, an income tax rate of 25 per cent is applied to companies located
in Austria, whereas for companies located abroad the effective tax rate of the relevant country is applied.
Losses occurring within the Heinzel tax group (Heinzel EMACS Beteiligungs AG acts as the tax parent
of Heinzel Holding GmbH and all Austrian group companies are members of the Heinzel taxation group)
are immediately utilisable within the companies included in the tax group in the same year in which the
losses are incurred. As a result of the recent volatility in the industry and trading segments, the business
plans for the coming financial year are used for the calculation of the share of tax loss carryforwards that
the group will be able to employ in the future. The capitalisation of deferred taxes was effected to an
extent that will make it possible to employ them through future positive operating results. No tax d
 eferrals
were formed for additional loss carryforwards in Austria in excess of EUR 5,506k. On the basis of
current planning in certain foreign markets, in the paper trading segment no large future results or risks
exist with regard to fiscal enforceability and therefore these were not reported in full. The trading
segment shows foreign loss carryforwards totalling EUR 8,499k.
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In EUR k
Earnings before taxes
Income tax expenses
Effective tax rate (%)
In EUR k
Current income tax
Deferred taxes

Earnings before taxes
Expected income tax expenditure
Effects of foreign tax rates
Taxes from previous periods
Use of tax shields
Capitalisation of loss carryforwards from
previous periods
Change in the provision for tax deferrals
Effects of initial and subsequent consolidation
Other permanent differences
Actual income tax expenditure

2015
In EUR k
81,410
20,353
–342
170
–738
–4
–1,687
1,436
666
19,855

2015
81,410
–19,855
24.4

2014
61,980
–9,506
15.3

2015
20,963
–1,108
19,855

2014
9,684
–178
9,506

In %
100.0
25.0
–0.4
0.2
–0.9
0.0
–2.1
1.8
0.8
24.4

2014
In EUR k
61,980
15,495
–132
94
–2,145
–722
0
–2,654
–430
9,506

In %
100.0
25.0
–0.2
0.2
–3.5
–1.2
0.0
–4.3
0.7
15.3

In accordance with IAS 12.39, deferred taxes derived from the differences of the pro rata net assets and the fiscal
carrying value of interests in subsidiaries totalling EUR 74,445k (2014: EUR 68,643k) are not recognised, as a sale
of the interests is not to be expected in the foreseeable future.
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The time differences between the values of the tax statement and the consolidated financial statements are as
follows:
Assets
Liabilities
In EUR k
Non-current assets
Current assets
Non-current provisions and liabilities
Current provisions and liabilities
Loss carryforwards
Consolidation:
Intercompany profit elimination
Silent reserves
Other
Corporation tax rate
Deferred taxes
Offsetting of deferred taxes to the same
fiscal authority
Net deferred taxes
thereof current
Composition in detail
Non-current assets
thereof intangible assets
thereof tangible assets
thereof financial assets

31.12.2015
14,092
911
34,097
7,164
2,584
58,848

31.12.2014
19,083
1,913
36,373
4,608
0
61,977

31.12.2015
44,459
818
0
13,715
0
58,992

31.12.2014
52,233
4,599
0
12,378
0
69,210

2,080
0
–625
60,304

2,216
0
0
64,193

48
0
0
59,040

148
0
0
69,358

14,538

16,157

14,738

17,340

–8,147
6,391
2,019

–9,892
6,265
1,630

–8,147
6,591
3,633

–9,892
7,448
4,244

0
2,243
11,849
14,092

0
2,819
16,264
19,083

204
44,255
0
44,459

135
52,098
0
52,233

25. Miscellaneous information
OBLIGATIONS RELATING OF THE USE OF ASSETS NOT REPORTED IN THE BALANCE SHEET
The amounts of obligations relating to the use of assets not reported in the balance sheet (operating leasing
contracts) for the uncallable period are as follows:
In EUR k
Maturity up to one year
Maturity between one and five years
Maturity of over five years
Total

2015
2,562
7,762
4,658
14,982

2014
2,725
7,410
4,120
14,255

The total rental and leasing expense (operating leasing) amounted to EUR 7,290k in the 2015 financial year (2014:
EUR 6,871k).
CASH FLOW STATEMENT
The indirect method was employed for the cash flow statement. The fund of cash and cash equivalents corresponds
to cash in hand and bank balances.
NON-CASH EXPENSES AND INCOME ITEMS
The main non-cash expense and income items comprise the following:
In EUR k
Depreciation
Changes in pensions and other employee
obligations, as well as long-term provisions
Other non-cash expenses and income
Total
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2015
50,057

2014
50,462

–975
7,452
56,534

2,204
–5,190
47,476
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SEGMENT REPORTING
Heinzel Holding GmbH and its subsidiaries operate in three business segments comprised by industry, trading and
others. The definition of operating segments is based on internal control and internal financial reporting to the
Heinzel Holding GmbH (CODM) Board. The management reviews the business success of the segments regularly
in order to allocate segment resources to the segments. The segments include the following companies:
Segment
Industry

Description
Production of pulp
and paper

Trading

Trading with pulp
and paper products

Others

Group administration

Company
Zellstoff Pöls AG, Pöls
AS Estonian Cell, Kunda
Laakirchen Papier AG, Laakirchen
Omega Trading Laakirchen GmbH, Laakirchen
Bunzl & Biach GmbH, Vienna
Austria Recycling s.r.o., Temelin
Wilfried Heinzel AG, Vienna, and subsidiaries
Europapier International AG, Hinterbrühl, and subsidiaries
Heinzel Holding GmbH, Vienna
Heinzel Bunzl Immobilien GmbH, Vienna, and subsidiaries
Heinzel Paper GmbH, Hinterbrühl

Segment information is generally subject to the same disclosure, accounting and valuation methods as the
consolidated financial statements.
Business segments
In the course of segment reporting, the Laakirchen Papier sub-group consisting of Laakirchen Papier AG and
Omega Trading Laakirchen GmbH was allotted to the “Industry” segment. The pulp plant in Estonia and Zellstoff
Pöls AG also belong to this segment.
The “Trading” segment shows the results of the Wilfried Heinzel AG sub-group, the consolidated Europapier Group
and the Laakirchen Altpapier sub-group, which is comprised by the data from Bunzl & Biach GmbH and the
Austrian Recycling s.r.o. subsidiary.
2015
In EUR k
Sales revenues
thereof inter-segment
sales revenues
thereof sales revenues with
external customers
Material expenditure
Personnel expenditure
Amortisation
EBIT
Segment assets
Segment debts
Payments for investments
2014
In EUR k
Sales revenues
thereof inter-segment
sales revenues
thereof sales revenues with
external customers
Material expenditure
Personnel expenditure
Amortisation
EBIT
Segment assets
Segment debts
Payments for investments
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Industry
485,810

Trading
1,109,201

Other
5

Consolidation
–114,605

Total
1,480,410

52,617

61,989

0

–114,606

0

433,193
410,517
70,588
43,495
76,264
663,552
310,334
–39,550

1,047,211
993,908
48,412
6,594
25,281
365,468
244,180
–4,935

5
1
1,266
97
–1,712
289,491
69,885
8

1
–114,605
0
–129
–5,618
–233,755
–58,025
0

1,480,410
1,289,821
120,267
50,057
94,214
1,084,756
566,374
–44,477

Industry
520,312

Trading
996,163

Other
353

Consolidation
–110,326

Total
1,406,502

53,675

56,463

164

–110,302

0

466,637
435,895
69,554
46,636
37,984
693,491
372,651
–37,860

939,700
921,766
44,542
3,703
20,558
323,394
209,735
–6,839

188
0
1,160
156
–1,382
290,134
82,160
–238

–23
–141,018
0
–32
10,238
–243,728
–73,607
0

1,406,502
1,216,643
115,256
50,462
67,407
1,063,298
590,939
–44,937
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Geographic information
In the following table, selected financial information is summarised according to the main geographical regions.
Revenues from external customers are given with regard to their registered domicile. Assets and capital expenditure
are allocated based upon corporate location. Non-current assets include items of tangible and intangible assets
(including goodwill).
2015
In EUR k
Western Europe
Central and Eastern Europe
Austria
Middle East
North Africa
South-Eastern Europe
Far East/Oceania
Russia
South America
Central and Southern Africa
North America

Revenues from
external customers
300,021
284,690
166,125
150,792
139,503
137,365
128,839
123,502
24,969
20,632
3,972
1,480,410

Non-current assets
235
74,694
365,671
0
0
4,096
0
409
0
0
2,331
447,436

Pulp deliveries within the group are accounted for at market prices. Other services within the group are accounted
for on the basis of the actual services performed.
The group has no revenues from transactions with a single external customer that amounted to at least ten per cent
of the group sales revenues.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
a) Non-derivative financial instruments
The receivables, shares and liabilities classified as primary financial instruments were recognised in accordance
with IAS 39. Accounting and measurement principles are described in the respective balance sheet items.
Purchases and sales of financial instruments are recorded as at the settlement date.
Long-term investments are intended to develop the covering holdings necessary for social capital.
b) Derivative financial instruments
Heinzel Group employs derivative financial instruments to hedge risks from operating and financing activities
(changes in interest rates, exchange rates and commodity prices). The company’s operative objectives are a
smoothing of the result from foreign currency positions, the fixing of the interest result and raw material price
hedging.
Foreign exchange forward contracts and interest rate swaps are used to limit and control existing foreign currency
and interest rate risks.
Forward exchange contracts were concluded, inter alia, with respect to the U.S. dollar, Czech koruna, Hungarian
forint, Polish zloty, Russian rouble, Croatian kuna and Romanian leu and relate to planned purchases or the
financing of working capital in foreign currencies for the year 2015.
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The following contracts were completed as at 31 December 2015:
In EUR k
Purchase USD
Sale USD
Sale JPY
Sale AUD
Purchase AUD
Sale BGN
Sale BRL
Sale CZK
Sale PLN
Sale HRK
Sale HUF
Purchase HUF
Sale RON
Currency derivatives
Interest derivatives

Nominal value
assets
0
49,430
304
2,915
0
2,246
359
1,112
1,874
2,016
8,585
0
4,647
73,488
72,651
146,139

Nominal value
liabilities
–6,480
0
0
0
–2,057
0
0
–3,551
–3,440
–1,535
–2,360
–191
–1,940
–21,554
0
–21,554

Current value
assets
33
0
0
0
140
0
13
5
0
0
49
0
70
310
0
310

Current value
liabilities
0
–344
–1
–152
0
–2
0
0
–33
–8
0
–1
0
–541
–2,057
–2,598

The portfolio of outstanding derivative financial instruments according to valuation category as at 31 December
2014 is as follows (amounts in EUR k):
Cash flow hedging
not recognised as
profit/loss
Currency derivatives
Interest derivatives
Energy derivatives

Derivatives
recognised as
profit/loss
Currency derivatives
Interest derivatives
Energy derivatives

Nominal value
assets
0
110,710
0
110,710

Nominal value
liabilities
0
0
0
0

Current value
assets
0
0
0
0

Current value
liabilities
0
–3,243
0
–3,243

Nominal value
assets
133,746
0
673
134,419

Nominal value
liabilities
–28,328
0
0
–28,328

Current value
assets
2,206
0
0
2,206

Current value
liabilities
–3,622
0
–282
–3,904

The portfolio of outstanding derivative financial instruments according to valuation category as at 31 December
2015 is as follows (amounts in EUR k):
Cash flow hedging
not recognised as
profit/loss
Currency derivatives
Interest derivatives

Derivatives
recognised as
profit/loss
Currency derivatives
Interest derivatives
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Nominal value
assets
0
57,984
57,984

Nominal value
liabilities
0
0
0

Current value
assets
0
0
0

Current value
liabilities
0
–1,396
–1,396

Nominal value
assets
73,488
14,667
88,155

Nominal value
liabilities
–21,554
0
–21,554

Current value
assets
310
0
310

Current value
liabilities
–541
–661
–1,202
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As at 31 December 2015, forward exchange transactions categorised as cash flow hedges had a term of up to six
months. The interest rate swaps categorised as cash flow hedges amount to EUR 22,559k, have a short-term time
scale and are due within a year. The remaining swaps totalling EUR 50,091k are to be repaid in the long term and
are due in one to six years.
Interest derivatives are subject to the rules for cash flow hedging as stipulated by IAS 39. In view of the fact that at
year-end 2015 two loans hedged with interest rate derivatives were repaid prematurely, the carrying value of these
interest rate derivatives was recognised as at 31 December 2015. In the case of other derivatives, the hedge
accounting regulations contained in IAS 39 are not applied and instead they are reported as standalone derivatives.
The fair values of the derivative financial instruments are determined using valuation methods based on input
parameters observable on the market.
Gains and losses from hedging instruments that are attributable to the effective portion of the changes in the fair
value of derivatives in cash flow hedges are recognised in the statement of all income and expenses recognised as
other income. The ineffective part of the gains or losses is immediately recognised in the income statement.
Financial instruments are recognised centrally and immediately after the completion of transactions. This allows
continuous assessment (mark-to-market valuation) and a judgment of the current risk situation. The following
closing date exchange rates (all against the euro) and interest rates are employed for the valuation of foreign
exchange derivatives:
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AUD
1.4906

BGN
1.9558

BRL
4.3094

ON
1 month
3 month
6 month
9 month

EUR
–0.35
–0.26
–0.16
–0.07
–0.02

AUD
2.25
2.40
2.53
2.61
2.70

CAD
CZK
1.5119 27.0524
BGN
–0.01
0.22
0.37
0.71
0.55

BRL
14.17
14.17
14.21
14.24
14.27

HRK
7.6352

HUF
315.07

PLN
4.2667

RON
4.5262

USD
1.0886

JPN
131.05

CAD
0.60
0.53
0.64
0.77
0.88

CZK
0.07
0.09
0.15
0.19
0.25

HRK
0.45
0.90
1.10
1.35
1.50

HUF
0.40
1.35
1.38
1.61
1.59

PLN
1.55
1.54
1.75
1.59
1.62

RON
0.41
0.46
0.75
1.14
1.15

USD
0.41
0.61
0.76
0.94
1.12

YEN
0.05
–0.02
0.02
–0.16
–0.10
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Supplementary disclosures on financial instruments
The following table presents the financial instruments of Heinzel Group by category in accordance with IAS 39
(amounts in EUR k).
Financial assets
Interests in other companies
Other non-current financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Other current financial assets

Trade and other receivables
Derivative financial assets

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables and
provisions
Derivative financial liabilities
Derivative financial liabilities

Financial assets
Interests in other companies
Other non-current financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Other current financial assets

Trade and other receivables
Derivative financial assets

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables and
provisions
Derivative financial liabilities
Derivative financial liabilities
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Measurement category
pur. to IAS 39
Held at fair value and recognized
as profit or loss
Held at fair value and recognized
as profit or loss
Held at (amortized) cost
Financial assets at fair value
recognized as profit or loss (held for
trading purposes)
Held at (amortized) cost
Derivatives at fair value recognized
as profit or loss

Held at (amortised) cost
Held at (amortised) cost
Held at fair value and not recognised
as profit or loss
Held at fair value and recognised
as profit or loss

Measurement category
pur. to IAS 39
Held at fair value and recognized
as profit or loss
Held at fair value and recognized
as profit or loss
Held at (amortized) cost
Financial assets at fair value
recognized as profit or loss (held for
trading purposes)
Held at (amortized) cost
Derivatives at fair value recognized
as profit or loss

Held at (amortised) cost
Held at (amortised) cost
Held at fair value and not recognised
as profit or loss
Held at fair value and recognised
as profit or loss

31.12.2015

Less than
3 months

3–6 months

More than
6 months

21,996

0

0

21,996

8,233
82,677

0
82,677

0
0

8,233
0

56,888
261,882

980
260,898

5,642
336

50,266
648

310
431,986

310
344,865

0
5,978

0
81,143

223,221

61,389

55,476

106,355

205,311

200,438

4,862

11

1,396

1,396

0

0

1,202
431,130

1,202
264,425

0
60,338

0
106,366

31.12.2014

Less than
3 months

3–6 months

More than
6 months

41

0

0

41

8,230
113,073

0
113,073

0
0

8,230
0

61,930
293,471

27,788
289,779

628
1,796

33,514
1,895

2,206
478,951

2,206
432,846

0
2,424

0
43,680

257,567

32,601

61,666

181,300

188,600

185,446

3,099

55

3,243

3,243

0

0

3,944
471,354

3,944
225,234

0
64,765

0
181,355
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The following table analyses the financial instruments reported as fair value according to the type of input factors for
the valuation method. IFRS 13 defines three input factor levels (fair value hierarchy):
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly
(i.e. extrapolated from prices) and are not included in Level 1.
Unobservable inputs for assets or liabilities.

Financial assets
In EUR k
Other non-current
financial assets
Other current financial assets
Derivative financial assets
Financial assets
In EUR k
Derivative financial liabilities
Financial assets
In EUR k
Other non-current
financial assets
Other current financial assets
Derivative financial assets
Financial assets
In EUR k
Derivative financial liabilities

31.12.2015

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

8,233
56,888
310

8,233
56,888
0

0
0
310

0
0
0

31.12.2015
2,598

Level 1
0

Level 2
2,598

Level 3
0

31.12.2014

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

8,230
61,930
2,206

8,230
61,930
0

0
0
2,206

0
0
0

31.12.2014
3,944

Level 1
0

Level 2
3,944

Level 3
0

Level 2 contains derivative financial instruments (forex). The current value reported (both in the current reporting
period and the previous year) is understood as being prior to accounting for counterparty default risk and own
creditworthiness, whereby the deviations from the given current values are minimal.
As at 31 December 2015, no reallocations between the various levels were required.
Net gains or net losses from financial instruments are as follows:
In EUR k
Loans and receivables
Securities
Financial liabilities valued at (amortised) cost
Derivatives

2015
16,999
–1,709
–9,656
3,847

2014
6,962
604
–2,726
–5,889

2015
1,302
2,097
–2,592
315

2014
1,459
2,115
–3,589
–932

Interest income or interest expenses from financial instruments are as follows:
In EUR k
Loans and receivables
Securities
Financial liabilities
Derivatives

Capital management disclosures
The main objectives of Heinzel Group’s capital management are the securing of the liquidity necessary to support
its business activities and the maintenance of an appropriate credit rating and an equity ratio that is sufficient to
ensure sustainability.
The gearing ratio (net debt to equity) for Heinzel Group is established within a target range of 40 to 80 per cent,
whereby current net debt only amounts to 16.1 per cent (2014: 21.3 per cent). The equity ratio target is 30 per cent,
which at present is clearly exceeded with 47.8 per cent (2014: 44.4 per cent). Investment policy is always geared
to cash flow projections, which are updated at least four times a year. Stringent working capital management is
undertaken in all areas of business in order to avoid risks at an early stage.
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Netting of financial assets and liabilities
The assets and liabilities emanating from currency future transactions were netted in both the 2015 and 2014
financial years. The net value of the netted assets and liabilities presented the following picture (amounts in EUR k):

31.12.2015
Derivative financial
instruments
Total

31.12.2014
Derivative financial
instruments
Total

Nominal
value
assets

Nominal
value
liabilities

Net value
nominal
value

Current
value
assets

Current
value
liabilities

Net value
current
value

146,139
146,139

–21,554
–21,554

124,585
124,585

310
310

–2,598
–2,598

–2,288
–2,288

Nominal
value
assets

Nominal
value
liabilities

Net value
nominal
value

Current
value
assets

Current
value
liabilities

Net value
current
value

245,129
245,129

–28,328
–28,328

216,801
216,801

2,206
2,206

–7,147
–7,147

–4,941
–4,941

RISK REPORTING
MARKET RISKS
Heinzel Group is exposed to market risks, which relate primarily to foreign exchange rates, interest rates and the
current values of investments of liquid assets. The group constantly monitors these exposures. To manage the
emerging volatility affiliated with these risks, the group uses a variety of derivative financial instruments in accordance
with group policy. Where apposite, the group’s objective is to reduce the fluctuations in earnings and cash flows
emanating from changes in interest rates, exchange rates, and the value of investments. Heinzel Group undertakes
no financial transactions that include a non-assessable risk at the time of their conclusion.
FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK
Group reporting takes place in euros. The exchange rate risks of Heinzel Group derive mainly from the purchase
and sale of goods in foreign currency, as well as from financing in foreign currencies. These risks primarily relate to
the parity of the U.S. dollar, Czech koruna, Hungarian forint, Polish zloty, Russian rouble, Croatian kuna, and the
Romanian leu against the euro. Heinzel Group uses forward exchange transactions to hedge anticipated foreign
currency revenues.
Foreign currency positions and hedging transactions are continuously monitored. Accordingly, if on the closing date
of 31 December 2015, the exchange rate of the currencies listed below with regard to FX derivatives had moved by
the stated percentages (“volatility”) against the euro and assuming that other variables had remained constant, the
profit for the year would have been higher or lower by the subsequent amounts. Volatility was determined on the
basis of the daily exchange rate movements during 2015 (values in EUR k).
Currency
USD
HUF
PLN
RON

Volatility
+11.3%
+6.9%
+5.9%
+3.2%

Result effect
4,122
360
–113
73

Volatility
–11.3%
–6.9%
–5.9%
–2%

Result effect
–5,272
–468
75
–95

INTEREST RATE RISK
Heinzel Group manages its net interest rate risk through the ratio of fixed rate to variable rate debt. As at 31 December 2015 the share of fixed-interest financial liabilities amounted to 38.56 per cent (2014: 51.40 per cent). For
long-term floating rates, interest rate swaps are also used and these are exchanged within the scope of recurrent
payments, based on nominal values and agreed fixed and variable interest rates.
As part of the implementation of IFRS 7, a sensitivity analysis was performed with respect to interest rate changes
for variable interest rate borrowings.
An increase (reduction to a maximum of 0 per cent) in variable interest rates on borrowings by 100 bps would
change the interest expense by EUR 1,366k (minus EUR 346k).
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An interest increase (reduction) of 100 bps was also assumed for interest swaps and this would impact the current
value of interest rate derivatives as follows:
Change in equity (interest swap with hedge accounting):
Interest increase +100bps: EUR 1,106k
Interest reduction –100bps: minus EUR 1,147k
Recognised change (for an interest rate swap without hedge accounting):
Interest increase +100bps: EUR 494k
Interest reduction –100bps: minus EUR 532k
Interest is fixed in advance for the next three and six months at the respective calendar quarter.
COUNTERPARTY RISK
Counterparty risks include the default risk related to derivative financial instruments and money market funds, as well
as the credit risk on current account balances and money market transactions. The default risk and credit risk are
reduced by exclusively selecting banks and financial institutions as counterparties that have at least an A-rating at the
time of transaction. The process of investing freely available funds in the bonds of non-financial companies with a
credit rating of at least BBB, which was initiated in 2011, was continued in 2015. Moreover, the Group Treasury
establishes and monitors specific limits for each counterparty. The Heinzel Group does not expect any losses resulting
from counterparties defaulting on their contractual obligations and is not subject to any significant cluster risks.
LIQUIDITY RISK
Liquidity risk refers to the risk of not having sufficient liquidity available at all times to meet financial obligations when
due and at a reasonable price. Group-wide cash reporting helps to limit this risk and guarantees the transparency
required for targeted financial resource management. In addition, Heinzel Group also regularly takes advantage of
the financing opportunities offered by the financial markets. A primary goal of liquidity management is to safeguard
the financial flexibility and independence of the group and limit any undue refinancing risks.
Liquidity risk is dealt with through the creation of a medium-term financing framework, which is underpinned by
individually agreed financial covenants. These agreements are intended to accommodate the conflicting interests
of both parties. The aim is to obtain information at the earliest possible date of negative developments regarding the
debtor and the provision of Heinzel Group with the entrepreneurial freedom to secure corporate financing and
liquidity rather than be subject to any unexpected loan cancellations. This allows the contractual parties to initiate
proactive countermeasures.
In the case of a demand for repayment non-adherence to the financial covenants may have debt item consequences.
The following financial covenants are to be found in the credit agreements of the Heinzel Group: equity ratio, net
financial liabilities/EBITDA and EBIT margin.
The covenants are examined quarterly or half-yearly and reported to the lender bank. In addition, adherence to the
covenants is also examined during the preparation of the annual budget and forecasting. No infringement of the
financial covenants is anticipated for the 2016 budget or the forecast period from 2017 to 2020.
Heinzel Group fulfilled the financial covenants on the 31 December 2015 closing date.
The following table shows the financial liabilities derived from financial liabilities subject to interest, trade payables
and derivative financial instruments.

In EUR k
Financial liabilities to banks
Trade payables
Derivative financial
instruments

31.12.2015
223,220
205,311

Less
than
1 year
126,131
205,311

1–2
years
23,158
0

2–3
years
39,462
0

3–4
years
16,391
0

4–5
years
17,391
0

More
than
5 years
688
0

2,598

2,598

0

0

0

0

0

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
The focus was on the ongoing development of processes in the pulp sector and in particular, systematic advances
with respect to energy use and its optimisation. In the 2015 financial year, expenses amounting to EUR 472k for
research and development were recognised in the income statement.
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MAJOR EVENTS AFTER THE CLOSING DATE
In January 2016 control was obtained over Mondi Raubling GmbH, Chiemgau Recycling GmbH and H
 eizkraftwerk
Bauernfeind Betreibergesellschaft mbH. However, a purchase price allocation was not possible due to a lack of
available information. No other significant events occurred after the closing date.
INFORMATION REGARDING BUSINESS TRANSACTIONS WITH ASSOCIATED COMPANIES AND PERSONS
Business relations between the group and related party entities are concluded under customary conditions at arm’s
length and are included in the following items:
2015 financial year
In EUR k
Sales revenues
Material expense/services received
Other operating income
Other operating expenses
Interest earnings
Interest expenses
Income tax (levied)
Trade receivables
Other receivables
Trade payables
Other liabilities

Parent company
(or external
sub-groups)
0
0
931
0
0
0
20,963
128
3,742
987
23,502

Non-consolidated
subsidiaries
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Associated
companies
0
0
4
0
0
0
0
979
28
10,603
1

2014 financial year
In EUR k
Sales revenues
Material expense/services received
Other operating income
Other operating expenses
Interest earnings
Interest expenses
Income tax (levied)
Trade receivables
Other receivables
Trade payables
Other liabilities

Parent company
(or external
sub-groups)
0
0
511
0
0
0
9,684
135
0
1,072
7,602

Non-consolidated
subsidiaries
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Associated
companies
0
0
489
0
0
0
0
797
24
6,425
18

The parent company of Heinzel Holding GmbH is Heinzel EMACS Beteiligungs AG. A tax allocation agreement exists with Heinzel EMACS Beteiligungs AG in connection with the membership of the Austrian companies in the
group. Tax allocations are recognised in the item “Taxes on income and earnings”.
A business relationship exists with the Supervisory Board member Johannes Klezl-Norberg, which is of no material
significance to the financial result of the company. The billing of services rendered is subject to the general hourly
rates of the Dr. Klezl-Norberg law firm.
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CONTINGENCIES AND OTHER OBLIGATIONS
In EUR k
Bank guarantees
Import letters of credit
Other contingencies

2015
942
2,249
11,353
14,544

2014
642
2,119
643
3,404

As at the closing date, the purchase commitment for property, plant and equipment amounted to EUR 291k (2014:
EUR 3,282k). The bulk of this amount derives from orders for the boiler flue gas heat recovery project in Pöls.
INFORMATION REGARDING BOARD MEMBERS AND EMPLOYEES
During the 2015 financial year, Heinzel Group had an average of 914 wage-earning employees (2014: 936) and
1,201 salaried employees (2014: 1,170). A breakdown of employee earnings in the income statement into e xpenses
for wages and expenses for salaries is in accordance with the requirements of the respective country of e mployment,
while a breakdown of the average personnel figures into wage-earning and salaried employees was carried out
according to functional criteria.
In the 2015 financial year, the following persons were appointed as members of the Management Board:
ALFRED HANNES HEINZEL
RIIA SILLAVE
The remuneration paid to the members of the Management Board of Heinzel Holding GmbH was as follows:
In EUR k
Fixed amounts
Variable amounts
Post-employment benefits
Other long-term benefits

2015
655
126
0
0
781

2014
640
77
0
0
717

The following persons were appointed as members of the Supervisory Board:
WOLFGANG PFARL, Chairman
ALEXANDER RIKLIN, Deputy Chairman
JOHANNES KLEZL-NORBERG
GERALD PRINZHORN
BARBARA SCHMIDT
In the current year, the remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board totalled EUR 50,000 (2014:
EUR 50,000).
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION PURSUANT TO §245a OF THE AUSTRIAN COMMERCIAL CODE (UGB)
Of the expenses for the auditors, EUR 23,000 relate to the annual and consolidated financial statements for 2015,
EUR 160,340 to other auditing services and EUR 14,700 to tax consulting services.
SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION OF HEINZEL HOLDING GMBH
Name of company and registered office
Zellstoff Pöls AG, Pöls
AS Estonian Cell, Kunda
Wilfried Heinzel AG, Vienna
Heinzel, Bunzl Immobilien GmbH, Vienna
Heinzel, Bunzl Service GmbH, Vienna
Heinzel Paper GmbH, Hinterbrühl
Europapier International AG, Hinterbrühl
Laakirchen Papier AG, Laakirchen
Bunzl & Biach GmbH, Vienna
Omega Trading Laakirchen GmbH, Laakirchen
Austrian Recycling s.r.o., Temelin
Heinzel Pulpsales GmbH, Hinterbrühl
Heinzel Import-Export Inc., New York
Heinzel Sales Italy S.r.l., Milan
Heinzelsales USA Trading Inc., New York
Heinzel Sales France S.A.S., Paris
Interfibre AG, Zug
Heinzel Deutschland GmbH, Wiesbaden
Heinzel Sales Pacific Holding Ltd., Vancouver
North Rim Pulp & Paper Inc., Vancouver
Europapier Adria d.o.o., Sesvete-Zagreb
Europapier Alpe d.o.o., Ljubljana
Europapier Slovensko s.r.o., Bratislava
Europapier Dunav Papir d.o.o., Belgrade
Europapier CE GmbH, Vienna
Europapier Austria GmbH, Vienna
Europapier Hercegtisak d.o.o., Siroki Brijeg
Europapier Bulgaria EOOD, Sofia
Europapier Bohemia spol. s.r.o., Prague
Europapier CEE GmbH, Hinterbrühl
Europapier Budapest Kft., Budapest
LLC Europapier, Moscow
Europapier Impap Sp.z.o.o., Błonie,
EU-RO Handelsges.m.b.H., Frastanz
Europapier Romania Srl., Bucharest
Europapier Poland GmbH, Hinterbrühl
Heinzel Sales Poland Sp.z.o.o., Warsaw
Lexica – SFE JSC, Moscow
Europapier CIS GmbH, Hinterbrühl
Europapier East Europe GmbH, Hinterbrühl

Currency
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
CZK
EUR
USD
EUR
USD
EUR
EUR
EUR
CAD
CAD
HRK
EUR
EUR
RSD
EUR
EUR
BAM
BGN
CZK
EUR
HUF
RUB
PLN
EUR
RON
EUR
EUR
RUB
EUR
EUR

Nominal
capital
24,636,093
72,895,965
1,825,000
35,000
17,500
35,000
70,000
72,673
36,336
109,009
200,000
35,000
100,000
50,000
2,500
40,000
64,700
25,000
3,055,000
2,488,574
6,349,300
341,721
136,096
385,234,653
2,623,000
35,000
109,726
3,330,000
37,100,000
35,000
370,300,000
168,997,283
21,020,000
508,710
5,000,000
35,000
171,700
10,000
35,000
35,000

Shares
Type of
in %
consolidation
99.99 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
90 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
90 Fully consolidated
99 Fully consolidated
51 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
51 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
90 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
90 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
65 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
99.9972 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
99 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
50 Fully consolidated1
100 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
99 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
50 Fully consolidated2

1

 U-RO Handelsgesellschaft m.b.H. is fully consolidated because, as elucidated in Item III. of the syndicate
E
agreement, control exists. This paragraph states that Europapier may name the CEO to be appointed and the
partner may only reject the CEO for important reasons.

2

 onversely Europapier East Europe GmbH is fully consolidated owing to the fact that due to internal directives,
C
control over decisions affecting the business activities of the company exists.
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NON-CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES
Name of company and registered office
Papierholz Austria GmbH, St. Gertraud
ZPA Fernwärmetransportleitungs GmbH, Köflach
Bioenergie Aichfeld GmbH, Pöls
EEVG Entsorgungs- und Energieverwertungs GmbH, Steyrermühl
Papyrus Altpapierservice Handelsgesellschaft m.b.H., Salzburg
Austria Papier Recycling GmbH, Vienna
Europapier Dienstleistungs GmbH, Eggenburg
AS Nor-Est Wood, Paide

Currency
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR

Nominal
capital
72,673
35,000
35,000
36,336
229,494
181,682
35,000
40,000

Shares in %
25
20
20
20
31.67
33.36
25
26.5

OTHER NON-CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES
In December 2015 Heinzel Holding GmbH purchased a 94.9 per cent interest in Mondi Raubling GmbH. In this
connection, Chiemgau Recycling GmbH and Heizkraftwerk Bauernfeind Betreibergesellschaft mbH, which were
entirely owned by Mondi Raubling GmbH, were also taken over.
Due to a lack of control, the interests purchased in December were not consolidated in the 2015 financial year. The
acquisition value of the interests amounts to EUR 21,955k. Contingent considerations were not agreed.

Vorchdorf, 25 February 2016
Alfred Hannes Heinzel m.p., Riia Sillave m.p.
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REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Heinzel Holding GmbH,
Vorchdorf, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2015, the separate
consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consoli
dated cash flow statement and the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended
December 31, 2015, and the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU,
and the additional requirements under Section 245a UGB, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether du to fraud or error.
AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Austrian generally accepted auditing standards.
Those standards require the application of the International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) according to
which we are to comply with ethical requirements and to plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the Group’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
OPINION
Our audit did not give rise to any objections. In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements comply with legal requirements and give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as of December 31, 2015 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the fiscal year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU and the
additional requirements under Section 245a UGB.
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COMMENTS ON THE MANAGEMENT REPORT FOR THE GROUP
Pursuant to statutory provisions, the management report for the Group is to be audited as to whether it
is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and as to whether the other disclosures are not
misleading with respect to the Company’s position. The auditors’ report also has to contain a statement
as to whether the management report for the Group is consistent with the consolidated financial statements.
In our opinion, the management report for the Group is consistent with the consolidated financial statements.

Vienna, 25 February 2016

PwC Wirtschaftsprüfung GmbH
Werner Krumm m.p.
Austrian Certified Public Accountant
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At its meetings on 24 March, 1 July, 30 September and 18 December 2015, the Supervisory Board was
informed by the management, verbally and in writing, of the course of business and the company’s
current position.
The annual financial statements of Heinzel Holding GmbH for the year ending 31 December 2015 and
the management report including the accounting were audited by PwC Wirtschaftsprüfung GmbH,
Vienna. This also applies to the consolidated annual financial statements, which were prepared in
accordance with the IFRS and supplemented by the management report for the Group and further
notes under the terms of §245a of the Austrian Commercial Code (UGB). The audit confirmed that the
accounting, the annual financial statements and management report, the consolidated annual financial
statements according to the IFRS, and the management report for the Group conform to legal requirements and the articles of association. The audit provided no reason for objection, and the auditors duly
issued an unqualified opinion for the consolidated annual financial statements and the annual financial
statements of Heinzel Holding GmbH. The Supervisory Board concurs with the consolidated financial
statements and the financial statements of Heinzel Holding GmbH for the year ending 31 December
2015. The Supervisory Board has considered and approves the Management Board’s proposal regarding the appropriation of the profit.
The members of the Supervisory Board extend their thanks to the members of the Management Board
and the entire Heinzel Group workforce for their commitment and outstanding achievements during
2015.
Vienna, 31 March 2016
Wolfgang Pfarl m.p.
Alexander Riklin m.p.
Johannes Klezl-Norberg m.p.
Gerald Prinzhorn m.p.
Barbara Schmidt m.p.
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BOARD MEMBERS
As at 31 December 2015

HEINZEL HOLDING GMBH
EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT
Alfred H. Heinzel
CEO
Riia Sillave
CFO
SUPERVISORY BOARD
Wolfgang Pfarl
Chairman
Alexander Riklin
Deputy Chairman

LAAKIRCHEN PAPIER AG

ZELLSTOFF PÖLS AG

AS ESTONIAN CELL

MANAGEMENT BOARD

MANAGEMENT BOARD

MANAGEMENT BOARD

Mark Lunabba
CEO

Kurt Maier
CEO

Siiri Lahe
CFO

Franz Baldauf
CFO

Gunther Sames
CFO

Lauri Raid
CTO

SUPERVISORY BOARD

SUPERVISORY BOARD

SUPERVISORY BOARD

Alfred H. Heinzel
Chairman

Veit Sorger
Honorary President

Riia Sillave
Chairwoman

Ulf Larsson
Deputy Chairman

Alfred H. Heinzel
Chairman

Alfred H. Heinzel

Kurt Maier

Wolfgang Pfarl
Deputy Chairman

Klaus Eibinger

Mark Lunabba

Olivier Arliguie

Johannes Klezl-Norberg
Gerald Prinzhorn
Barbara Schmidt

Mark Lunabba

Riia Sillave
Werner Leitner1
Johannes Klezl-Norberg
Michael Pucher1
Johann Kaiser1
Bernd Papst1
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WILFRIED HEINZEL AG

EUROPAPIER INTERNATIONAL AG

BUNZL & BIACH GMBH

MANAGEMENT BOARD

MANAGEMENT BOARD

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

Andrew Paul
CEO

Helmut Limbeck
CEO

Andreas Mang
CEO

Sebastian Heinzel
CSO

Jörg Bierlein
COO

Klaus Vlach
CFO

Moncef Reisner
COO

SUPERVISORY BOARD

Dietmar Geigl
CFO

Alfred H. Heinzel
Chairman

SUPERVISORY BOARD

Alexander Riklin
Deputy Chairman

Alfred H. Heinzel
Chairman

Andrew Paul
Christoph J. Heinzel

Rolf Johannesson
Deputy Chairman

Alfred Grunner1

Martina Dobringer

Andreas Pohler1

Helmut Limbeck
Johannes Klezl-Norberg
Ulrike Ullrich-Springer1
Nadja Blenk1

1
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GROUP STRUCTURE
As at 1 March 2016

26.5%

100%

AS Nor-Est Wood
Paide, Estonia

AS Estonian Cell
Kunda, Estonia

0.1%

5.1%

99.9%

94.9%

1%

Raubling Papier GmbH*
Raubling, Germany

Zellstoff Pöls AG
Pöls, Austria

99%

Laakirchen Papier AG
Laakirchen, Austria

100%
Heizkraftwerk Bauernfeind*
Betreibergesellschaft mbH
Raubling, Germany
25%

Papierholz Austria GmbH
St. Gertraud, Austria

100%
5.1%
Chiemgau Recycling GmbH*
Raubling, Germany
*Since 1 January 2016 part of Heinzel Group

Omega Trading Laakirchen GmbH
Laakirchen, Austria

51%
94.9%

Bunzl & Biach GmbH
Vienna, Austria
Austrian Recycling s.r.o.
Temelin, Czech Republic

51%

31.67%
Papyrus
Altpapierservice Handelsges.mbH
Salzburg, Austria

Shareholder
Holding and Service
Industry
Trading and Merchant
Associated companies
in the raw materials sector,
not consolidated

ADRESSES & CONTACTS
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EMACS Privatstiftung
Hinterbrühl, Austria

Heinzel EMACS Beteiligungs AG
Vienna, Austria

49%

51%
Heinzel Holding GmbH
Vorchdorf and Vienna, Austria

100%
P&S Beteiligungs GmbH
Neudörfl, Austria

Limbeck Beteiligungs GmbH
Gols, Austria

Heinzel Paper GmbH
Hinterbrühl, Austria
90%

10%

Europapier International AG
Hinterbrühl, Austria

90%

10%

Wilfried Heinzel AG
Vienna, Austria

0.1%

99.9%

100%

100%
99%
Subsidiaries
Heinzel Pulpsales GmbH
Hinterbrühl, Austria
Heinzel Import-Export Inc.
New York, USA
Heinzelsales USA Trading Inc.
New York, USA
Heinzel Sales Italy S.r.l.
Mailand, Italy

Europapier CIS GmbH
Hinterbrühl, Austria

Europapier CEE GmbH
Hinterbrühl, Austria

50%

100%

Liaison Offices
100%

Aisakos S.A.
Heinzel Sales Liaison Office Greece
Athens, Greece

90%

Alliance Cellulose Pvt. Ltd.
Heinzel Sales Liaison Office India
Chennai, India

90%

100%

Heinzel Sales France S.A.S.
Paris, France

100%

Heinzel Deutschland GmbH
Wiesbaden, Germany

100%

Interfibre AG
Zug, Switzerland

100%

Heinzel Sales Pacific Holding Ltd. 100%
Vancouver, Canada

65%

100%
Heinzel, Bunzl Immobilien GmbH
Vienna, Austria

Europapier CE GmbH
Vienna, Austria

1%

North Rim Pulp & Paper Inc.
Vancouver, Canada

100%

LLC Europapier
Moscow, Russia
100%

100%

Lexica – SFE JSC
Moscow, Russia

Paperboard Iberia S.L.
Heinzel Sales Liaison Office Spain
Barcelona, Spain

Europapier Austria GmbH
Vienna, Austria

Polygrafsnab – Authorised Heinzel
Sales Distributor Bulgaria
Sofia, Bulgaria

EU-RO Handelsges.m.b.H.
Frastanz, Austria

Premier Paper Ltd.
Heinzel Sales Liaison Office Ukraine
Kiev, Ukraine

Europapier Bohemia spol. s.r.o.
Prague, Czech Republic

Tabarak
& ExportLtd.
Co.
SimpeksImport
Kagit Ürünleri
Heinzel Sales Liaison Office
Office Turkey
Sudan
Khartoum,
Sudan
Istanbul, Turkey

Europapier Poland GmbH
Hinterbrühl, Austria

Tabarak
Export Inc.
Co.
North
RimImport
Pulp & Paper
Heinzel Sales
Liaison
Office Sudan
Beijing
Office
Khartoum,
Sudan
Beijing, China

100%

Europapier Impap Sp.z.o.o.
Błonie, Poland

New PlanET
Heinzel Sales Liaison Office Seoul
Seoul, Korea

100%

Heinzel Sales Poland Sp.z.o.o.
Warsaw, Poland

Europapier Alpe d.o.o.
Ljubljana, Slovenia
100%

Europapier East Europe GmbH
Hinterbrühl, Austria

Papimpex
Heinzel Sales Liaison Office Egypt
Cairo, Egypt

Heinzel, Bunzl Service GmbH
Vienna, Austria

Europapier Budapest Kft.
Budapest, Hungary

Europapier Dunav Papir d.o.o.
Belgrade, Serbia
100%

100%

50%

99.99%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Europapier Bulgaria EOOD
Sofia, Bulgaria
Europapier Romania Srl.
Bucharest, Romania

0.01%

Europapier Hercegtisak d.o.o.
Siroki Brijeg, Bosnia
Europapier Slovensko s.r.o.
Bratislava, Slovakia
Europapier Adria d.o.o.
Sesvete-Zagreb, Croatia

North Rim Pulp & Paper Inc.
Beijing Office
Beijing, China
Allied Paper Agencies
Heinzel Sales Liaison Office Australasia
Dandenong South, Australia
Kenya Stationer Limited
Heinzel Sales Liaison Office East Africa
Nairobi, Kenya
Heinzel Sales Liaison Office
South East Asia
Guang Zhou, China
Heinzel Sales Liaison Office
Mexico & Central America
Atizapán, Mexiko
Heinzel Sales Liaison Office
South Africa Region
Sandton, South Africa
S.A. Wahren
Heinzel Sales Liaison Office Argentina
San Isidro, Argentina
GFP
Heinzel Sales Liaison Office Brazil
Sao Paulo, Brazil
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COMPANY HISTORY
1991
With the help of banks and the management, Alfred H. Heinzel purchased Wilfried Heinzel AG, today’s
heinzelsales, from his uncle Wilfried.

2000
Acquisition of Zellstoff Pöls AG

2001
Acquisition of Biocel Paskov a.s.

2004
33% participation in the AS Estonian Cell greenfield BCTMP pulp mill investment

2006
Start-up of AS Estonian Cell

2010
Sale of 75% of the shareholding in Biocel Paskov a.s. to Lenzing AG; acquisition of Europapier AG

2011
100% takeover of AS Estonian Cell

2012
Europapier purchases the paper merchant business of PaperlinX in Hungary, Slovakia, Slovenia, Croatia
and Serbia; disposal of the remaining shares in Biocel Paskov a.s. to Lenzing AG

2013
Acquisition of the Laakirchen paper mill as well as 51% of Bunzl & Biach GmbH from SCA; takeover of
the sales of SCA Forest Products in Southern, Central and Eastern Europe, as well as overseas

2014
VIDEO

First full year of operation of new Starkraft MG Kraft paper machine in Pöls: Investment in biogas plant
at AS Estonian Cell

2015
End of year acquisition of the containerboard mill in Raubling and Chiemgau Recycling
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